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Chairman’s Statement 
 

The best research for better health 

 
 
 We have streamlined the 

framework for our funding 

schemes to ensure that they are 

clear, simple and accessible. 

 

 We are assisting Genomics 

England, the government’s 

ambitious project to decipher 

100,000 complete genetic 

sequences in the UK, by 

investing £27 million in a new 

genome sequencing hub.  

 

 We enjoyed a third successive 

year of strong returns, adding 

£2.5 billion or 15.4% in the year. 

 

 

 

  

Creating cultures for research 
at the frontiers of medicine 
and health 
 

This was a challenging first year for 

our Director, Dr Jeremy Farrar. As a 

clinician and a researcher with 

expertise across global health and 

infectious diseases, his skills were in 

high demand, particularly when it 

became clear that the Ebola virus 

outbreak in West Africa this year was 

an epidemic of unprecedented 

proportion. At the same time, Jeremy 

was listening carefully to the views of 

his new colleagues at the Wellcome 

Trust and of the research community 

– in the UK and around the world, in 

academia and industry, Trust-funded 

scientists and others – and exploring 

with them potential ways in which we 

could work together better across all 

of our activities. 

 

As a result, we have streamlined the 

framework for our funding schemes to 

ensure that they are clear, simple and 

accessible. Jeremy has also introduced 

some internal changes to improve 

connections between different facets 

of the Trust’s work. For example, 

Clare Matterson moves from 

overseeing our funding for medical 

humanities research and public 

engagement to become Director of 

Strategy, leading a new division that 

brings together policy, 

communications, education, 

evaluation and grants management. 

Simon Chaplin, formerly Head of 

Wellcome Library, takes over from 

Clare as Director of Culture and 

Society. 

 

I’m delighted that in making sure our 

organisational structure remains 

dynamic and fresh, new opportunities 

are being created for the talented 

people who work in our headquarters 

on the Euston Road in London. The 

Gibbs Building itself has played an 

important role in the Trust’s 

development since we moved in ten 

years ago. It has been a vital public 

face, enabling people to understand  

 

who we are and what we do, and has 

helped us achieve an ever more 

integrated approach within.  

 

The built environment is a huge 

influence on the way we work. The 

Francis Crick Institute, a partnership 

between the Trust, the Medical 

Research Council, Cancer Research 

UK and several of London’s 

universities, opens next year. It, too, 

has been designed to encourage 

interdisciplinary working. As well as 

enhancing research partnerships, the 

Crick will bring biomedical research 

together with clinical skills and many 

other scientific disciplines. The health 

challenges we face today and in the 

future are sobering, but we can be 

optimistic that creative, innovative 

and exciting scientific research will 

help us rise to them. 

 

International perspectives 
 

It is no surprise that many people 

enjoy learning about the latest 

biomedical discoveries. We have seen 

this most recently in the success of 

Mosaic, a new digital project from the 

Trust. The quality science reporting it 

produces can be read freely online by 

anyone in the world, and reproduced, 

edited and translated by other 

publications. Topics in its first year 

have so far included bipolar disorder, 

malaria drug resistance, urbanisation, 

and rare blood donors, while stories 

have been republished in the USA, 

Australia, Norway and India, among 

other countries. 

 

Sir Henry Wellcome, the founder of 

the Trust, had business, research and 

personal interests across the globe. 

Such an international scope remains a 

key part of our overall vision, and I 

was delighted to welcome two 

overseas scientists to the Board of 

Governors this year. Bryan Grenfell is 

professor of ecology, evolution and 

public affairs at Princeton University 

in the USA, and Tobias Bonhoeffer is 

an eminent neurobiologist at the Max 

Planck Institute in Germany.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

They bring a great breadth of 

experience and expertise that 

complements that of the other 

Governors, as well as adding to our 

worldly perspective. My thanks to 

Peter Smith, professor of tropical 

epidemiology at the London School of 

Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, for 

his valued contributions to the Board 

before his retirement this year. 

 

The Trust’s international agenda was 

championed in particular by our first 

Director, Peter Williams, who died 

this summer aged 89. Peter was 

Director for more than 25 years, 

overseeing the Trust’s transformation 

from a rather small concern to the 

global charitable foundation it is 

today. Under his direction, the Trust’s 

annual disbursements rose from £1 

million in 1959 to £75 million by 

1991, when he retired. He laid the 

foundations for our work today and 

this financial year, the Trust’s spend 

was £674 million thanks to the 

sterling work of our Investments 

team. 

 

Investments 
 

With markets globally enjoying the 

benefit of a strong tailwind provided 

by Central Bank liquidity, we enjoyed 

a third successive year of strong 

returns, adding £2.5 billion or 15.4% 

in the year to 30 September 2014. The 

portfolio continues to benefit from the 

decisive move we took back into risk 

assets in the aftermath of the financial 

crisis. As in previous crises, volatility 

once again proved to be the friend of 

long term investors, like the 

Wellcome Trust, by providing an 

opportunity to acquire desirable assets 

at attractive prices. Our total return 

since the collapse of Lehman Brothers 

in September 2008 is now over £9 

billion, while returns over both 10 and 

20 years have averaged above 10% in 

nominal terms. 

 

In this financial year we again saw 

strong returns from all the asset 

classes in which we invest, which is 

indicative of a macro environment 

that has been favourable to risk 

assets. However it is noteworthy that 

the performance of our internally 

managed investments surpassed that 

of those outsourced to external 

managers in public equities, private 

equity and property. As the breadth of 

experience of our excellent 

Investment Team, led by Danny 

Truell, has grown, they have been able 

to seek out an increasingly diverse 

range of assets in which to 

invest. Directly held investments now 

account for 42% of the portfolio, up 

from 26% four years ago. One 

landmark transaction this year was the 

purchase of Farmcare from the Co-

operative Group Ltd, which at a stroke 

makes us the largest lowland arable 

farmer in the UK. 

 

Long-termism is fundamental to the 

thinking of the Wellcome Trust. In the 

investment portfolio, it enables the 

team to focus on business dynamics 

and disregard short term mark to 

market volatility. In public and private 

equity investments this enables us to 

be supportive, engaged shareholders 

encouraging management to build and 

preserve the licence to operate long 

term franchises, rather than to worry 

about short term profitability. In 

property it means we can take a multi-

decade, holistic approach to 

management of assets within the 

portfolio whether they be residential 

housing, student accommodation, 

hotels or farmland. 

 

Reinvestment risk remains an issue in 

an environment where most asset 

classes have seen strong returns over 

the past five years, and therefore our 

expectations of future returns need to 

be realistic. However, we are 

confident that the underlying cash 

flows from the assets and businesses 

in the portfolio are robust enough to 

enable us to continue to support our 

mission through more difficult times, 

should they occur. 

 

Healthy futures 
 

One of the great pleasures of being the 

Chairman of the Wellcome Trust is 

hearing about the research we fund 

across an incredible range of 

disciplines. I am particularly 

enthusiastic about genetics and how 

we are opening up new horizons for 

healthcare based on a deeper genetic 

understanding of disease and health. 

The Trust played a significant role in 

the Human Genome Project, and we 

are now assisting Genomics England, 

the government’s project to decipher 

100,000 complete genetic sequences, 

by investing £27 million in a new 

genome-sequencing hub. 

 

The Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute 

is the critical mass that underpins our 

genetic work. Having laid the 

groundwork, a growing knowledge of 

the genetics of human disease and 

infectious pathogens is increasingly 

allowing us to look at new approaches 

for prevention and therapy. This has 

led the Trust to fruitful partnerships 

with the pharmaceutical industry as 

we seek routes to create innovative 

applications using genetic 

information. 

 

Neuroscience is another focus that 

continues to produce very exciting 

research. The pharmaceutical sector’s 

struggle to capitalise on 

neuroscientific findings in recent 

years is well known, but there remain 

areas of enormous unmet clinical need 

in mental health and neurological 

disease. This is where the Wellcome 

Trust can play a role, supporting the 

generation of new knowledge and 

partnering with industry to accelerate 

medical advances. These are areas 

that, I’m sure, will have a significant 

impact on medicine and the UK 

economy in the years to come. And, 

of course, all the research funded by 

the Wellcome Trust is intended to 

help understand, improve and protect 

our future health. 

 

 

 

 

 

Sir William Castell 

Chairman of the Wellcome Trust 

 

16 December 2014
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Trustee’s Report 
Vision and objects, mission, focus areas and challenges 

Our vision and objects 
We are dedicated to achieving extraordinary improvements in human and animal health 

 

 
 

 
 

Our mission and focus areas 
We support the brightest minds in biomedical research and medical humanities. Our three key focus areas for funding:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

• research into any of the biosciences; and 

• the discovery, invention, improvement, development and application of 
treatments, cures, diagnostics, and other medicinal agents, methods and 
processes that may in any way relieve illness, disease, disability or 
disorders of whatever nature in human beings or animal or plant life; 

To protect, preserve and advance all or any 
aspects of the health and welfare of 
humankind and to advance and promote 
knowledge and education by engaging in, 
encouraging and supporting: 

• research into the history of any of the biosciences; and 

• the study and understanding of any of the biosciences or the history of 
any of the biosciences. 

To advance and promote knowledge and 
education by engaging in, encouraging and 
supporting: 

The objects of the Wellcome Trust, as set out in its Constitution, are as follows: 
 

Maximising the health benefits 
of genetics and genomics 

We will maximise the power of genetics and genomics 
research to enhance global health. 

Investigating development, ageing and 
chronic disease 

We will aim to develop an integrated understanding of 
how the body develops, functions and ages, and of the 
factors that contribute to the onset and development of 

chronic diseases. 

Combating infectious disease 

We will promote an integrated approach to the study of 
infectious disease in humans and animals.  

Understanding the brain 

We will support research to improve understanding of 
how the brain functions and to find improved approaches 

for treating brain and mental health disorders. 

Connecting environment, nutrition and 
health 

Global health is under serious threat from the interlinked 
issues of access to nutrition, food security and climate 
change. We will foster multidisciplinary research to 

address these problems and to inform the global 

response. 

Our challenges 
Our healthy investment portfolio enables us to fund a wide variety of charitable initiatives  

We believe passionately that 

breakthroughs emerge when the 

most talented researchers are given 

the resources and freedom they 

need to pursue their goals. 

We are committed to maximising 

the application of research to 

improve health by focusing on 

new product development and the 

uptake of patient-oriented research 

advances into clinical practice. 

We strive to embed biomedical 

science in the historical and 

cultural landscape, so that it is 

valued and there is mutual trust 

between researchers and the 

wider public. 

Outstanding researchers 

Application of research 

Medicine in culture 
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Financial Review  

Total net investment assets (£m) 
 

 

 

 

 

Total Charitable Funds 2014: £16,737 million (2013: £15,041 million)  

Grant funding by Primary Challenge Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Funding & Achievements 

 

 

 

297,822 
Wellcome 

Collection visits 

 

1,044  

Total grants 
awarded 

123 
Fellowships 
awarded (or 

renewed) 

5,926  

Scientific Research 
papers associated 

with the Wellcome 
Trust 

 

13,908 13,576 
14,479 

16,374 

18,038 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

 

28% 

19% 
22% 

30% 

1% Genetics and genomics

Understanding the brain

Combating infectious disease

Development, ageing and chronic
disease

Environment, nutrition and health
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Financial Review  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Reserves policy 
Our reserves policy is directly linked 

to our expenditure policy and is to set 

spending at a level intended to deliver 

our charitable mission today while 

preserving the investment base to 

provide sustainable increases in 

annual expenditure into the future. 

 

Investment policy 
Our assets are invested in accordance 

with the wide investment powers set 

out in the Trust Constitution and 

within its investment policy. The 

investment policy is reviewed 

regularly by the Board of Governors.  

 

We invest globally and across a very 

broad range of assets and strategies. It 

is our policy not to invest in 

companies that derive material 

turnover or profit from tobacco or 

tobacco-related products.  

 

Our response to the FRC UK 

Stewardship Code together with 

further details of our investment 

policy are available on the Trust’s 

website (www.wellcome.ac.uk). We 

support the investment industry's 

continued efforts to strengthen the 

role played by institutional investors 

in corporate governance and we 

review our statement and our 

investment policy regularly and 

update them where necessary.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Expenditure policy 
Our objective when setting the annual 

grant commitment budget is to 

preserve the value of the Trust’s 

investment portfolio so that the 

purchasing power of our charitable 

expenditure is maintained over time, 

while minimising short-term volatility 

in commitments caused by changes in 

asset values. We also aim to ensure 

that we fund only the best research 

and that this is achieved in an efficient 

manner. 

 

We achieve this by setting our annual 

budget based on three-year weighted 

average investment values. When 

required, adjustments can be made to 

this budget in a controlled manner to 

manage situations that were not 

anticipated at the time of the budget 

calculations such as unexpected 

adverse economic or market events. 

This flexibility enabled us to reduce 

the impact of the recent global 

economic downturn on our charitable 

funding. 

 

The Board of Governors regularly 

monitors the market and economic 

conditions that impact this budget and 

has currently set a policy of  

budgeting to commit 4.7% of the 

three-year weighted average of 

investment asset values. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Financial position 
In view of the policies discussed 

above, and after considering the 

2014/15 budget and longer-term 

plans, the cash flows and the highly 

liquid nature of a substantial portion 

of the Trust’s investment assets, the 

Trustee is satisfied that it is 

appropriate to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing the financial 

statements of both the Trust and the 

Group. The activity and performance 

of the subsidiaries is disclosed in note 

24.

Ensuring 

Ensuring our long-term 

financial position is secure and 

our spending levels are 

sustainable 

Responding 

Responding rapidly and with 

agility to 

new opportunities 

Preserving 

Preserving, at least, the real 

purchasing power 

of the investment base 

Planning 
Planning to sustain funding 

to deliver our mission 

Our focus is on: 

http://www.wellcome.ac.uk/
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Financial Review 

 

Charitable activities 
We support high-quality research 

across the breadth of the biomedical 

sciences – from blue sky to clinical 

and applied research – and encourage 

the translation of research findings 

into medical benefits. Our funding in 

medical humanities and public 

engagement seeks to raise awareness 

of the medical, ethical and social 

implications of research and to 

promote dialogue between scientists, 

the public and policy makers. 

 

Grant applications are peer-reviewed 

and funding decisions typically made 

by expert committees although where 

initiatives fall outside of established 

review processes, decisions are made 

by the Strategic Awards Committee. 

 

Grant funding is usually channelled 

through universities or similar 

institutions which take responsibility 

for grant administration for individual 

academic researchers with only a 

limited number of small-scale awards 

being made directly to individuals. 

 

We also fund work on the Wellcome 

Trust Genome Campus where our 

own research centre, the Wellcome 

Trust Sanger Institute is based, 

channelling support through a wholly-

owned subsidiary, Genome Research 

Limited. Researchers use genome 

sequences to advance understanding 

of the biology of humans and 

pathogens in order to improve human 

health. 

 

The total expenditure in the chart 

below includes commitments each 

year from our special dividend fund 

set aside in 2007 for initiatives of 

global importance, with exceptional 

vision and scale, and where there is 

the prospect of high impact outcomes.  

Charitable expenditure of  

£728 million included the renewal of 

the Wellcome Trust Centre for 

Molecular Parasitology and additional 

funding of UK Biobank. This was a 

decrease of £4 million from 2013 

when significant five year strategic 

awards were made to the Francis 

Crick Institute and the Innovative 

Engineering for Health initiative. 

Large strategic awards like these often 

result in fluctuations in charitable 

expenditure between individual years 

but the impact levels out over a five 

year period. 

 

Our aim is that charitable expenditure 

over the next five years will exceed  

£4 billion. The actual amount will 

depend on our future investment 

performance.  

 

 

 

43.0 44.9 45.2 46.9 53.4 

104.6 111.7 117.5 121.7 118.3 

34.9 39.8 63.1 45.5 57.1 59.2 
67.6 

84.8 
61.0 65.2 

436.4 377.8 

435.7 497.8 433.7 

678.1 
641.8 

746.3 
772.9 

727.7 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Charitable activities by type (£m) 

Science

Innovations

Culture & Society

Wellcome Trust Genome

Campus*

Support

*Includes funding sourced from third 

parties 
1
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Financial Review 

 

Charitable cash payments 
Charitable activities represent funding 

that we commit to, which is 

recognised in the year in which the 

grant is awarded. However, payment 

in cash of many of these commitments 

will be made over a number of years 

and charitable cash payments in any 

one year will include amounts relating 

to grants awarded in prior years. 

Consequently, our annual cash 

payments lag commitments and with 

our investment base growing, 

represent on average 4.3% of 

investment asset values. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Incoming resources and 
matching of cash receipts 
with cash payments 

The Board of Governors is kept 

informed by the Trust’s investment 

team on current and future cash flows, 

ensuring that there are always 

sufficient cash reserves to meet 

charitable expenditure requirements. 

 

Incoming resources in the Statement 

of Financial Activities include 

dividends, interest, rental earned and 

turnover from trading subsidiaries. 

The Trust also receives cash from the 

disposal of investments. Cash 

payments are funded by a 

combination of existing cash balances, 

incoming resources and sales of 

investment assets. 
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Review of Past and Future Activities 

This review provides examples of our funding, 

activities and accomplishments during the year 

ended 30 September 2014 as well as looking 

forward to some of our future activities. 

 
 Charitable activities at a glance:  

  (the figures below include the allocated support costs shown separately in the chart on page 7) 

 

1 

 

 

Science: £453.1 million 
(formerly Science Funding) 

We support research into all aspects of biomedical science: from molecules 

and cells vital to life, through the spread of diseases or the vectors of disease 

across the globe, to clinical and public health research to improve the quality 

of healthcare. (Includes support costs of £19.4 million.) 

 

 

 

2 
 

Innovations: £74.9 million 
(formerly Technology Transfer) 

We help to bridge the gap between fundamental research and commercial 

application by funding applied research and development projects to a stage 

where they are attractive to a follow-on funder, such as venture capital firms, 

industry and public-private partnerships. (Includes support costs of £9.7 million.) 

 

3 
 

Culture & Society: £75.6 million 
(formerly Medical, Humanities and Engagement) 

We promote the exploration of medicine in its historical, ethical, social and cultural contexts. We 

achieve this by funding medical humanities research and operating Wellcome Collection and the 

Wellcome Library; by funding projects to engage the public with science and supporting our 

researchers to do so; by helping to inspire and educate young people; and by communicating the 

Trust’s work. (Includes support costs of £18.5 million.) 

4 
 

Wellcome Trust Genome Campus: £124.1 million* 
We provide funding to investigate the role of genes in health and disease, 

run an advanced courses programme, which provides practical training 

in the latest biomedical research techniques and bioinformatics tools, and 

promote public engagement in these activities. (Includes support costs of £5.8 million.) 

 

 *The consolidated figures include funding sourced from third parties.  
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Review of Past and Future Activities 

 

This review provides examples of our 

funding, activities and 

accomplishments during the year 

ended 30 September 2014 as well as 

looking forward to some of our future 

activities. Achievements reported here 

often reflect the results of many years 

of research from previous funding. 

The Wellcome Trust Annual Review 

for the year 1 October 2013 to 30 

September 2014, which is published 

alongside this Report, is available on 

the Trust’s website 

(www.wellcome.ac.uk) and covers 

more of the year’s achievements.  

 

The examples here are presented in 

terms of our Strategic Plan for 2010–

20, also available on the Trust’s 

website. Implemented in 2009/10, the 

Strategic Plan sets out how we work 

with others to achieve extraordinary 

improvements in human and animal 

health. In it we highlight the three 

focus areas of our funding, which, to a 

large extent, overlap with the work of 

our three funding divisions: Science 

(formerly Science Funding), 

Innovations (formerly Technology 

Transfer), and Culture and Society 

(formerly Medical Humanities and 

Engagement). Our focus areas help to 

ensure we provide the best 

environment and support for 

researchers to tackle important 

questions posed by the five major 

research challenges that we have 

identified for this decade.  

 

Focus area 1: Outstanding 
researchers 
Engaging the public with research is 

an intrinsic part of the scientific 

endeavour, but researchers need 

proper resourcing and support to 

achieve high-quality public 

engagement. In October 2013, 

therefore, the Wellcome Trust 

launched a new initiative to enable 

funding for public engagement 

activities to be integrated in research 

grants. The Provision for Public 

Engagement allows researchers 

interested in using their creativity and 

communication skills for outreach to 

apply for additional funding as part of 

their larger research grant. 

 

Grants supplemented by the Provision 

for Public Engagement this year 

included major overseas programmes, 

individual fellowships, medical 

humanities awards, and research 

centres in the UK. In Newcastle, for 

example, the Wellcome Trust Centre 

for Mitochondrial Research received 

£290,000 for a three-year programme 

of activities to inform the public 

debate on mitochondrial research and 

new techniques they are developing to 

prevent mitochondrial diseases. The 

funding will support a full-time public 

engagement manager as well as 

training for researchers, enhanced 

patient days and public events. 

 

The Trust has a long history of 

investing in programmes to develop 

and strengthen health research in low- 

and middle-income countries. In 

August 2014, we announced a 

significant shift in strategy to support 

the African-led development of world-

class researchers in Africa. The 

Developing Excellence in Leadership, 

Training and Science (DELTAS 

Africa) initiative will focus on 

developing scientific excellence, 

research leadership and scientific 

citizenship in sub-Saharan Africa. Our 

plans include working with partners to 

develop the ability of an African 

organisation to shape future strategies 

and take over the management of such 

schemes in future. 

 

In Europe, a large collaboration called 

XFEL is developing a new type of X-

ray crystallography that has the 

potential to transform structural 

biology. To support UK researchers 

working with XFEL, the Trust, the 

Medical Research Council and the 

Biotechnology and Biological 

Sciences Research Council this year 

co-funded a specialised protein 

crystallography ‘target station’ at the 

facility, which is based at the 

University of Hamburg. 

Looking ahead to next year, the Trust 

has begun to refresh the framework 

within which we fund people. Our 

vision has not changed, but nearly 

halfway through our Strategic Plan for 

2010-20, there are opportunities to 

introduce new or revised schemes to 

help researchers identify the most 

relevant types of funding for them. 

There is a focus on more support for 

research leaders of the future, who 

may still be at an early stage of their 

career, and on collaborative research. 

We also have a new seed-funding 

scheme for innovative or high-risk 

ideas, or for scientists to generate 

preliminary data ahead of a 

subsequent application. Our aim is to 

encourage cultures of scientific 

creativity and innovation in which 

researchers can make a difference to 

our understanding of the world and 

our health within it 

 

Focus area 2: Application of 
research 
Back in 2012, the Wellcome Trust and 

the Engineering and Physical Sciences 

Research Council launched a one-off 

£30 million initiative to support 

innovative engineering solutions to 

medical problems. Three projects 

were funded through the scheme this 

year, including one at Newcastle 

University to develop a brain implant 

that will monitor EEG brain waves 

and prevent seizures in people who 

have epilepsy but for whom surgery is 

not an option. 

 

The other two projects aim to improve 

care for unborn babies. A team at 

King’s College London hopes to 

create new technologies to enhance 

the sensitivity of ultrasound scans to 

identify problems before a baby is 

born, while researchers at University 

College London are developing better 

tools and imaging techniques to 

improve surgery on unborn babies. 

 

In March 2014, scientists at the Indian 

Institute of Technology in Delhi 

launched an affordable device called 

SmartCane
TM

 to help visually 

http://www.wellcome.ac.uk/
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Review of Past and Future Activities 

 

impaired people navigate the 

environment more safely and easily. 

The SmartCane
TM

 is mounted on an 

ordinary white cane and costs just 

3,000 rupees (about £30). It uses 

ultrasound signals to detect potential 

obstacles up to 3 metres away and 

vibrates in different patterns to let the 

user know the distance of the 

obstacles. The work was funded 

through the Trust’s Affordable 

Healthcare in India scheme. 

 

Malaria kills more than 660,000 

people a year, most of whom are 

children in Africa. A new class of 

experimental antimalarial drugs is 

being developed by scientists at 

Novartis with support from the Trust 

and the Medicines for Malaria 

Venture. In November 2013, the 

international collaboration working on 

the project published a paper 

describing for the first time exactly 

how the new drugs work. While the 

drugs remain experimental for the 

time being, identifying their 

mechanism of action could help to 

accelerate the development of better 

antimalarial treatments. 

 

Syncona Partners LLP is an 

independently operated subsidiary of 

the Trust that invests in healthcare 

technologies. Syncona has started to 

investment in and will continue to 

identify, support and develop 

technologies with the potential to 

significantly impact the healthcare 

market of the future. 

 

Focus area 3: Medicine in 
culture 
In March 2014, the Wellcome Trust 

launched Mosaic, a new digital 

publication dedicated to exploring the 

science of life. Publishing the vast 

majority of its content under a 

Creative Commons attribution licence 

means the quality in-depth science 

reporting it produces can be read 

freely by anyone, and reproduced, 

edited and translated by other 

publications – reaching a much more 

diverse audience. Stories have been 

republished in the USA, India, 

Australia and Norway among other 

countries, and translated into Spanish, 

French, Polish and Hungarian. 

 

The new publication followed an 

announcement in January 2014 that 

over 100,000 high-resolution images, 

including manuscripts, paintings, 

etchings, early photographs and 

adverts, would now be freely available 

through Wellcome Images. This 

unrivalled collection contains 

historical images from the Wellcome 

Library collections, Tibetan Buddhist 

paintings, ancient Sanskrit 

manuscripts written on palm leaves, 

beautifully illuminated Persian books 

and much more. 

 

Last year, the Trust expanded three 

funding streams in the humanities and 

social sciences to enable a wider range 

of research applications in these 

fields. Many projects funded this year 

have taken advantage of this new 

remit. For example, ‘The Life of 

Breath’ will work with 

pulmonologists and people who have 

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

to explore the cultural and historical 

significance of breath and breathing. 

‘Multi-morbidity in an Ageing 

Population’ will look at the rapidly 

growing area of assisted living 

technologies such as telehealth, and 

the roles they play in managing the 

health and independence of elderly 

people. 

 

We fund a number of projects that 

engage people with scientific research 

through films, games, theatre, 

exhibitions and other events. Our 

Engaging Science grants also enable 

people who have health conditions to 

form communities and find out more 

about research relevant to them. 

Shift.ms is a network for people with 

multiple sclerosis (MS) which has 

been funded by two People Awards 

and this year was granted a Society 

Award to build on its work 

experimenting with digital 

engagement between researchers and 

the MS community. 

 

It has been a busy year of 

redevelopment at Wellcome 

Collection, our venue for people to 

explore the connections between 

medicine, life and art. The building 

never completely closed during the 

works, but it has been transformed 

with the addition of new galleries and 

spaces to accommodate ever-growing 

numbers of visitors. Some of these 

spaces opened in 2013/14; the rest 

will come into use in 2014/15 as the 

building reaches its new potential. 
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Research challenge 1: 
Genetics and genomics  
Fred Sanger, the double Nobel 

laureate who devised the method for 

DNA sequencing used in the Human 

Genome Project, died in November 

2013 aged 95. His work laid the 

foundations for our ability to read and 

understand the genetic code, which 

has revolutionised biology and is now 

contributing to transformative 

improvements in healthcare. The 

Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute – set 

up initially to work on the Human 

Genome Project – continues to 

support world-class research from its 

home on the Wellcome Trust Genome 

Campus near Cambridge. 

 

In August 2014, it was announced that 

they would be joined there by a new 

sequencing facility for Genomics 

England, the UK government’s 

ambitious project to decipher 100,000 

complete genetic codes. The 

Wellcome Trust is investing £27 

million in the new genome sequencing 

hub, which will help Genomics 

England meet its aim of bringing the 

benefits of genomic medicine to 

patients in the NHS, and will build an 

unparalleled resource for the clinical 

interpretation of genomic data and 

future medical research. 

 

Professor Sir John Sulston was 

director of the Sanger Centre (as it 

was formerly called) from its 

foundation in 1992 to 2000, by which 

time the first draft of the human 

genome had been announced. In 2014, 

his professional archive was 

catalogued and made available by the 

Wellcome Library. As well as 

charting his progress from working on 

the development of nematode worms 

to leading the pioneers of genomics, 

his papers provide fascinating insights 

into the collaborations between the 

many international research groups 

who sequenced the first human 

genome. 

 

Modern genetic analysis is powerful 

enough to add to our understanding of 

history as well as disease. An 

innovative map of human genetic 

histories was published in February 

2014 by a team of Trust-funded 

researchers. DNA from 1,490 people 

was analysed to characterise genetic 

mixing between different populations. 

For instance, the modern-day Maya 

have a genomic mix of Spanish-like, 

West African and Native American 

DNA dating back to the 17th century. 

There was also evidence of previously 

unrecorded genetic mixing, such as 

between European and Chinese people 

around the year 1200. 

 

Research challenge 2: 
Understanding the brain 
In May 2014, the Wellcome Trust 

announced a £5 million research 

programme at the University of 

Oxford to investigate how the brain 

supports complex mental processes. 

Researchers will study how networks 

of millions of nerve cells in the brain 

give rise to functions such as attention 

and decision-making, which are often 

impaired in ageing, dementia and 

mental health conditions. 

 

Brain imaging shows how brain 

networks are laid out, but not how 

these networks actually operate. The 

new research programme will 

combine magnetic resonance imaging 

with fine-scale neuroscience to probe 

how different parts of the brain 

interact with each other. Such work 

can only be done on animals, so the 

programme includes research into 

animal welfare and the best ways to 

do this type of neuroscience. 

 

Some of the most exciting work in 

neuroscience is when it allies with 

other disciplines. Trust-funded 

researchers at the University of 

Aberdeen are looking into the brain 

circuits associated with hunger, 

appetite and obesity. In August 2014, 

they published research explaining the 

role of specific brain cells in the 

development of middle-age spread – 

the extra weight some people put on 

in their 30s and 40s. While their 

findings could potentially lead to a pill 

to help people who are obese, 

understanding the neural mechanisms 

associated with middle-age spread 

could help all of us maintain control 

over our appetite throughout our lives. 

 

As research continues to improve our 

understanding of the brain, including 

how it learns, it is tempting to apply 

this new knowledge in education. But 

while some neuroscience findings 

could potentially improve the way 

children are taught, most ‘brain-

training’ products on sale to schools 

have never been scientifically 

verified. Education and Neuroscience 

is a collaboration between the Trust 

and the Education Endowment 

Foundation that aims to build 

expertise at the interface between 

neuroscience and education. The first 

six projects were funded in October 

2014, all testing educational 

interventions informed by 

neuroscience in large classroom-based 

trials. From the importance of sleep to 

using ‘uncertain rewards’, this 

initiative will help educators identify 

genuine neuroscience-based tools to 

help children learn. 

 
Research challenge 3: 
Combating infectious disease 
By the summer of 2014, it was clear 

that the Ebola epidemic in West 

Africa was beyond the scale of any 

previous outbreak of the virus, and 

that an urgent response was required. 

In the following weeks and months, 

the Wellcome Trust announced a 

series of measures to fund research 

that would help tackle the immediate 

crisis, and learn how to respond better 

in the future. 

 

The first grant we made was £2.8 

million to test a candidate Ebola 

vaccine at the Jenner Institute, 

University of Oxford. The trial, co-

funded by the Trust, the Medical 

Research Council and the UK’s 

Department for International 

Development (DFID) and fast-tracked 

for approval by the authorities, tested 
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the vaccine’s safety in small groups of 

healthy volunteers in the UK and then 

in Mali. More grants followed, 

including £3.2 million for 

international collaborations to set up 

clinical trials at Ebola treatment 

centres in West Africa. We also 

funded a £6.5 million call with DFID 

to study how humanitarian efforts and 

clinical trials are carried out in such 

situations. While having the potential 

to inform future outbreaks, the 

emphasis here was on rapid research 

with the potential to influence 

treatment and containment in this 

outbreak. 

 

Ebola drew a lot of attention this year, 

for obvious reasons, but many other 

infectious diseases still pose a serious 

threat to human health, as does the 

emergence of resistance to the drugs 

we currently use to control them. This 

summer, the Tracking Resistance to 

Artemisinin Collaboration published 

research detailing how resistance to 

our best antimalarial drug, 

artemisinin, is emerging across south-

east Asia. Longer courses of treatment 

are still effective, and researchers can 

track the genetic changes that confer 

resistance in order to monitor its 

spread. But if resistance worsens or 

spreads, plans to control and eliminate 

malaria will be severely 

compromised.  

 

Research in infectious diseases 

features prominently in the Trust’s 

international funding portfolio. Three 

of our Major Overseas Programmes 

welcomed new directors this year. Dr 

Guy Thwaites replaced Dr Jeremy 

Farrar as director of our Vietnam 

Research Programme in October 

2013. Dr Thwaites will also continue 

his research into bacterial infections. 

HIV virologist Professor Deenan 

Pillay began a secondment from 

University College London in 

November 2013 to direct the Africa 

Centre for Health and Population 

Studies in South Africa. In September 

2014, Dr Philip Bejon became director 

of the KEMRI–Wellcome Trust 

Research Programme in Kilifi, Kenya. 

A clinical epidemiologist, he has 

worked with the programme since 

2002, specialising in vaccine 

development. He replaced Professor 

Kevin Marsh who led the programme 

for 25 years. 

 

Research challenge 4: 
Development, ageing and 
chronic disease 
In November 2013, results of the third 

National Survey of Sexual Attitudes 

and Lifestyles (Natsal) were 

published. The survey, funded mainly 

by the Wellcome Trust and the 

Medical Research Council, is carried 

out every ten years and provides 

valuable information about British 

adults’ experiences, behaviours and 

views, helping to shape our 

understanding of sexual health. As 

well as publishing the research in The 

Lancet , the Natsal team created a 

series of infographics to help 

disseminate their findings. Taken all 

together, the data is an incredibly rich 

source of information about sex and 

sexual health in Britain, and the 

dataset will be anonymised, archived 

and made available to other academic 

researchers. 

Because they are responsible for the 

lifelong maintenance of our tissues 

and organs, stem cells are thought to 

have enormous therapeutic potential. 

In October 2013, research at the 

Wellcome Trust–Medical Research 

Council Cambridge Stem Cell 

Institute showed that a type of 

inflammatory bowel disease in mice 

could be treated with a transplant of 

stem cells derived from mouse 

embryos. A similar technique could 

potentially be developed by 

reprogramming adult human stem 

cells and then used to treat human 

inflammatory bowel diseases. 

 

Research at the University of East 

Anglia in Norwich is also looking at 

the bowel, but focusing on the 

bacteria that populate the human gut. 

The project, funded by a New 

Investigator Award from the Trust, 

already includes 40 babies from a 

local neonatal intensive care unit for a 

longitudinal study of their gut flora. 

Most babies in the unit are highly 

susceptible to infections, so they are 

given probiotic supplements and often 

antibiotics. Tracking the development 

of their gut bacteria should offer 

insights into how their immune 

system is affected. Understanding the 

mechanisms in this critical early-life 

window might lead to targeted 

therapies to restore gut bacteria after a 

course of antibiotics in order to 

promote health. 

 

Scientific research funded by the 

Trust and published in April 2014 

proposed a new take on the events 

leading to the origin of life on Earth. 

In a chemical reconstruction of the 

Earth’s earliest oceans, researchers 

found evidence that networks of 

chemical reactions similar to those 

found in the metabolism of modern 

cells can assemble spontaneously. 

This suggests that primitive metabolic 

processes may have existed before 

RNA or enzymes. Studying the role of 

metabolism in modern cells’ 

processes, such as ageing, cell 

robustness and adaptation, could lead 

to profound advances relevant to 

cancer and degenerative brain 

diseases. 
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Research challenge 5: 
Connecting environment, 
nutrition and health 
The planet is under pressure. The 

population is rising, the climate is 

changing, resources are becoming 

more stretched and, as we seek to 

grow more food, we’re clearing 

forests and threatening biodiversity. 

There will be profound implications 

for our health – urbanisation is linked 

to chronic diseases, there is more 

obesity but also malnutrition, and 

coping with environmental change is 

likely to put stress on our mental 

health too. The Wellcome Trust 

believes there is a clear opportunity to 

support more research in these areas. 

Our Sustaining Health initiative is the 

catalyst for this work. At this stage, 

the focus is on learning where we 

could make a difference. We are 

starting conversations with 

economists, psychologists and 

ecologists, and also with partners in 

policy and public engagement. 

 

We did fund some pilot research 

projects this year. For example, one 

project is looking at palm oil in 

Thailand. Palm oil is cheap and has 

many uses, but it is also a highly 

saturated fat and growing demand 

means forests are being cleared to 

grow it. To gain a full perspective on 

the impact of the palm oil industry, a 

team from the London School of 

Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and 

the School of Oriental and Asian 

Studies is combining health, economic 

and environmental research. Their aim 

is to build models to simulate the 

effects of potential policy changes so 

that any action a country like Thailand 

takes can be assessed by its total 

impact.  

 

Closer to home, a social scientist, a 

psychologist, a broadcaster, a 

neuroscientist and a poet have taken 

up residence in The Hub, a dynamic 

new space in Wellcome Collection. 

For the next two years, this 

interdisciplinary research collective – 

appropriately called Hubbub – will 

investigate rest and busyness in 

modern life. The core group will 

nurture an international network of 

more than 40 collaborators across the 

sciences, arts and humanities to 

explore the health implications of our 

increasingly busy lives. In addition to 

a £1 million award to develop their 

project, the team will be supported by 

their new neighbours in the Wellcome 

Trust, Wellcome Collection and the 

Wellcome Library. 
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Summary 
For the third successive year, our 

portfolio delivered a double-digit 

return in the year to September, 

gaining £2.5 billion. Its net valuation 

has risen to £18.0 billion, having 

returned 75% over the past five years. 

We are now forecasting that our 

charitable cash spend will rise over 

the next five years to £4 billion, 

compared with £3 billion over the past 

five years. 

 

Ownership structure 
Our returns were broadly based. In 

each of the major asset classes (public 

equities, hedge funds, buyout funds, 

venture and property), we again 

achieved double-digit returns; total 

returns were supplemented by our 

direct overlay strategies. A key 

common feature across the portfolio, 

whether in public equities, private 

equity or property, was the stronger 

performance from our directly-

managed assets compared with those 

outsourced to external managers. The 

proportion of our assets managed 

directly (excluding overlays) rose by 

6% to 42%, up from 26% four years 

ago. We might expect it to reach 50% 

by 2016. 

 

We have many excellent external 

partners, having worked hard in recent 

years to concentrate relationships. Of 

the 50 who manage at least $100 

million for us, we have been partnered 

with 25 for at least ten years and with 

only 7 for less than five years. There 

are clearly areas in which we shall 

continue to defer to their superior 

skills (early-stage venture capital, 

multi-asset partnerships in developing 

markets, specialist private equity, 

long/short hedge funds) and are 

content to pay the higher fees of 

external managers to access superior 

net returns.

 

 

Figure 1a 

   Total portfolio net returns (blended £/$) 

Period to 30 September 2014 

 

Annualised return in blended currency (%) 

  Nominal UK/US CPI Real 

Trailing one year 15.5 1.7 13.8 

Trailing three years 15.9 2.2 13.7 

Trailing five years 11.8 2.5 9.4 

Trailing ten years 10.3 2.5 7.8 

Trailing twenty years 10.6 2.0 8.6 

Since Oct 1985 14.0 2.9 11.1 

        

 

Cumulative return in blended currency (%) 

  Nominal UK/US CPI Real 

Trailing one year 16 2 14 

Trailing three years 56 7 49 

Trailing five years 75 13 62 

Trailing ten years 166 28 138 

Trailing twenty years 653 49 603 

Since Oct 1985 4,365 126 4,238 

    £ used to 30 September 2009. Blended £/$ from 1 October 2009. 

 

Figure 1b 

   Total portfolio net returns (£) 

Period to 30 September 2014 

 

Annualised return in £ (%) 

  Nominal UK CPI Real 

Trailing one year 15.4 1.7 13.7 

Trailing three years 15.1 2.6 12.5 

Trailing five years 11.6 3.0 8.6 

Trailing ten years 10.2 2.7 7.4 

Trailing twenty years 10.6 2.1 8.4 

Since Oct 1985 14.0 2.9 11.0 

        

 

Cumulative return in £ (%) 

  Nominal UK CPI Real 

Trailing one year 15 2 14 

Trailing three years 53 8 45 

Trailing five years 73 16 57 

Trailing ten years 163 31 132 

Trailing twenty years 645 53 592 

Since Oct 1985 4,316 132 4,184 
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However, increasing control of our 

own destiny by managing our assets 

directly provides several advantages. 

Firstly, it increases integration of our 

single portfolio. Whether we wish to 

express long-term views on the US 

Dollar or on technology, there are 

significant advantages in using an 

integrated combination of our very 

stable and very liquid equity Mega-

Cap Basket (MCB), foreign exchange 

overlay, equity index derivative 

overlay, equity stock options and our 

new commodity overlay, which are all 

liquid enough to cover billions of 

Dollars of notional exposure. This 

could simply not be outsourced.   

 

Secondly, within public equities, we 

now have £5.5 billion of direct 

exposure (almost 60% of all our 

equity exposure), principally to the 31 

stocks in the MCB (£3.9 billion) and 

to the 12 stocks which comprise our 

£1.4 billion Optionality Basket (OB). 

The average holding size of $200 

million means that individual names 

have the capacity to impact overall 

returns. Turnover is extremely low: no 

names have been added or removed 

from the MCB, for example, during 

the last two financial years. 

 

Our focus is on 10-year total return 

targets. Hence, we can focus on the 

evolution of long-term business 

models rather than short-term share 

prices in a way that is much harder for 

an external manager. This extends to 

our engagement with the companies in 

which we own shares: our focus is on 

helping boards and management to 

concentrate on strengthening their 

long-term licence to operate and on 

reinforcing franchises rather than on 

short-term profitability. We also have 

a Growth Basket (GB) of nine direct 

holdings in developing markets, a 

basket which is expected to evolve 

over time employing the same long-

term philosophy.  

 

The MCB and OB have each returned 

around 14% a year since their 

inception in 2008. 
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In property, the differences between 

direct and external management are 

even more extreme, as our returns 

evidence (figure 18). Over 90% of our 

£2 billion of property investments is 

managed directly (with the remainder 

in funds in run-off). In our UK 

residential interests of £1.2 billion, 

focused in super-prime London 

properties, we take a multi-decade and 

holistic view of the management of 

assets such as our South Kensington 

Estate. This year, we also bought out 

our partner’s 50% interest in iQ, the 

UK student accommodation company: 

our ability to deploy our AAA/Aaa 

balance sheet in good and bad times in 

a sector that has historically lacked 

capital, provides a major advantage. 

 

Our third direct property interest is in 

agriculture: we acquired Farmcare 

from the Co-op to become the UK’s 

largest lowland arable farmer. The 

combination of a multi-decade 

approach to this business, the 

availability of capital and a risk 

tolerance which does not regard 

farming as a standalone asset 

encourage us to believe that we can 

unlock significant value over time.

Two other significant advantages are 

derived from long-term direct 

ownership and very low asset 

turnover. Transaction fees are 

substantially reduced, while internal 

management generates considerable 

management expense savings. There 

is also a major reduction in 

information loss: when many of our 

team have engaged with the same 

company or asset for many years, we 

create an internal store of knowledge 

which is not depleted by constant 

changing of the portfolio. 

 

Global outlook 

Having approximately 60% of our 

assets in US Dollars has helped us 

considerably over recent years as the 

US equity market has outperformed 

against world markets by 25% in the 

past five years and its private equity 

and venture markets have similarly 

been robust. Its banking system is 

relatively strong. Its fiscal deficit has 

been reduced and its current account 

deficit has also declined. Productivity 

of labour has improved and the 

productivity of capital should be 

enhanced as it becomes the first major 

economy to reclaim control of its 

monetary policy and raise rates. We 

shall retain our US bias for the 

present. 

 

Developing markets have overall had 

mixed experiences in recent years. 

Our external long-only equity 

managers have preserved value well, 

such that our Growth Markets equity 

composite has beaten its benchmark 

by 4% since inception in 2010. 

However, our more opportunistic and 

unconstrained Multi-Asset 

Partnerships, of which we have six, 

have achieved 20% annualised returns 

in the past two years. They now 

represent a growing portion of our 

equity exposure to these markets. We 

have also benefitted significantly from 

our direct exposure to Chinese e-

commerce through stakes in Alibaba 

and JD.com as these companies listed 

in New York. We shall remain alert 

for opportunities on a selective basis. 
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In Japan it is still unclear how an 

economy with a large Government 

debt burden, a substantial surplus of 

private savings and a prolonged recent 

history of deflation will respond to an 

aggressive and unorthodox policy 

response. However, unless the Yen 

strengthens substantially, assets are 

becoming cheaper. For the present, 

our exposure equates to just under 5% 

of our assets with Yen exposure being 

fully hedged.  

 

In Europe, we seem far away from 

resolving structural problems. In 

many countries, including the UK, 

France, Spain and Italy, populist 

politics appear to have largely 

derailed progress in driving public-

sector supply-side reforms to restore 

fiscal balance through greater 

efficiencies. The ECB monetary 

stimulus programme has stalled, while 

banks remain constrained from 

supplying credit. Both Euro and 

Sterling appear vulnerable to further 

depreciation against US Dollar; we 

have hedged out exposure to the 

former and are holding Sterling 

exposure to just over 25%, the bottom 

end of our target range. Our asset 

exposure remains largely limited to 

MCB multinationals and to non-

commercial property in the UK and 

Germany.  

 

Overall, our long-run expectations, 

whilst still attractive, have moderated. 

We are not persuaded that there will 

be a substantial return premium for 

higher risk or illiquid assets after the 

strong performance of the past five 

years. Figure 3 shows that the 

volatility of our returns has fallen to 

an eight year low. We shall remain 

opportunistic and seek to broaden our 

sources of net returns using our 

intrinsic competitive advantages, but 

with a focus on preserving our real 

wealth. 
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Figure 6 

      Investment asset allocation  

As at 30 September 

      

  

2014 

£m 

2014 

US$m 

2014 

% 

2013 

% 

2011 

% 

Change in 

allocation 

2011 to 

2014 

% 

Total public equities 9,546 15,477 49.1 46.7 41.9 7.2 

Global 5,907 9,577 30.4 25.9 22.3 8.1 

Developed World 1,866 3,025 9.6 11.3 9.1 0.5 

Growth Markets 1,773 2,875 9.1 9.5 10.5 (1.4) 

       Long/short hedge funds 1,073 1,739 5.5 5.4 7.4 (1.9) 

       Cash 639 1,035 3.3 3.5 3.2 0.1 

       Absolute return & buy-out 2,532 4,105 13.0 14.7 18.9 (5.9) 

Buyout funds 1,283 2,080 6.6 7.0 8.2 (1.6) 

Distressed debt PE funds 157 255 0.8 1.2 2.3 (1.5) 

Multistrategy hedge funds 896 1,452 4.6 5.0 5.0 (0.4) 

Distressed debt hedge funds 196 318 1.0 1.5 2.1 (1.1) 

Other hedge funds - - - - 1.3 (1.3) 

       Growth & venture 3,579 5,802 18.4 19.2 18.7 (0.3) 

Venture funds 1,683 2,729 8.7 7.8 8.4 0.3 

Specialist and growth PE funds 560 907 2.9 3.9 6.2 (3.3) 

Multi Asset Partnerships 603 978 3.0 3.0 - 3.0 

Direct private 733 1,188 3.8 4.5 4.1 (0.3) 

       Property & infrastructure 2,011 3,260 10.3 10.2 10.7 (0.4) 

       Net overlay assets 70 114 0.4 0.3 (0.8) 1.2 

Total assets 19,450 31,532 - - - - 

Bond liabilities (1,412) (2,289) - - - - 

Total assets inc bond liability 18,038 29,243 - - - - 
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Public equity 
Returns from public equities were 

again sound, as global markets 

returned nearly 12%, but the sources 

of return became increasingly 

concentrated. The US market returned 

20%; elsewhere, in UK, Japan, Europe 

ex-UK, Asia and Growth Markets, 

low to mid single-digit returns were 

prevalent. Mega cap stocks in 

developed markets outperformed, 

causing active investment managers to 

struggle: five of our seven external 

managers in developed and global 

markets underperformed against their 

benchmarks (although all bar one 

remain ahead since inception). In 

contrast, four of our five Growth 

markets’ managers outperformed (all 

are ahead since inception). 

  

We held our own in relative terms 

given our tilt in developed markets 

towards the US (our developed market 

composite outperformed by 1.0% 

despite our manager drag), our 

Growth market manager 

outperformance and the 3% 

outperformance against global 

markets of the MCB, which, at £3.9 

billion, accounts for 40% of our 

equity exposure. 

 

Increasingly, our focus is on long-

term nominal returns, especially 

because we are relatively indifferent 

to short-term price fluctuations in 

directly-owned businesses where we 

have multi-year or even multi-decade 

holding profiles. Both the MCB and 

OB have so far achieved the mid-teen 

targets which we forecast when we 

initiated the baskets in 2008/09. 

Returns going forward, especially for 

the MCB, are expected to be lower. 

 

 
Figure 7 

   Public equity net returns (%) 

Period to 30 September 2014       

 

Annualised return in £ (%) 

  Wellcome 

MSCI AC 

World Relative 

One year 12.0 11.8 0.2 

Three years 16.2 15.7 0.5 

Five years 10.6 10.3 0.3 

Ten years 9.6 9.0 0.6 

Since January 1993 8.6 7.8 0.8 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9 

     Public equity allocations by strategy (£) 

As at 30 September 

 

  

2014 

Value 

£m 

2013 

Value 

£m 

2012 

Value 

£m 

2011 

Value 

£m 

2010 

Value 

£m 

Indirectly managed 4,073 4,044 3,567 3,584 4,211 

   Global 645 531 375 739 815 

   Developed markets 1,866 1,953 1,522 1,332 1,603 

   Growth markets 1,562 1,560 1,670 1,513 1,793 

Directly managed 5,473 4,045 3,179 2,481 2,354 

   Mega cap basket 3,883 3,352 2,771 2,262 2,072 

   Optionality basket 1,379 612 262 219 282 

   Growth basket 211 81 - - - 

   Other - - 146 - - 

Total 9,546 8,089 6,746 6,065 6,565 

 

Figure 8 
  Direct public equities IRR by strategy (%) 

Inception to 30 September 2014 

    IRR (%) 

Mega cap basket (inception Sept 2008) 13.6 

Optionality basket (inception July 2008) 14.3 
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For the MCB, dividends are an 

increasingly important source of 

return; to date, they have provided 

about 26% of total returns. The 

forecast dividend yield of 3.25% 

offers a 20% premium to the broader 

market. However, because MCB share 

prices have risen on average by 50% 

since our shares were acquired, the 

dividend yield to book value is 4.85%. 

This compares very favourably with 

our cost of borrowing: this year, we 

issued £400 million of 2059 Sterling 

bonds at an annual coupon of 4.00%. 

 

Figure 10 shows the position size and 

return for the 28 MCB and 6 OB 

holdings valued above $150 million. 

Over the year, we transferred to the 

OB our 7% stake in the largest 

German residential landlord, Deutsche 

Annington, from our private property 

portfolio and our 1% stake in social 

networker, Twitter, from our private 

direct portfolio. We also began to 

build a stake in the Japanese bank, 

SMFG (returns do not reflect our Yen 

hedge). Given our reluctance to incur 

costs by trimming long-term holdings, 

relative rankings largely reflect price 

movements. Given the share price 

performance of mega cap US 

technology and financials, four of the 

former (Apple, Twitter, Microsoft and 

Google) and three of the latter (Bank 

of America, JP Morgan and Morgan 

Stanley) now feature prominently 

among our Top 10 holdings. Of the 34 

stocks, 8 have now recorded returns in 

excess of 100% and 24 have returned 

more than 50%.

 

Figure 10 

    Direct public equity holdings > $150m 

  As at 30 September 2014       

Rank 

2013 

Rank 

2014 

  
Total 

value 

Total 

value 

Return on Cost 

GBP % 

  £m US$m 

(Inception 

dates differ) 

N/A 1 Deutsche Annington* 300 486 68% 

5 2 Apple 221 359 341% 

1 3 Marks & Spencer 210 341 101% 

N/A 4 Twitter* 194 315 188% 

7 5 Microsoft 177 287 98% 

6 6 Bank Of America 167 271 39% 

10 7 JPMorgan Chase 158 256 70% 

9 8 Google 151 244 176% 

3 9 HSBC 145 235 37% 

20 10 Morgan Stanley 145 235 52% 

4 11 Toyota 142 230 64% 

8 12 Royal Dutch Shell 142 229 44% 

19 13 Berkshire Hathaway 138 223 63% 

17 14 Nestle 136 221 74% 

11 15 Roche 135 219 108% 

13 16 General Electric 133 215 70% 

15 17 Anheuser-Busch 130 211 106% 

2 18 Vodafone 127 205 43% 

N/A 19 SMFG 126 204 -1% 

12 20 Siemens 121 196 69% 

26 21 PepsiCo 121 196 66% 

16 22 BP 118 191 20% 

23 23 Novartis 117 189 104% 

22 24 IBM 115 186 73% 

25 25 Schlumberger 114 185 76% 

27 26 Johnson & Johnson 114 184 88% 

21 27 Unilever 114 184 79% 

24 28 Cisco 106 171 35% 

32 29 Coca-Cola 104 168 75% 

14 30 Facebook 102 166 113% 

30 31 Procter & Gamble 102 165 46% 

18 32 GlaxoSmithKline 99 160 40% 

28 33 Rio Tinto 97 157 55% 

29 34 BHP Billiton 93 150 42% 

      *Return on cost has been adjusted for transactions while asset was held privately 
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Hedge Funds 
In a year when many hedge funds 

appear to have struggled to deliver 

reasonable performance, all 19 of our 

partners delivered positive returns. 

Our equity long/short funds led the 

way – 8 out of the 10 funds delivered 

double-digit returns. 

 

Activity has been fairly subdued. We 

have gradually reduced exposure over 

the last four years to distressed debt 

funds as the risk-adjusted opportunity 

set for these managers has been 

compressed. We have largely exited 

catastrophe insurance as rates have 

been forced down by excess capital 

entering the sector. Otherwise our 

manager line-up has remained 

unaltered in the past year. In the more 

volatile equity long/short space, in 

particular, we favour partners who 

will not be dislocated by volatile fund 

flows; 9 of our 10 partners are closed 

to new capital. 

  

Private equity 
Our private equity investments 

enjoyed a vintage year. As shown in 

figure 14, our large buyout funds 

returned 16% in US Dollars and have 

now outperformed against global 

equities by 5.5% a year over 10 years, 

providing a long track record for the 

premium return from the right buyout 

funds in different market and 

economic conditions. Buyout funds 

overall have delivered a net return of 

1.45 times our invested capital (figure 

13); they, along with our growth and 

distressed funds should comfortably 

achieve at least our targeted net return 

on invested capital of 1.5 times, as 

newer funds mature and realisations 

are achieved from the £2.0 billion of 

net asset value. These funds make up 

40% of our illiquid equity interests.

 

 

 

Figure 12 

     Hedge fund investments by strategy (£) 

As at 30 September 
   

  

2014 

Value 

£m 

2013 

Value 

£m 

2012 

Value 

£m 

2011 

Value 

£m 

2010 

Value 

£m 

Distressed debt 196 251 255 310 339 

Multistrategy 896 860 802 725 647 

Equity long/short 1,073 929 1,105 1,073 1,361 

Others - - 319 379 107 

Total hedge funds 2,165 2,040 2,481 2,486 2,454 

 

 
 

 

Figure 11 

    Hedge fund net returns (%) 

Period to 30 September 2014 
     Annualised return in US$ (%) 

  1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years 

Distressed debt 3.8 7.5 7.1 7.4 

Multistrategy 8.0 9.4 8.6 6.9 

Equity long/short 15.0 15.2 10.1 8.1 

Total hedge funds 10.5 11.7 8.9 7.4 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 13 

    Private equity fund net returns (multiples) 

Period to 30 September 2014 

  

 

Drawn 

(£m) 

Realised 

(£m) 

Net 

Asset 

Value 

(£m) 

Total 

Value 

to 

Drawn 

Buyout Funds 3,131  3,270  1,283  1.45x  

Growth Funds 1,151  1,153  560  1.49x  

Distressed Funds 418  457  157  1.47x  

Venture Funds 1,218  1,232  1,154  1.96x  

Healthcare and Healthcare/Venture 

Funds 1,103  986  529  1.37x  

All Funds <=2008 6,304  6,963  2,758  1.54x  

All Funds >=2009 717  135  925  1.48x  

All Funds Total 7,021  7,098  3,683  1.54x  

 



 

Wellcome Trust Annual Report 2014 | 23  

Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Review of Investment Activities 

Venture funds deliver returns in a 

much less smooth cycle. After several 

dull years after the bursting of the 

internet bubble, demand for growth 

venture-backed companies has risen 

powerfully in the past three years as 

new and disruptive industries have 

emerged, led by social networking 

and e-commerce. Our 29% return 

from venture funds in the last year 

reflects this demand; our targeted net 

return on invested capital for our 

venture funds is 2.0 times. We have 

already surpassed that target for 

mature funds (pre-2009 vintage), 

while the outlook for returns from 

investing funds is currently even 

stronger. The ability of venture funds 

to achieve outsize returns is reflected 

in the fact that no less than seven of 

our active funds where we still have at 

least $10 million of assets at work 

have achieved a net return on invested 

capital of at least 4 times. Venture 

funds represent 33% of our illiquid 

equity interests.

 

 

Figure 15 
     Private equity investment by strategy (£) 

As at 30 September 
   

  

2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

2012 

£m 

2011 

£m 

2010 

£m 

Buyouts 1,283 1,226 1,209 1,185 1,068 

Specialist and Growth  560 693 935 703 540 

Distressed 157 202 283 325 361 

Venture  1,683 1,352 1,237 1,211 1,010 

Direct 733 786 585 594 515 

Total 4,416 4,259 4,249 4,018 3,494 

 

 

Figure 14 

    Private equity fund net returns (%) 

Period to 30 September 2014 
     Annualised return in $ (%) 

  1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years 

Large MBOs 16.1 14.8 14.9 13.3 

Distressed PE funds 15.9 14.7 12.4 11.5 

Venture 28.5 19.2 16.8 8.5 

MSCI AC World 11.9 17.2 10.6 7.8 

 

 

 

Figure 16 

      Direct Holdings - Selection of Recent IPOs and Exits 

Period 30 September 2014 

    

Name 

Year of 

Investment IPO date 

Total 

cost 

($m) 

Total 

distributions 

($m) 

Valuation 

($m) 

Total 

Value to 

Drawn 

Radius 2007 06/06/2014 

 
- 33.7 1.4x 

Castlight Health 2010 14/03/2014 

 
- 85.0 2.9x 

JD.com (360Buy) 2011 22/05/2014 

 
- 157.9 3.2x 

Alibaba 2011 19/09/2014 

 

12.1 186.2 5.5x 

Achaogen 2012 12/03/2014 

 
- 13.9 5.3x 

Twitter 2012 07/11/2013 

 
- 294.4 2.9x 

Total - IPO exits     243.5 12.1 771.1 3.2x 

       Other significant exits 

     

ProteinSimple 2006 

Acquisition by Bio-

Techne 

 

55.6 4.8 2.0x 

Amplimmune 2007 

Acquisition by 

AstraZeneca 

 

79.8 68.7 14.1x 

Total      283.6 147.5 844.6 3.5x 
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Over recent years, we raised our 

directly held exposure to private 

company interests, investing 

alongside our partners. Of the 34 

companies in which we held stakes at 

the end of last year, eight exceeding 

$10 million were listed or acquired 

this year. In these eight, as shown in 

Figure 16, our investment of less than 

$300 million was increased into 

realised or unrealised value of almost 

$1 billion, a return of 3.5 times our 

invested capital. Most of the gains 

came from investments made since 

2010. The largest monetary gain of 

$191 million was made in social 

networker, Twitter. Significant gains 

were also derived from Chinese e-

commerce companies Alibaba ($162 

million) and JD.com ($108 million), 

from the oncology company 

Amplimmune ($138 million) and 

from healthcare insurer Castlight ($56 

million). Overall, our Direct 

Knowledge composite (£472 million) 

returned 66% in the year and has 

returned 158% over five years; our 

Direct Healthcare (£124 million) 

returned 26% in the year and 50% 

over five years. 

 

We continue to develop our Multi-

Asset Partnership network in 

developing markets, adding a partner 

in Turkey to supplement those in Sub-

Saharan Africa (2008), East Asia 

(2010), the Arab World (2010), Brazil 

(2011) and ASEAN (2012). Assets 

rose to over £600 million, enjoying an 

annualised return of 20% over the past 

two years.  

 

Property 
We had an active year in managing 

our property investments. The fund 

interests were largely run off as our 

Deutsche Annington stake was 

transferred to our public equity basket 

after its stock market listing. 

Otherwise, the property fund interests 

have had an uninspiring decade as 

managers failed to read the property 

cycle. 

 

In contrast, our directly owned 

property interests have had a robust 

decade. Our residential property 

composite has returned 112% over 

five years and 285% over ten years as 

we have continued to maintain the 

allure of our estate of 1,720 units in 

South Kensington, to restructure our 

748 unit Nautilus portfolio 

(principally London and South-East), 

and to add selectively, acquiring 32 

units in Lancaster Gate in 2014. 

Returns in the near future may be 

more muted as the London market, 

especially at the prime end, is stalling 

in the near term given political 

concerns and overly strong recent 

price appreciation. 

Our non-residential property 

composite has returned 263% over 

five years and 298% over ten years. 

There are now key assets in three 

operating companies: 100%-owned 

Agricultural (£280 million NAV), 

which was supplemented in 2014 by 

the acquisition of Farmcare from Co-

op to give us ownership of 21,000 

acres of farmland, 100%-owned 

Student (£305 million NAV) which 

was increased in 2014 by the 

acquisition of our JV partner’s 50% in 

iQ to give us full ownership of 5,600 

student rooms, and 50%-owned 

Hotels (£45 million NAV) which 

owns six budget hotels in central 

London. 

 

Figure 18 
    Property net returns (%) 

Period to 30 September 2014 
      Annualised return in £ (%) 

  1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years 

Non-Residential Property 11.5 20.3 29.4 14.8 

Residential Property 19.5 17.7 16.2 14.5 

Property Funds 0.4 (6.2) (2.4) 0.6 

Property & infrastructure 11.8 13.0 12.5 9.7 

  

Figure 19 
     Property investments by strategy (£) 

As at 30 September 2014 

    

  

2014 

Value 

£m 

2013 

Value 

£m 

2012 

Value 

£m 

2011 

Value 

£m 

2010 

Value 

£m 

Non-Residential Property 667 218 191 138 114 

Residential Property 1,216 1,101 1,091 881 864 

Property Funds 128 437 349 388 347 

Total 2,011 1,756 1,631 1,407 1,326 

 

 

 

Figure 17 
   Multi-Asset Partnerships (MAPs) 
   As at 30 September 2014       

 

Annualised Return 2014 Value 

£m 

 

£ (%) US$ (%) 

MAPs 20.1 19.9 603 
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Commodities 
As banks have largely ceased to 

commit capital to provide liquidity in 

the commodity markets, it makes 

sense for a long-term asset owner to 

seek to take advantage of the 

consequent dislocation by investing in 

cash-settled exchange-traded 

derivatives. Our new commodity team 

has stepped up our involvement 

gently; total notional exposure at year-

end was nearly $360 million. Taking 

advantage of significant 

backwardation in the oil market at the 

start of 2014 and realising gains when 

the oil price spiked in the summer, the 

strategy began successfully. 

 
Overlay capital management 
Our overlay capital management has 

become increasingly integrated with 

our underlying portfolio 

management, especially as we have 

increased our direct ownership of 

assets in recent years. Views are 

driven by fundamental economic and 

financial considerations and are held 

for much longer periods than is 

typical in the market.  

 

We issue long-term fixed-rate debt 

which provides us with some 

protection from inflation at the 

margin and creates the expectation of 

long-term return enhancement. In 

2014 we issued £400 million of 

Sterling 2059 bonds with an annual 

coupon of 4.00%. We have issued 

£550 million of Sterling 4.625% 2036 

bonds and £275 million of Sterling 

4.75% 2021 bonds; however, in 

respect of the latter, in 2011 we 

entered into a series of forward 

contracts to convert this liability into 

Yen. This significantly lowered our 

financing costs and has had the effect 

of allowing us to benefit from Yen 

weakness. We consolidated £227 

million of debt in 2014 when we 

became 100% owners of iQ and 

would expect to refinance this in due 

course. We remain committed to 

maintaining our AAA/Aaa (stable) 

credit rating from Moody’s and 

Standard & Poor’s.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreign exchange management is 

carried out at the portfolio level 

looking through to individual assets 

where possible. We target a minimum 

25% exposure to Sterling and to US 

Dollar, which normally means that we 

have significant long Sterling forward 

positions. In 2014, both our Yen and 

Euro assets were fully hedged. At 

year-end, we owned more than £100 

million of net exposure to each of the 

Swiss Franc, Hong Kong Dollar, 

Singapore Dollar, Taiwan Dollar, 

Indian Rupee, Korean Won and Polish 

Zloty. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We use equity index options and 

futures to manage equity beta 

exposure. At year-end, we owned £1.7 

billion of index puts and had sold 

£155 million of index puts. We use 

equity single stock options to enhance 

returns and to acquire stock in the 

MCB and OB at cheaper prices; at 

year-end, we had written £280 million 

of stock puts, written £16 million of 

stock calls and bought £92 million of 

stock calls. 

 

62.3 
6.0 

3.8 
1.7 
0.8 

25.4 

Currency allocation (net of currency forwards) (%) 

As at 30 September 2014 

US Dollar & linked currencies

 Total Asia

 Total Europe

 Total commodity

 Other

Pound Sterling

62.3 
6 

3.8 
1.7 
0.8 

25.4 

Figure 20 
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The Wellcome Trust is a charitable 

trust created in 1936 by the will of Sir 

Henry Wellcome and is now governed 

by its Constitution, which was 

established in February 2001 by a 

scheme of the Charity Commission 

and has been subsequently amended.  

 

The Trust is a charity registered in 

England and Wales (registration 

number 210183) under the Charities 

Act 2011.  

 

The Wellcome Trust “Group” 

comprises the Trust and its subsidiary 

undertakings. 

 

The Trustee and the Board of 
Governors 
The sole Trustee of the Wellcome 

Trust is The Wellcome Trust Limited 

(the “Trustee”), a company limited by 

guarantee (registration number 

2711000), whose registered office is 

Gibbs Building, 215 Euston Road, 

London NW1 2BE. The Trustee is 

governed by its memorandum and 

articles of association. The Trustee’s 

directors (known as Governors), the 

Company Secretary of the Trustee, the 

Executive Board and other 

administrative details are shown on 

pages 90 to 91. 

 

The members of the Board of 

Governors are distinguished in the 

fields of medicine, science, business 

and policy. The Board considers each 

of the Governors to be independent in 

character and judgement and that 

there are no relationships or 

circumstances that are likely to affect, 

or could appear to affect, the 

Governors’ judgement. Governors are 

appointed for terms of four years, with 

an extension of three years on mutual 

agreement, and a further three-year 

term on mutual agreement in 

exceptional circumstances.  

 

The Chairman of the Board is Sir 

William Castell. His distinguished 

career in industry included positions 

as Chief Executive of Amersham plc, 

Vice Chairman of General Electric 

and President of GE Healthcare. He is 

an Honorary Fellow of Green 

Templeton College, University of 

Oxford, an Honorary Fellow of the 

Academy of Medical Sciences and a 

Trustee of the Education and 

Employer Task force. He is also 

currently Chairman of Chichester 

Festival Theatre. Sir William’s final 

term in office will conclude in April 

2016 and the search for his successor 

has begun, led by the Deputy Chair. 

 

In May 2014 Professor Peter Smith 

stepped down from the Board of 

Governors having served with 

distinction for ten years. 

 

Two Governors joined the Board in 

September 2014. Professor Tobias 

Bonhoeffer, a neuroscientist, is 

Director of the Max Planck Institute 

of Neurobiology and Professor at the 

Ludwig Maximilians University in 

Munich. Professor Bryan Grenfell, a 

population biologist at Princeton 

University, is jointly appointed at the 

Woodrow Wilson School and 

Department of Ecology and 

Evolutionary Biology.  

 

The Board sets strategy, decides 

priorities, establishes funding policies 

and allocates budgets. It develops and 

agrees the overall scientific strategy 

and policies related to biomedical 

science grant activities, and monitors 

and reviews progress and policies. 

 

During 2013/14, the Board of 

Governors met seven times, including 

a two-day residential strategic review 

meeting, and had one private meeting 

without the Executive Board members 

(see Table 1 on page 28). 

 

The Executive Board 

The Executive Board, chaired by the 

Director of the Trust, reports directly 

to the Board of Governors. It is 

responsible for the day-to-day 

management of the Trust’s operations 

and provides advice to both the 

Governors and the Director with 

regard to planning, operational, policy 

or strategic matters, the delivery of 

objectives and issues arising from the 

specific functional areas for which its 

members are responsible. It provides 

leadership across the organisation in 

support of the overall leadership given 

by the Director and ensures that the 

vision and strategic objectives of the 

Trust, which have been agreed with 

the Governors, are disseminated, and 

all necessary actions taken to uphold 

the vision and deliver the objectives. 

 

On 1 January 2015 Tim Livett will 

start in the role of Chief Financial 

Officer, as successor to Simon 

Jeffreys, Chief Operating Officer, who 

left the Trust after five years at the 

end of June. Clare Matterson took on 

the new role of Director of Strategy 

and Simon Chaplin was appointed as 

Director of Culture and Society. Ted 

Smith has been appointed as Director 

of People and Development and will 

start at the Trust in the new year. 

  

The Nominations Committee 

The Trust uses a mixture of 

independent external search 

consultancies and open advertising in 

its searches for new Governors and 

Executive Board members, based on 

an analysis in each case of the most 

effective way to make a particular 

appointment. The Nominations 

Committee evaluates the balance of 

skills, experience, independence and 

knowledge, and, in the light of this 

evaluation, prepares a description of 

the role and capabilities required for a 

particular appointment. The 

Nominations Committee conducts 

formal interviews with the short- 

listed candidates and makes 

recommendations to the Board of 

Governors or makes the appointment 

subject to specific delegated authority. 

The appointments are made on merit 

and in line with the Trust’s policy on 

diversity. 

 

The Trust undertakes a comprehensive 

induction programme for all new 

Governors and Executive Board 

members, which includes a detailed 
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induction pack containing all the key 

background materials, and meetings 

with members of the Executive Board 

and senior management. In addition, 

training is available to all Governors 

as required. 

 

Statement of Trustee’s 
responsibilities 
The Trustee is responsible for 

preparing the Trustee’s Annual Report 

and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and 

United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

The law applicable to charities in 

England and Wales requires the 

Trustee to prepare financial statements 

for each financial year which give a 

true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Trust and the Group and 

of the incoming resources and 

application of resources of the Trust 

and the Group for that period.  

 

In preparing these financial 

statements, the Trustee is required to: 

 

 select suitable accounting policies 

and then apply them consistently; 

 

 observe the methods and 

principles in the Charities SORP; 

 

 make judgements and estimates 

that are reasonable and prudent; 

 

 state whether applicable 

accounting standards have been 

followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained 

in the financial statements; and 

 

 prepare the financial statements on 

the going concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the 

Trust will continue in business. 

 

The Trustee is responsible for keeping 

proper accounting records that 

disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the 

Trust and enable them to ensure that 

the financial statements comply with 

the Charities Act 2011 and the Charity 

(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 

2008. It is also responsible for 

safeguarding the assets and the Group 

and hence for taking reasonable steps 

for the prevention and detection of 

fraud and other irregularities.  

  

The Trustee has reviewed and 

considered the work and the 

recommendations of the Audit 

Committee as detailed in the Audit 

Committee Report on page 37 and 

considers that the Annual Report and 

Financial Statements, taken as a 

whole, are fair, balanced and 

understandable and provide the 

information necessary to assess the 

Trust’s performance and strategy. 

 

Public Benefit Statement 
The Trustee confirms that it has 

referred to the guidance contained in 

the Charity Commission’s general 

guidance on public benefit when 

reviewing the Trust’s aims and 

objectives and in planning future 

activities and setting the grant-making 

policy for the year. 

 
Statement of disclosure of 
information to auditors 
So far as the Trustee is aware, there is 

no relevant audit information of which 

the Trust’s auditors are unaware. The 

Trustee has taken all the steps that it 

believes it ought to have taken as a 

Trustee in order to make itself aware 

of any relevant audit information and 

to establish that the Trust’s auditors 

are aware of that information. 

 

Committees of the Board of 
Governors 
The Board of Governors is assisted in 

its duties by a number of committees 

that report directly to it, on which at 

least one Governor is a member: 

 

 Strategic Awards Committee: for 

funding decisions on proposals or 

initiatives that fall outside of 

established review, decision-

making or funding mechanisms 

and delegations, and that require 

strategic, scientific or academic 

appraisal; 

 Investment Committee: for matters 

relating to the Trust’s investments; 

 Remuneration Committee: for 

remuneration matters;  

 

 Nominations Committee: for 

identifying potential candidates to 

fill Board and committee 

vacancies; and 

 Audit Committee: for matters of 

internal control, compliance with 

financial reporting requirements 

and liaison with and evaluation of 

the internal and external auditors. 

 

Details of the attendance by 

committee members are shown in 

Table 1 on page 28. 

 

In its grant-funding and direct 

charitable activities, the Board of 

Governors is also assisted by a 

number of decision-making or 

advisory committees, on which some 

of the Governors also sit or attend as 

observer. The committees assess, 

review and decide which grant 

applications to fund and also advise 

on policy issues in various fields.
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Table 1 
Board and Committee attendance 

Board Strategic Awards Committee Investment Committee 

Board of Governors 

8/8  Sir William Castell 

1/1  Professor Tobias Bonhoeffer
1
 

7/8  Mr Alan Brown 

6/8  Mr Damon Buffini  

8/8  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

8/8  Professor Michael Ferguson 

1/1  Professor Bryan Grenfell
1
 

8/8  Professor Richard Hynes 

8/8  Professor Dame Anne Johnson 

8/8  Baroness Manningham-Buller 

5/8  Professor Peter Rigby
2
  

4/4  Professor Peter Smith
1 

Executive Board  

10/10  Dr Jeremy Farrar 

7/100  Dr Ted Bianco 

7/90    Mr John Cooper
1 

6/700  Mr Simon Jeffreys
1 

1/100  Dr David Lynn
3
 

10/10  Ms Clare Matterson 

10/10  Dr Kevin Moses 

9/100  Ms Nicola Perrin
4
 

10/10  Mr Danny Truell 

10/10  Ms Susan Wallcraft 

3/3  Sir William Castell 

0/0  Professor Tobias Bonhoeffer
1
 

3/3  Mr Alan Brown 

3/3  Mr Damon Buffini 

3/3  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

3/3  Dr Jeremy Farrar 

3/3  Professor Michael Ferguson 

0/0  Professor Bryan Grenfell
1
 

2/3  Professor Richard Hynes 

3/3  Professor Dame Anne Johnson 

1/2  Baroness Manningham-Buller 

1/3  Professor Peter Rigby
2
 

2/3  Professor Peter Smith
1
 

2/3  Dr Ted Bianco 

2/3  Mr Simon Jeffreys
1
 

2/3  Ms Clare Matterson 

3/3  Dr Kevin Moses 

 

 

5/6  Sir William Castell 

6/6  Mr Alan Brown 

6/6  Mr Damon Buffini 

5/6  Mr Tim Church 

6/6  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

6/6  Mr Peter Davies 

5/6  Dr Jeremy Farrar 

6/6  Ms Sarah Fromson 

5/5  Mr Simon Jeffreys
1
 

6/6  Mr Naguib Kheraj 

5/6  Mr David Mayhew 

6/6  Mr Nicholas Moakes 

5/6  Mr Peter Pereira Gray 

6/6  Mr Danny Truell 

 

Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nominations Committee 

3/3  Mr Alan Brown 

3/3  Mr Tim Clark 

2/2  Professor Dame Anne Johnson 

3/3  Mr Philip Johnson 

3/3  Sir William Castell 

3/3  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

0/0  Professor Richard Hynes
5
 

3/3  Baroness Manningham-Buller 

5/7  Sir William Castell 

7/7  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

7/7  Professor Richard Hynes 

5/7  Baroness Manningham-Buller 

 

1 In office for part of 2014, refer to page 90. 

2 On leave of absence from April to September 2014. 

3 On leave of absence from December 2013 to November 2014. 

4 Attended in place of Dr David Lynn. 

5 No meetings were held during the year regarding the remuneration of the Chairman or Deputy Chairman. 
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Principles of governance 
The UK Corporate Governance Code 

(“Corporate Code”) contains 

principles of good governance and a 

code of best practice for companies 

whose shares are listed on the London 

Stock Exchange. This code was 

revised in September 2014 but, as this 

revised code applies to companies 

with accounting periods beginning on 

or after 1 October 2014, references are 

to the Corporate Code published in 

September 2012. The “Good 

Governance” code (“Voluntary Sector 

Code”), revised in October 2010, 

contains principles of good 

governance for the voluntary and 

community sector and has been 

endorsed by the Charity Commission 

as a framework for registered 

charities. 

 

While there is no statutory or other 

requirement for the Trust to comply 

with either Code, the Board of 

Governors has conducted a review of 

compliance during 2013/14 with the 

Corporate Code and the Voluntary 

Sector Code and has concluded that 

the Trust complied during the year 

with the main provisions of the Codes 

relevant to it. 

 

Performance 
Performance reviews of the Board of 

Governors, the Executive Board and 

the Audit, Investment, Nominations 

and Remuneration Committees were 

conducted during the year.  

 

Policies and Procedures 
The Trust has a number of policies 

and procedures that address ethics and 

integrity. The Governors and all 

employees are expected to conduct 

themselves with integrity, impartiality 

and honesty at all times, and maintain 

high standards of propriety and 

professionalism. This includes 

avoiding situations where they could 

be open to suspicion of dishonesty, 

and not putting themselves in a 

position of conflict between their 

official duty and private interest. 

 

Specifically this covers: 

 

 Fraud and corruption: the Trust 

adopts a zero tolerance policy to 

fraud and corruption. 

 

 Whistleblowing: the Trust’s 

whistleblowing policy provides a 

mechanism by which employees 

can voice their concerns in a 

responsible and effective manner. 

 

 Gifts and hospitality: the Trust 

requires employees to consider the 

acceptance of gifts, benefits and 

hospitality and to decline any 

which may create conflicts of 

interest. 

 

 Conflicts of interest: the Trust’s 

conflicts of interest policy sets out 

how the Trust expects individuals 

to manage any actual or potential 

conflict of interest. 

 

Internal control 
While no system of internal control 

can provide absolute assurance against 

material misstatement or loss, the 

Trust’s systems are designed to 

provide the Board of Governors with 

reasonable assurance that there are 

proper procedures in place and that 

the procedures are operating 

effectively. The Executive Board 

reviews key internal operational and 

financial controls annually and 

confirms the operating effectiveness 

of those controls to the Board of 

Governors, which in turn also reviews 

key controls. 

 

The key elements of the system of 

internal control are:  

 

 Delegation: there is a clear 

organisational structure, with 

documented lines of authority and 

responsibility for control and 

documented procedures for 

reporting decisions, actions and 

issues; 

 

 Reporting: the Board of Governors 

approves and reviews annual 

budgets and expenditure targets 

and monitors actual and forecast 

budgets and investment 

performance and risk reports on a 

regular basis; 

 

 Risk management: a risk 

management policy is in place 

which states the Trust’s approach 

to risk and documents the process 

of internal control. The Trust 

maintains a grants assurance 

framework to monitor the 

appropriate use of funds;  

 

 Internal audit: an outsourced 

internal audit function reviews 

controls and the risk management 

process within the Trust; and  

 

 Review: the Audit Committee, 

which comprises at least one 

Governor and two external 

members, oversees the outcomes 

of external and internal audits, 

reviews the Trust’s processes of 

internal control and risk 

management, considers its 

compliance with relevant statutory 

and finance regulations, and 

advises the Board of Governors of 

any relevant matters.
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Conflicts of interest 
The Trust has a policy on conflicts of 

interest, which applies to Governors, 

employees and members of the 

Trust’s corporate and decision-making 

committees. 

 

When a Governor has a material 

interest in any grant, investment or 

other matter being considered by the 

Trust, that Governor does not 

participate in the Trust’s decision on 

that grant or other matter.  

 

Governors who have paid 

appointments with institutions that are 

in receipt of grants from the Trust are 

detailed in note 8 to the Financial 

Statements. 

 

Professor Dame Kay Davies, who is a 

Governor, is a consultant of Summit 

Corporation plc, in which the Trust 

has a Programme Related Investment. 

 

Risk management 
The Trust’s risk management policy 

sets out the Trust’s risk management 

objectives and principles and attitude 

to risk. This policy summarises the 

responsibilities of key roles for risk 

management, including the role of the 

Board of Governors, the Executive 

Board and the Audit Committee.  

 

The Corporate Risk Register contains 

the key corporate risks owned and 

managed by the Executive Board and 

the Board of Governors. It is updated 

and reviewed on a regular basis. The 

Corporate Risk Register is prepared in 

line with the ISO Risk Management 

Standard - 31000. It includes: 

 

 the Trust’s Corporate Risk Matrix, 

against which the risks are scored; 

and 

 the Trust’s Risk Profile, a 

summary of the risks before and 

after treatment. 

 

For each of the risks included, the 

Corporate Risk Register gives: 

 

 a description of the risk, including 

the Strategic Plan activity it 

impacts upon;  

 the owner of the risk, as 

designated by the Executive 

Board; 

 the controls currently in place to 

manage the risk; 

 the current risk assessment score; 

 any further actions proposed; 

 the owner of each proposed action; 

and  

 the target risk after taking account 

of further actions. 

 

The current risk ranking estimates the 

level of risk that is currently faced 

taking into account the effectiveness 

of preventative and mitigating actions. 

The target risk ranking estimates the 

level of risk that will be faced once all 

planned actions are completed. The 

target risk ranking does not estimate 

the desired level of risk – just the level 

of risk that will be faced once the 

planned actions are completed. The 

target risk ranking is often used to 

determine whether sufficient actions 

are being implemented for significant 

risks.  

 

The risk categories are:  

 

 governance and leadership e.g. 

difficulties recruiting key 

individuals with leadership ability 

or relevant skills, inappropriate 

organisational culture or structure, 

conflicts of interest;  

 investment and financial e.g. 

investment markets and 

management, accuracy and 

timeliness of financial 

information, adequacy of reserves 

and cash flow, diversity of income 

sources; 

 operational e.g. service quality and 

development, contract pricing, 

employment issues, health and 

safety issues, fraud and 

misappropriation;  

 

 external e.g. key stakeholder 

concerns and adverse publicity, 

government policy; and 

 compliance with law and 

regulation. 

 

The Risk Committee, which is a 

committee of the Executive Board, 

meets quarterly and: 

 

 reviews the quality of the Trust’s 

risk management and reporting; 

 carries out effective monitoring on 

a continuous basis of the Trust’s 

system for risk management and 

internal control; 

 reviews the Trust’s internal 

financial controls, including the 

fraud and corruption policy and 

whistleblowing policy; 

 reviews all insurance 

arrangements; and 

 reviews all business continuity 

arrangements. 

 

The Risk Committee formally reports 

to the Audit Committee once a year 

and the minutes of the Risk 

Committee meetings are reviewed by 

the Audit Committee. 
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The specific risks which the Board of Governors considers as the most serious are: 

 Nature of risk Management and oversight of risk 

Investment 

risks 

Failure to support the Trust’s ability to 

maintain the real level of charity spend in 

the future, due to one or more of; 

catastrophic loss of one or more assets 

within the portfolio, inadequate liquidity, 

and lack of protection against the impact 

of inflation. 

The Investment Executive manages this risk by; global 

diversification across assets and asset classes, to limit the 

potential for catastrophic loss within the portfolio; 

diversification of cash flow sources and regular review of 

forecast cash flows to manage the portfolio’s liquidity 

profile; and regular consideration of inflation protection 

within the portfolio and a focus on equities and property. 

The separate risks associated with the management of 

directly-owned, property-backed operational businesses 

are being managed by the development and appropriate 

incentivisation of management teams within these 

business and by evolving governance and oversight by 

the Investment division. Strategic review is provided by 

the Investment Committee and oversight is provided by 

the Executive Board and the Board of Governors.  

Leadership 

change 

The Trust is evolving its divisional 

structure and the membership of its 

Executive Board. It is also beginning the 

search for a new Chairman, as the final 

term of Sir William Castell comes to an 

end in April 2016. This could lead to 

destabilisation of the Trust’s culture and 

impact its ability to meet its strategic 

objectives. 

The Director and Executive Board are committed to 

developing the Executive Leadership team and the 

Trust’s structure. Recruitment of two senior executives is 

actively underway and has also begun for a new 

Chairman. 

UK policy and 

research 

environment 

There is a risk that UK research funding 

and regulatory environment does not 

remain scientifically or financially 

attractive. The UK government may react 

to a difficult economic environment by 

reducing funding to the scientific 

community. There is a risk that EU 

legislation impacts the ability of UK-

based researchers to undertake their work. 

Management continues to monitor the environment and 

has active engagement with UK government departments 

and opposition parties on science funding and the 

regulatory framework. The Trust has an on-going 

dialogue with other relevant charities and universities on 

these issues. The Executive Board contributes actively to 

the UK Comprehensive Spending Reviews and the EU 

Directive consultations. It is also working on joint 

approaches and policies covering research integrity.  

International 

initiatives 

Failure to achieve the strategic research 

capacity building aims of the initiatives. 

Risks potentially arise from the local 

political, economic or physical 

environment; from failure of governance 

or management; and from operational 

issues. 

Management continues to focus on governance and 

leadership development at the initiatives. Regular internal 

audits are also held, to highlight areas for improvement. 

 

UK Centres 

and initiatives 

Failure to achieve strategic goals for each 

entity. Risks potentially arise from lack of 

leadership, operational issues and/or 

conflicts of interest. 

Trust management maintains an active presence on the 

governing council or board of each initiative and 

undertakes regular internal audits of operational centres 

and initiatives. 

Health and 

safety and 

extreme events 

Failure to ensure safety at all properties 

owned by the Trust, either in an 

operational capacity or within the Trust’s 

investment portfolio could lead to injuries 

or death of staff, public or residents. 

The Trust has a BS OHSAS 18001 certified health and 

safety management system. As part of this it actively 

manages the health and safety activities of the managing 

agents for directly held properties in the investment 

portfolio and the activities within its directly held 

property-related operational business.  

 

The Trust is risk averse with respect to liquidity risk, risk of non-compliance with law, regulation and corporate operations 

risk (including health and safety); risk receptive with respect to investment portfolio risk and external risk; and is tolerant of 

risk with respect to externally and internally funded charitable activity. 



 

32 | Wellcome Trust Annual Report 2014 

Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Remuneration Report 

 

The Board of Governors appoints the 

Remuneration Committee, which is 

chaired by Sir William Castell. The 

members are all Governors. 

 

Responsibilities of the Remuneration 

Committee:  

 

 Approving the reward strategy and 

policies for the remuneration of 

staff, including incentive and 

benefit plans.  

 

 Determining individual 

remuneration packages and terms 

and conditions of employment for 

the members of the Executive 

Board and other senior staff.  

 

 Exercising any powers of, and 

approving any decisions required 

by, the Trust in respect of the 

Wellcome Trust Pension Plan and 

the Genome Research Limited 

Pension Plan.  

 

 Ensuring remuneration practices 

and policies facilitate the 

employment and retention of 

talented people. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1 

Elements of remuneration 
 

Element Principle 

Base salary Salaries are reviewed annually taking account of 

responsibilities and personal performance. They are 

benchmarked against the market periodically using 

appropriate consultants.  

Benefits A competitive benefits package is available to all 

employees including private medical insurance, 

medical assessments, permanent disability insurance 

and life insurance.  

Bonuses The investment team managing the portfolio have a 

bonus element included in their remuneration. Other 

bonuses/recognition awards are awarded only 

exceptional cases.   

Long-term incentive 

plan 

In order to ensure remuneration of the Investment 

Division staff remains competitive and to encourage a 

long-term view, certain employees participate in a 

long-term incentive scheme. Awards to employees are 

made annually based on investment returns and 

individual performance over a measurement period, 

which generally spans three years. Plans are in place 

covering measurement periods 2009 to 2012, 2010 to 

2013, 2011 to 2014, 2012 to 2015 and 2013 to 2016. 

A portion of each award is deferred for a minimum of 

two years following the end of the measurement 

period and the deferred amount is adjusted in line 

with the performance of the fund. 

Pension The Group sponsors two approved funded defined 

benefit schemes, the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan 

and the Genome Research Limited Pension Plan. 

Pensions payable are related to length of service, 

salary and level of personal contribution. 

Governors’ 

remuneration 

The Governors are the directors of The Wellcome 

Trust Limited, the Trustee of the Wellcome Trust. In 

accordance with the Will of Sir Henry Wellcome, 

they are entitled to receive remuneration from the 

Trustee.  

Under the Constitution of the Trust, the Governors are 

entitled to receive remuneration from the Trustee at 

the rate of £57,100 per annum from 1 April 2000, 

adjusted with effect from 1 April each year by an 

amount equal to the percentage increase 

recommended by the Review Body on Senior Salaries 

in respect of the salary pay bands of the Senior Civil 

Service. The recommended percentage increase for 

the 12 months beginning 1 April 2014 was 0.372% 

(2013: 1.82%). The level of remuneration of the 

current Chair was set by Order of the Charity 

Commission at 2 times the level of a Governor. 

Following approval by the Charity Commission of a 

Scheme in October 2011, the levels of remuneration 

of Chairs and Deputy Chairs appointed subsequent to 

this approval can be set by the Board of Governors to 

up to the levels of 2 times and 1.5 times the level of a 

Governor respectively.  
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The principles of the 
remuneration policy 
The Trust aims to develop and 

maintain remuneration strategies and 

policies in line with the culture and 

objectives of the organisation, in order 

to attract, retain, motivate and 

effectively reward our people, 

recognising their contribution to the 

Trust’s overall mission. Key 

principles are that remuneration is: 

 

Competitive 

Salaries are bench-marked 

periodically using external market 

data. 

 

Performance linked 

Exceptional personal performance, 

giving due consideration to each role, 

is taken account of in the annual 

salary review. 

 

Simple and transparent 

The remuneration structure is clear 

and openly communicated to 

employees. This supports our aim of 

engendering fairness and teamwork 

across the organisation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In addition to the above, the Chairman 

received estimated benefits-in-kind 

relating to travel costs of £31,322 

(2013: £34,527). No other benefits or 

pension contributions are paid in 

respect of the other Governors. 

During the year, expenses in respect 

of travel, subsistence, telephone and 

other expenses in the course of their 

duties were incurred by the Governors 

amounting to £145,108 (2013: 

£138,314), of which £94,897 (2013: 

£92,691) was paid directly by the 

Trust and £50,211 (2013: £45,623) 

was paid by the Governors and  

directly reimbursed to them. The 

Governors were included in the 

Directors’ and Officers’ liability  

insurance in the year to 30 September 

2014. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* In office for part of 2014 

 
 

Table 2 

Governors’ Remuneration 

Year to 30 September 

  2014 2013 

  £ £ 

Sir William Castell (Chairman)      140,047        138,539  

Professor Dame Kay Davies (Deputy Chair)      105,036           78,006  

Professor Peter Rigby*        40,790        103,904  

Mr Alan Brown        70,024           69,270  

Professor Tobias Bonhoeffer*           5,846                   -    

Mr Damon Buffini        70,024           69,270  

Professor Michael Ferguson        70,024           69,270  

Professor Bryan Grenfell*           5,846                   -    

Professor Richard Hynes         70,024           69,270  

Professor Dame Anne Johnson        70,024           69,270  

Baroness Manningham-Buller        70,024           69,270  

Professor Peter Smith*        46,639           69,270  

      

Total remuneration      764,348        805,339  

  



 

34 | Wellcome Trust Annual Report 2014 

Trustee’s Report (continued) 
Social Responsibility 

 

Employment and diversity 
As a global charitable foundation that 

works with a variety of people across 

different countries and cultures, we 

are committed to inclusion and 

equality. Our staff are employed 

solely on their merits and we help 

them to maximise their achievements 

through personal development. It is 

important to us all to create a culture 

that is open and respects others, where 

differences are valued and celebrated. 

 

Diversity is monitored regularly and a 

detailed report is reviewed each year 

by the Executive Board and Board of 

Governors. At 30 September 2014, 

female representation stood at 25% of 

the Executive Board roles and 27% of 

our Board of Governors. We also take 

a number of actions to promote 

diversity, for example by using 

recruitment media targeted at minority 

groups. Opportunities are also 

provided to those in the early stages of 

their career through apprenticeship, 

intern and graduate development 

programmes. 

 

Scientific progress thrives on diversity 

– of people, ideas and approaches – 

and the Wellcome Trust has a number 

of initiatives that improve the 

opportunity for researchers to access 

our funding based on talent and 

potential irrespective of age, race, 

religion, sexual orientation or gender 

and to ensure that there are no barriers 

to the success of any minority groups. 

As such, we continue to monitor the 

demographics of the research 

community in order to ensure that 

success amongst award applicants is 

based on appropriate and relevant 

criteria. 

 

We provide excellent facilities in our 

modern and well-equipped offices, 

and we regularly review our 

employment policies and practices to 

ensure that we are well placed to 

deliver our objectives and to enhance 

the overall environment for our 

people. We are committed to 

employee wellbeing, offering a high-

quality staff restaurant, on-site gym 

and in-house occupational health 

service, alongside an attractive benefit 

package for all our employees.  

 

We continue to be inspired by the 

curiosity of Henry Wellcome and his 

voracious appetite to expand his own 

knowledge and expertise. Today we 

remain true to his spirit, fostering a 

development culture where people are 

empowered to develop themselves, 

where curiosity and creativity are 

encouraged and difference is valued. 

 

We are currently implementing a set 

of principles which will underpin the 

way in which individuals work 

together to achieve our goals and 

overall vision. This is being supported 

by an active development agenda. 

Amongst the initiatives which help 

towards achieving this, there are many 

project and secondment opportunities 

alongside support for participation in 

a wide range of volunteering 

activities.  

 

Health and safety 
The Trust underwent a health and 

safety audit conducted by the British 

Safety Council in November 2013 and 

retained the 5 star (excellent) rating 

and British Standard 18001 

accreditation. 

 

The Trust continues to progress with 

objectives aimed at achieving 

continual improvement: 

 

 establish a system for the 

collection of reliable work-related 

ill health and sickness absence 

data in order to promote relevant 

health and wellbeing programmes, 

and to determine the relevant 

prevention strategies; 

 

 promote ownership of health and 

safety amongst key post holders 

by including specific 

responsibility within job 

descriptions and the performance 

development process and by 

providing appropriate training and 

instruction; and 

 

 undertake horizon scanning 

systematically to anticipate, 

identify and prepare for new or 

changing risks to our activities 

(e.g. from changing legislation or 

new technologies) and to consider 

the implications for our vision of 

maintaining a safe, secure and 

healthy environment. 

 

As the Wellcome Trust Genome 

Campus continues to grow in size, the 

Campus Health and Safety Service 

(CHSS) is currently reviewing its 

strategy to support its business 

partners and ensure that the different 

legal entities on site manage their 

health and safety risks appropriately 

and proportionately.  

 

Environment 
In its charitable operations, the Trust 

continues to work towards its overall 

environmental vision: 

 

“The Trust supports research of the 

highest quality with the aim of 

improving human and animal health.  

Such research increasingly 

demonstrates that health is 

inextricably linked to the wider 

environment in which we live. 

Therefore, the Trust aims to manage 

and reduce its impact on the 

environment, through leading by 

example, engaging with and involving 

our people, and fostering a culture of 

continual improvement.” 

 

There has been good progress over the 

past year including: 

 

 the Trust was awarded the 

Camden Climate Change Alliance 

3rd mark of achievement ‘Carbon 

Champion’ 

 ISO 14001 accreditation was 

maintained 

 exceeding our recycling target by 

6% which now stands at 81% 

 greenhouse gas emissions are 5% 

below baseline. 
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All other targets are on course to be 

achieved during the next financial 

year, specifically a 5% reduction of 

water usage which we hope will be 

achieved by reinstating an artesian 

well located under 183 Euston Road. 

We also aim to reduce our waste 

generation by investing in an 

innovative food waste monitoring tool 

and on-site bio-digester. 

 

In November 2013, the Trust, in 

conjunction with the Camden Climate 

Change Alliance, signed a pledge to 

support and improve local air quality.  

 

The Wellcome Trust Genome Campus 

has maintained its ISO 14001 

accredited status and continues to 

improve its targets for green transport.  

 
Community activity 
The Wellcome Trust considers it right 

both to support other local 

organisations helping to benefit the 

area in which it does business and to 

foster and maintain positive working 

relationships with others operating 

locally. To help achieve this, the Trust 

is committed to activity within the 

immediate area around its 

headquarters. This includes a 

community support fund to aid local 

organisations and projects, local 

schools initiatives, Trust staff 

volunteering in the local community, 

Wellcome Collection local 

stakeholder engagement, and 

participation in the annual Open 

House London event.  

 

At the Wellcome Trust Genome 

Campus, teachers, students and 

members of the community can tour 

the Campus free of charge and 

experience campus science through a 

number of formats. In the past year, 

these direct community activities 

reached nearly 3,000 individuals, and 

many more were inspired through 

indirect events such as our 

engagement website yourgenome.org, 

and through scientists collaborating 

with artists and writers for events 

broadcast on Radio 4 and shown at art 

exhibitions in the UK and Europe. 

The campus Conference Centre is 

currently undergoing a major 

renovation, which will create a 

permanent space for scientific exhibits 

and installations, which we will use as 

a hub to broaden the audience for our 

community engagement. The 

adjoining parkland and Trust-funded 

wetland sites are also open to the 

general public, and the scientific 

biodiversity elements of these sites 

will be incorporated into future 

engagement events. 
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The Trust’s auditors, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have 

indicated their willingness to continue 

in office. The Board of Governors 

accepted the recommendation of the 

Audit Committee and the members of 

the Trustee passed a resolution 

confirming their re-appointment on 16 

December 2014. 

 

The Annual Report was approved by 

The Wellcome Trust Limited, as 

Trustee, on 16 December 2014 and 

signed on its behalf by 

 

 

Sir William Castell 

Chairman 

16 December 2014 
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In my capacity as Chairman of the 

Audit Committee, I am pleased to 

present the Audit Committee report 

for the year ended 30 September 

2014. Our work during the year was 

carried out as laid out in our terms of 

reference. In addition to the formal 

Audit Committee meetings, we met 

informally during the year to enhance 

our understanding of the Trust. Topics 

covered included the funding strategy, 

grants management and cyber 

security. We also had a strategic 

meeting with the Director to discuss 

his initial views on the Trust. 

 

The Audit Committee is responsible 

for the review and oversight of 

matters of internal control, 

compliance with financial reporting 

requirements and liaison with, and 

evaluation of, the internal and external 

auditors. The membership of the 

Audit Committee is set out on page 90 

and attendance at meetings is set out 

on page 28. 

 

Although not members of the 

Committee, the Chief Operating 

Officer, the General Counsel, the 

Head of Financial Accounting, the 

Head of Risk Management and 

Performance and the lead audit 

partners from our external and internal 

auditors attend each meeting. The 

external and internal auditors are not 

present when their respective firm's 

performance and/or remuneration is 

discussed. 

 

The Board of Governors considers 

that the Committee’s members have 

broad commercial and scientific 

knowledge and extensive business 

leadership experience, having held 

between them various roles in 

investments, legal, financial 

management, treasury and medical 

research. The Board has determined 

that Alan Brown and Philip Johnson 

have recent and relevant financial 

experience as required by the UK 

Corporate Governance Code. 

 

After each Committee meeting, the 

Chairman of the Committee reports to 

the Board on the main issues that the 

Committee discussed. 

 
External audit 
Appointment  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were 

appointed as auditors in 1998. 

 

At the December meeting each year, 

the Committee puts forward 

recommendation for the appointment 

or re-appointment of the external 

auditors. The external auditors are 

required to rotate the lead partner 

every five years. The lead partner 

currently responsible for the Trust’s 

audit is completing her fourth year. As 

agreed at the December 2013 Audit 

Committee meeting, the audit will be 

put out for tender with an appointment 

effective for the financial year 

commencing 1 October 2015. This 

process will commence early in 2015. 

 

Assessment of effectiveness and 

performance 

The last review was completed at the 

April 2014 meeting and the views of 

key stakeholders were taken into 

account. Certain areas for 

improvements in future years were 

noted and agreed.  

 

Scope of work 

At the April meeting each year, the 

Committee discusses with the auditors 

the scope of their audits and the 

proposed audit fee and makes 

recommendations to the Board before 

the auditors commence. There was no 

significant change to the scope of the 

2014 audit as agreed at the April 2014 

meeting. 

 

At both the September and December 

meetings each year, it reviews the 

results of the audit work and considers 

the formal reports of the auditors and 

reports the results of those reviews to 

the Board.  

 

Independence  

The Audit Committee seeks to ensure 

the continued independence and 

objectivity of the Trust’s external 

auditors. 

In order to meet regulatory or business 

requirements, the external auditors 

may be employed for certain non-

audit services. To safeguard the 

independence and objectivity of the 

external auditors, the Committee has 

determined policies, based on the 

Financial Reporting Council guidance, 

as to the approval process related to 

non-audit services. At the December 

meeting each year, the Committee 

reviews the auditors’ report about 

independence of its staff, its policies 

for maintaining staff independence 

and monitoring compliance with 

relevant requirements and its 

safeguards in relation to the provision 

of non-audit services. 

 

Financial reporting 

At the December meeting each year, 

the Committee reviews the Trust and 

Consolidated Annual Report and 

Financial Statements and related 

announcements for statutory and 

regulatory compliance. It reviews any 

adjusted and unadjusted items 

identified by the external auditors 

during the course of their audit and 

satisfies itself that any adjustments are 

made as appropriate. The Committee 

is satisfied that all such items have 

been appropriately addressed this 

year. The Committee also reviews the 

rigour of the analysis supporting the 

use of the going concern assumption 

including the key principles of the 

Reserves and Expenditure policies as 

detailed in the Financial Review on 

page 5. It also reviews the integrity of 

the disclosures in the Financial 

Statements and it considers the 

minutes of the Valuation Group 

meetings. It reports its views to the 

Board to assist in its approval of such 

documents.  
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Audit Committee Report (continued) 

 

The main areas of risk considered at 

the December 2014 meeting were the 

valuation of investments in private 

equity, real estate, hedge funds and 

derivatives and the incorporation of 

Farmcare Trading Limited and the iQ 

group in to the consolidated financial 

statements. These involve a level of 

complexity and judgement and the 

results of the work of the Valuation 

Group were considered in detail 

alongside the work of the external 

auditors. The key issues discussed in 

2014 were the acquisition of iQ and 

Farmcare and the appropriate 

discounts to be applied for 

shareholdings that include a lock-up 

period. Consideration was also given 

to the decision to sell a number of 

venture capital funds in a large 

secondary sales programme and to 

write off a number of old, small VC 

and PE funds believed to have no 

residual value as of September 2014. 

The Committee agreed with the 

Valuation Group’s determination of 

fair values.  

 

The Committee reviewed the 

applicability of the going concern 

assumption taking into account the 

assumptions and the methodology 

used to calculate the affordability of 

the charitable expenditure in the three 

year Financial Plan and the associated 

stress testing. 

 

On the basis of the work done, the 

Audit Committee recommended to the 

Board of Governors that the Annual 

Report taken as a whole is fair, 

balanced and understandable. In 

justifying this statement, the Audit 

Committee has considered the robust 

process in place which includes the 

following: 

 

 Clear guidance is given to all 

contributors; 

 Revisions to regulatory 

requirements are monitored on an 

ongoing basis and are discussed at 

the Audit Committee meetings 

during the year; 

 Finance staff meet with the 

auditors throughout the year to 

discuss developments within the 

business and any impact on the 

financial reporting; and 

 A thorough process of review, 

evaluation and verification is 

undertaken by senior management 

and finance staff. 

 

The Committee also reviewed any 

other published information 

containing financial information prior 

to its release.  

 

Internal audit  
Appointment 

Deloitte were appointed as Internal 

Auditors in 2005. Their current 

Engagement Letter covers the 

financial years from October 2012 to 

the end of September 2015.  

 

Scope of work 

At each meeting, the Committee 

reviews internal audit activities, 

including plans and performance, and 

the relationship with the external 

auditors. It also reviews the report 

from the internal auditors on the steps 

taken by management to follow up the 

outstanding actions resulting from the 

audit work. It assesses the 

effectiveness of the internal audit 

function regularly. The 2014 internal 

audit plan covered a range of areas 

across the Trust based on risk and key 

functions including the Investment 

Controls Assurance framework, an 

update review of the Investment 

Custodian, Treasury and Cash, Grants 

Assurance, some Wellcome Trust UK 

Centres and Strategic Awards and two 

of the Major Overseas Programmes. 

 

Assessment of effectiveness and 

performance 

The last review was completed at the 

September 2014 meeting and the 

views of key stakeholders were taken 

in to account. Certain areas for 

improvements in future years were 

noted and agreed.  

 

 
 

Risk management 

At each meeting the Committee 

monitors and reviews risk 

management processes and the 

standards of risk management and 

internal control, including the 

processes and procedures for ensuring 

that material business risks are 

properly identified and managed. The 

Committee has monitored the areas 

listed on page 30, which are reviewed 

and considered by the Risk 

Committee.  

 

Effectiveness 
The performance of the Committee is 

reviewed on a regular basis with input 

from the Committee members, key 

executives and the internal and 

external auditors. The results of the 

last review in November 2014 showed 

that the Committee continues to be 

effective in terms of both behaviours 

and processes.  

 

Alan Brown 

Chairman of the Audit Committee 

16 December 2014 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Report on the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion, Wellcome Trust’s financial statements (the “financial statements”): 

 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the Trust’s affairs as at 30 September 2014, and of the Group’s 

and the Trust’s incoming resources and application of resources and the Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011 and Regulation 15 of The Charities 

(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. 

 

What we have audited 

Wellcome Trust’s financial statements comprise: 

 

 the Consolidated and the Trust Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2014; 

 the Consolidated and the Trust Statement of Financial Activities; 

 the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation comprises applicable law and United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

 

 

 

  

 Overall Group materiality: £102 million which represents 0.5% of total assets.  

 

 

 

 

 We split our audit of the group into three components: Farmcare; iQ; and the 

previously existing operations of the Group before the inclusion of Farmcare and 

iQ. 

 Our audit was focused on the largest of these components, the previously 

existing group, as this makes up 96% of the total assets of the group. 

 We instructed other auditors to carry out a full scope audit over iQ and we 

performed specific procedures over Farmcare. 

 

 Valuation of private equity funds, property funds, hedge funds, unquoted direct 

investments, investment properties and derivatives.  

 Valuation of assets and liabilities in relation to the Farmcare Trading Limited 

and iQ Group acquisitions.  

 Unrealised gains and losses on funds, unquoted investments, investment 

properties and derivatives.  

 

 

 

  

Materiality 

Audit Scope 

Areas of focus 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)  
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Report on the financial statements (continued) 
The scope of our audit and our areas of focus 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). 

 

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 

In particular, we looked at where management has made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant 

accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all 

of our audits, we also address the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was 

evidence of bias by the Trustee that may represent a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

 

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and 

effort, are identified as “areas of focus” in the table below together with an explanation of how we tailored our audit to 

address these specific areas. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

 

Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus 

Valuation of private equity funds, 

property funds, hedge funds, 

unquoted direct investments, 

investment properties and derivatives 

Refer also to note 1 to the financial 

statements. 

 

These investment assets are required 

to be fair valued in line with FRS 26 

and SSAP 19. We focused on this 

area because arriving at those fair 

values involves complex and 

subjective judgements by the 

Trustee. Such subjective judgements 

are required due largely to the lack of 

publicly available pricing data for 

these asset classes. 

We evaluated the valuation methodology adopted by the Trust and considered 

whether it was in accordance with the accounting policies of the Trust, accounting 

standards and industry practice. We assessed the controls applied by management 

and tested these where we placed reliance on them. We also challenged the key 

assumptions and judgements and tested the key inputs into the valuations. Our 

procedures for each asset class included: 

 

 Private Equity Funds, Property Funds and Hedge Fund investments: We 

confirmed the valuation of investments to statements from the external fund 

managers. In addition, we examined the controls and procedures performed 

during the year, including calls/meetings held with the investment managers to 

monitor the investments and management’s review of the audited financial 

statements. 

 

 Unquoted direct investments: These are held at the valuation determined by 

management through assessing inputs and valuations received from the 

investment managers. We obtained and examined the documents and evidence 

used by management to value these investments and assessed the 

reasonableness of any adjustments made to the value obtained from a third 

party investment manager. 

 

 Investment Properties: We inspected legal documents for additions and 

disposals, confirmed the related cash flows by agreeing them to bank 

statements and checked ownership through the inspection of title deeds. We 

obtained the external valuation reports and held discussions with the external 

valuers. We tested and challenged the inputs and assumptions used in the 

valuations process, for example the yields used. 

 

 Derivatives: We re-priced a sample of derivatives using valuation models or 

external prices for exchange traded derivatives. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)  
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Report on the financial statements (continued) 
Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus 

Valuation of assets and liabilities in 

relation to the Farmcare Trading 

Limited and iQ Group acquisitions 

Refer also to note 23 to the financial 

statements. 

 

During the year the Trust completed 

the acquisitions of Farmcare Trading 

Limited (“Farmcare”) and the 

remaining 50% of iQ Unit Trust and 

iQ (Shareholder GP) Ltd (together 

“iQ”). These entities are being 

consolidated for the first time and the 

assets and liabilities acquired are 

required to be recognised at fair 

value. Determining the fair value of 

the assets and liabilities acquired 

involves subjective judgments and 

hence was an area of focus for us. 

We read the legal documents in connection with these purchases and agreed the 

cash consideration to the bank statement. We assessed the fair value of Farmcare’s 

and iQ’s assets and liabilities and evaluated the associated goodwill. We also 

verified that the terms in the acquisition agreements were appropriately considered 

and reflected within the Group’s financial statements. 

 

The material balances within iQ are investment property and borrowings. As Group 

auditors of the Wellcome Trust, we instructed iQ’s auditors to report to us on the 

financial information of iQ for the period from acquisition, including the fair values 

of the investment properties and the borrowings, as well as the movement in fair 

value from the date of the transaction. 

 

For Farmcare, we tested the material balances. The largest balance is the land and 

buildings held within investment property. Farmcare was acquired on 2 August 

2014. The Trust’s accounting policy for investment properties acquired close to the 

year end is to hold them at the fair value at acquisition as an approximation of the 

fair value at the balance sheet date. Therefore, we obtained and read the pre-

acquisition report prepared by the external property adviser and obtained a further 

confirmation from them that the value was still appropriate for the year end. We 

challenged the key inputs to these valuations, for example by agreeing back to 

market comparables the value per acre applied to the agricultural land and the 

vacant possession value of the freehold residential properties before any discount 

rate is applied. 

 

Unrealised gains/losses on funds, 

unquoted direct investments, 

investment properties and derivatives 

Refer also to note 17 to the financial 

statements. 

 

The unrealised gains and losses on 

investments, which are recognised in 

the Statement of Financial Activities, 

are a particular area of focus as they 

are driven by the valuation of 

investments, which in certain cases 

and most notably around investments 

in private equity funds, property 

funds, hedge funds, unquoted direct 

investments, investment properties 

and derivatives, will rely on 

subjective judgments by 

management. 

 

We tested the reconciliations between the investment systems used by the Group 

and its books and records. As part of our procedures we substantively tested 

subscriptions and redemptions of investments into hedge funds, capital calls and 

distributions in relation to private equity and property funds and transactions in 

derivatives to contract notes/trade certificates. This gave us comfort over the cost of 

assets recorded in the system. 

 

Furthermore, in order to gain comfort over the unrealised gains recorded, we tested 

the year-end valuation of investments as described above and checked the 

calculation of unrealised gains recognised during the year. 

 
How we tailored the audit scope 

When determining the scope of our audit we considered the internal organisation of the Group and sought to determine a 

scope of audit work that optimised the coverage of risks, balances and transactions. Due to the purchase of Farmcare and iQ, 

Wellcome Trust consisted of three components for the year end audit, compared to the single component in the previous year. 

 

In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, we considered the significance of these components to the financial 

statements. We also separately considered the overall coverage of our procedures across the Group, as well as the risk 

associated with less significant components. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Report on the financial statements (continued) 
We determined the type of work that needed to be performed for each component by us, as the Group engagement team, or 

component auditors operating under our instruction. Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined 

the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. 

 

The components in the Group vary significantly in size, the largest being the previously existing operations of the Group 

before the inclusion of Farmcare and iQ. In our view this component required the Group engagement team to perform an 

audit of its complete financial information, due to its size and risk characteristics. Here we applied professional judgement to 

determine the extent of testing required over each balance. In addition, we considered the financial control environment at the 

Trust, including around the payment and administration of grants as well as the management of investments to help us to 

tailor our audit to focus on items in the financial statements with a higher risk of being materially misstated. This component 

made up 96% of the total assets of the Group. 

 

For iQ, we instructed a non-PwC component auditor to perform a full scope audit. For Farmcare, specific audit procedures 

were carried out by the Group engagement team over certain balances and transactions, to give appropriate coverage of all 

material balances. This gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. 

 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit is influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. 

These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and 

extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as 

a whole. 

 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 
 

Overall Group materiality £102 million (2013: £86 million) 

How we determined it 0.5% of total assets 

Rationale for benchmark applied We have applied this benchmark, a generally accepted auditing practice, as it is 

deemed the most appropriate for an asset-based organisation. 
 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £2 

million (2013: £500,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative 

reasons. 

 

Going concern 

As noted in the Trustee’s Report, set out on page 6, the Trustee has concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s and 

Trust’s financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis presumes that the Group 

and Trust have adequate resources to remain in operation, and that the Trustee intends them to do so, for at least one year 

from the date the financial statements were signed. As part of our audit we have concluded that the Trustee’s use of the going 

concern basis is appropriate. 

 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the Group’s 

and the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

  



 

Wellcome Trust Annual Report 2014 | 43  

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Other required reporting 

Consistency of other information 

 

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting 

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 

Information in the Annual Report is: 

 

 materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 

 apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group and Trust acquired 

in the course of performing our audit; or  

 otherwise misleading. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Charities Act 2011 reporting  

Under the Charities Act 2011 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion the information given in the Trustee’s Report 

is inconsistent in any material respect with the financial statements. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received 

Under the Charities Act 2011 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 

 sufficient accounting records have not been kept by the parent charity; or 

 the parent charity financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Other matters on which we agreed to report by exception 

 

Corporate Governance Statement 

On page 27 of the Annual Report, the Trustee states that it considers the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced 

and understandable and provides the information necessary for members to assess the Trust’s performance and strategy. On 

page 38 the Audit Committee has set out the significant issues that it considered in relation to the financial statements, and 

how they were addressed. Under the terms of our engagement, we agreed to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 

 the statement given by the Trustee is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of 

performing our audit; or 

 the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters 

communicated by us to the Audit Committee. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
To the Trustee of Wellcome Trust 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
Our responsibilities and those of the directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustee’s Responsibilities set out on page 27, the Trustee is responsible for the 

preparation of the Group and Trust financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group and Trust financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors. 

 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Charity’s Trustee as a body in accordance with 

section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under section 154 of that Act (Regulation 30 of the 

Charities(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008) and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 

assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

What an audit of financial statements involves 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This 

includes an assessment of: 

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trustee; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the Trustee’s judgements against available evidence, forming our 

own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements. 

 

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to 

provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, 

substantive procedures or a combination of both. 

 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies 

with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 

materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any 

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

16 December 2014 

 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is eligible to act as auditors in terms of Section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.  
The maintenance and integrity of the Wellcome Trust website is the responsibility of the Trustee; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 

consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since 

they were initially presented on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 

from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities  
for the year ended 30 September 2014 

 

 

  Note 2014 2013 

    £m £m 

Incoming resources 
   

Investment income 
   

Dividends and interest 2 238.7 225.8 

Rental income 3 60.1 29.1 

Other income 4 10.3 - 

  
309.1 254.9 

Other incoming resources 
   

Grants receivable 5(a) 16.0 16.9 

Other charitable income 5(b) 12.9 9.7 

Total incoming resources   338.0 281.5 

    

Resources expended 
   

Costs of generating funds 
   

  Management fees and other investment costs 6 89.0 58.2 

  Interest payable on bond liability 
 

45.4 39.0 

  Interest payable on variable rate debt 
 

5.0 - 

Charitable activities 7 727.7 772.9 

Governance costs 11 2.7 2.2 

Total resources expended   869.8 872.3 

Net outgoing resources before net gains on investments 
 

(531.8) (590.8) 

Net realised and unrealised gains on investments 17(e) 2,280.2 2,321.3 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes 12(d)(i) (52.7) (19.0) 

Net movement in funds   1,695.7 1,711.5 

Fund at start of year    15,041.2 13,329.7 

Fund at end of year   16,736.9 15,041.2 

 

There are no gains or losses apart from those recognised above. All income is derived from continuing activities. All material 

funds are unrestricted. 

 

There is no material difference between the net outgoing resources before other recognised gains and losses and the net 

movement in funds for the financial year stated above and their historical cost equivalents.  
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at 30 September 2014 

 

 

  Note 2014 2013 

    £m £m 

Tangible fixed assets 15(a) 440.7 411.3 

Intangible fixed assets 16 1.0 - 

Investment assets 
   

Quoted investments 17(a) 9,207.1 7,836.3 

Unquoted investments 17(a) 7,454.9 7,419.6 

Investment properties 17(a) 2,071.2 1,264.8 

Derivative financial instruments 17(b) 186.9 206.8 

Investment cash and certificates of deposit 17(c) 705.4 595.5 

Other investment assets 17(c) 282.8 240.6 

Programme related investments 17(d) - 0.3 

  
19,908.3 17,563.9 

Current assets 
   

Stock 18 14.0 2.4 

Debtors 19 30.3 19.9 

Cash at bank and in hand   53.1 11.7 

  
97.4 34.0 

Creditors falling due within one year 20 (855.0) (1,017.0) 

Net current liabilities   (757.6) (983.0) 

Total assets less current liabilities 
 

19,592.4 16,992.2 

Creditors falling due after one year 20 (2,651.9) (1,804.6) 

Provision for liabilities and charges 21 (33.5) (28.7) 

Minority interest   (0.4) - 

Net assets representing unrestricted funds excluding pension deficit   16,906.6 15,158.9 

Defined benefit pension schemes' deficit 12(d)(ii) (169.7) (117.7) 

Net assets representing unrestricted funds including pension deficit   16,736.9 15,041.2 

 

The financial statements on pages 45 to 89 were approved by The Wellcome Trust Limited, as Trustee, on 16 December 2014 

and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

 

Sir William Castell  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

Chairman   Deputy Chair
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Statement of Financial Activities of the Trust 
for the year ended 30 September 2014 

 

 
 

  Note 2014 2013 

    £m £m 

Incoming resources 
   

Investment income 
   

Dividends and interest 2 371.2 207.5 

Rental income 3 35.8 28.1 

  
407.0 235.6 

Other incoming resources 
   

Grants receivable 5(a) - 0.2 

Other income 5(b) 178.7 142.9 

Total incoming resources   585.7 378.7 

    

Resources expended 
   

Costs of generating funds 
   

  Management fees and other investment costs 6 59.7 54.0 

  Interest payable to group undertakings 
 

6.3 25.5 

  Interest payable on bond liability 
 

30.1 - 

Charitable activities 7 712.2 753.9 

Governance costs 11 2.4 1.9 

Total resources expended   810.7 835.3 

Net outgoing resources before net gains on investments 
 

(225.0) (456.6) 

Net realised and unrealised gains on investments 17(e) 1,967.1 2,183.7 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension scheme 12(d)(i) (28.8) (7.0) 

Net movement in fund   1,713.3 1,720.1 

Fund at start of year    14,959.1 13,239.0 

Fund at end of year   16,672.4 14,959.1 

 

There are no gains or losses apart from those recognised above. All income is derived from continuing activities. 

All material funds are unrestricted. 

 

There is no material difference between the net outgoing resources before other recognised gains and losses and the net 

movement in funds for the financial year stated above and their historical cost equivalents.  
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  Note 2014 2013 

    £m £m 

Tangible fixed assets 15(b) 256.0 253.8 

Investment assets 
   

Quoted investments 17(a) 8,681.7 7,272.1 

Unquoted investments 17(a) 7,017.2 6,456.5 

Investment properties 17(a) 1,262.6 1,117.5 

Derivative financial instruments 17(b) 185.9 206.8 

Investment cash and certificates of deposit 17(c) 697.4 567.0 

Other investment assets 17(c) 227.9 219.8 

Subsidiary and other undertakings 
 

1,937.0 1,851.6 

Programme related investments 17(d) - 0.3 

  
20,009.7 17,691.6 

Current assets 
   

Debtors 19 180.5 22.0 

Cash at bank and in hand   4.9 2.5 

  
185.4 24.5 

Creditors falling due within one year 20 (2,059.4) (1,944.7) 

Net current liabilities   (1,874.0) (1,920.2) 

Total assets less current liabilities 
 

18,391.7 16,025.2 

Creditors falling due after one year 20 (1,596.6) (975.8) 

Provision for liabilities and charges 21 (33.5) (28.7) 

Net assets representing unrestricted funds excluding pension deficit   16,761.6 15,020.7 

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit 12(d)(ii) (89.2) (61.6) 

Net assets representing unrestricted funds including pension deficit   16,672.4 14,959.1 

 

The financial statements on pages 45 to 89 were approved by The Wellcome Trust Limited, as Trustee, on 16 December 2014 

and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

 

Sir William Castell  Professor Dame Kay Davies 

Chairman   Deputy Chair
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  Note 2014 2013 

    £m £m 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 25(a) (718.3) (613.5) 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 
   

Investment income received 25(b) 310.9 256.9 

Cash outflow for servicing of finance 25(c) (43.2) (38.5) 

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance   267.7 218.4 

Financial investment and capital expenditure 
   

Proceeds from sales of investment assets 25(d) 4,616.0 4,385.4 

Purchase of investment assets 25(d) (4,173.6) (3,597.9) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) upon settlement of derivative financial instruments 25(d) 139.5 (175.1) 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets   (37.6) (43.0) 

Net cash inflow for financial investment and capital expenditure   544.3 569.4 

Acquisitions 
   

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 
 

(347.2) - 

Acquisition expenses 
 

(1.6) - 

Cash at bank acquired with subsidiaries 23 18.4 - 

Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries   (330.4) - 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before use of liquid resources and financing   (236.7) 174.3 

Management of liquid resources 
   

Increase in investment cash and certificates of deposit 
 

(108.5) (183.1) 

Decrease in term deposits 
 

- 1.6 

Exchange losses   (8.5) (3.0) 

Net cash outflow from management of liquid resources   (117.0) (184.5) 

Financing 
   

Issue of corporate bonds   395.1 - 

Net cash inflow from financing   395.1 - 

Increase/(decrease) in net cash   41.4 (10.2) 
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1. Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation and accounting convention 

The Financial Statements of the Wellcome Trust (the “Trust”) and the consolidated Financial Statements of the Trust and its 

subsidiary undertakings (the “Group”) have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with applicable UK 

accounting standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). In particular, they comply with the Charities Act 2011, 

the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Accounting and 

Reporting by Charities’ published in 2005 and updated in 2008 (the “SORP”) in all material respects.  

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 

investments and on a basis consistent with prior years. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Trust and all its subsidiary undertakings. The 

subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line by line basis in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) 2 

“Accounting for subsidiary undertakings”. Subsidiary undertakings are entities over which the Trust has control. The 

financial statements of subsidiaries are included from the date that control commences until the date that it ceases. 

The Trust consolidates four types of subsidiary undertakings: 

(i) charitable subsidiary undertakings formed to pursue charitable objects closely allied to those of the Trust;  

(ii) non-charitable operating subsidiary undertakings to conduct non-primary purpose trading;  

(iii) non-charitable investment subsidiary undertakings formed to hold investments and freehold property on behalf of the 

Trust; and 

(iv) a non-charitable financing subsidiary undertaking formed to issue listed debt to finance Group activities. 

Further detail on the Trust’s significant subsidiary undertakings is provided in note 24. 

The Trust applies the exemption contained in FRS 9 “Associates, joint ventures and joint undertakings” and where joint 

ventures and associates are held as part of the investment portfolio, they are included within investment assets at fair value. 

 

Accounting policies 

Accounting policies have been reviewed in accordance with FRS 18 “Accounting Policies”. 

Incoming resources 

Dividends including any recoverable tax are recognised from the ex-dividend date when they become receivable. Rental 

income and interest income are recognised on an accruals basis. Other investment income is recognised when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred and the income can be reliably estimated. Charitable 

incoming resources are recognised in the period in which the Trust and the Group are entitled to receipt, any conditions are 

met and where the amount can be quantified with reasonable certainty.  

Resources expended 

All resources expended are recognised on an accruals basis, with the exception of grants as noted below. 

The costs of generating funds relate to the management of the investment portfolio and include the allocation of the Trust’s 

support cost relating to this activity.  

Grants awarded to institutions outside the Group are recognised as expenditure in the year in which the grant is formally 

approved by the Trust and has been communicated in writing to the recipient, except to the extent that it is subject to 

conditions that enable the Trust to revoke the award. Grants awarded to Group companies are recognised as and when the 

expenditure to which they relate is incurred, in accordance with the terms of the grant.  

Charitable expenditure is analysed between grant funding and the cost of activities performed directly by the Trust and the 

Group together with the associated support cost. Where possible, expenditure incurred that relates to more than one activity is 

apportioned. The method of apportionment uses the most appropriate basis for each cost type. 

Governance costs include the costs of governance arrangements that relate to the general running of the Group as opposed to 

those costs associated with investments or charitable activities. These costs include such items as internal and external audit, 

legal advice for Governors and costs associated with constitutional and statutory requirements. 

Research expenditure is written off in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in which it is incurred. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Fund accounting 

All the funds of the Group are unrestricted funds with the exception of certain grants receivable that are not considered 

material to the Financial Statements of the Trust and the Group. 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets, excluding land, held by the Group and the Trust are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Land 

is stated at cost. They are subject to review for impairment when there is an indication of a reduction in their carrying value. 

They are reviewed annually and any impairment is recognised in the year in which it occurs. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset less its residual value over its 

estimated useful life. Depreciation commences from the date an asset is brought into service. No depreciation is charged on 

assets in the course of construction. 

The useful lives for depreciation purposes for the principal categories of assets are: 

 Years 

Buildings 50 

Leasehold Land and Buildings 10 to 30 

Other Plant and Equipment. Fixtures, fittings and fittings 3 to 15 

Computer Equipment 3 to 5 

Farming Assets 3 to 10 

 

Heritage assets 

The Trustee does not consider that reliable cost or valuation information can be obtained for the vast majority of heritage 

assets held by the Trust. This is because of the diverse nature of the assets held, the number of assets held and the lack of 

comparable market values. The cost of valuing the entire collection would be onerous compared with the benefit derived by 

users of the Financial Statements in assessing the Trustee’s stewardship of the assets. The Trust does not therefore recognise 

these assets on the Balance Sheet, other than significant acquisitions acquired after 1 October 2005 which are reported at cost 

where the asset is purchased or at the curator’s best estimate of current value where the object is donated. 

Leased assets 

Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give rights to the lessee approximating to ownership, the assets are 

treated as if they had been purchased outright by the lessee. The amount capitalised is the present value of the minimum lease 

payments payable during the lease term. The corresponding lease commitments are shown as obligations to the lessor. 

Interest is charged over the duration of the lease in proportion to the balance outstanding. Depreciation on the relevant assets 

and interest on the lease are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities.  

The annual rentals for operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. 

Goodwill 

When a business combination occurs, the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed, including intangible 

assets, are recognised. The determination of the fair values of acquired assets and liabilities is based on management’s 

judgement. Where the goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised, this is amortised over management’s estimate of its 

estimated useful life. If the purchase consideration exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired then the difference is 

recognised as goodwill. If the purchase price consideration is lower than the fair value of the assets acquired then a gain is 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities within net realised and unrealised gains and losses in the year of 

acquisition. 

Intangible assets 

Other intangible assets include amounts spent by the Group acquiring intellectual property and technical expertise that will be 

used to generate value within the Group. 

The useful life over which intangible assets are amortised depends on management’s estimate of the period over which 

economic benefit will be derived from the asset.  
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Investment assets 

Investment valuation policies and procedures are reviewed by the Valuation Group which is responsible for valuation 

decisions. 

(i) Quoted investments 

Quoted investments comprise publicly quoted, listed securities including shares, bonds and units. Quoted investments are 

stated at fair value at the balance sheet date. The basis of fair value for quoted investments is equivalent to the market value, 

using the bid-price. Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date of trade. 

(ii) Unquoted investments 

Unquoted investments are valued at management’s best estimate of fair value. The principal unquoted valuations are 

performed as follows: 

Unquoted hedge funds 

Unquoted hedge funds are valued by reference to the fair value of their underlying securities. These valuations are provided 

by the third party hedge fund administrators. 

Private equity funds and property funds 

The vast majority of private equity and property fund investments are held through funds managed by private equity and 

property groups. No readily identifiable market price is available for these unquoted funds. These funds are included at the 

most recent valuations from their respective managers. In addition, some early stage investments will be held at cost where 

the managers have yet to provide a valuation.  

The majority of valuations are at the balance sheet date. In a very limited number of cases where information is not 

available as at 30 September, the most recent valuations from the manager are adjusted for cash flows and foreign exchange 

movements between the most recent valuation and the balance sheet date. In the unlikely event that a valuation is 

unavailable, the investment will be held at cost less impairment. The total amount of investments held at cost less 

impairment is disclosed in the Financial Statements (note 17(a)). 

Direct investments 

Unquoted direct investments are held at the valuation determined by management, with valuations, when provided by a 

third party investment manager as a key input subject to appropriate review by management. 

Earn-outs 

These are valued at fair value by calculating a probability-weighted average of all possible future cash flows taking in to 

account specific risks and then calculating the present value at an appropriate discount rate. The probability weightings will 

reflect Trust management’s assessment of the implicit/explicit probability weightings put forward by co-invest partners. If 

no co-invest partners’ models are available, the Investment Division will develop a model that will take into account the 

risk associated with the cash flows in the probability ratings used. The Valuation Group may mandate the use of an external 

valuer where it considers this to be appropriate. The discount rate applied is a risk-free rate appropriate to the currency and 

maturity of the expected earn-out plus an adjustment for systematic risk. 

(iii) Investment properties 

Investment properties are valued at open market value, which is usually equivalent to fair value. The valuations are estimated 

by third party professional valuers; however, where properties are acquired close to the balance sheet date, valuations are not 

obtained because the acquired properties are recorded at open market value upon initial recognition, which management 

considers to be a reasonable estimate of open market value at the balance sheet date. Property transactions are recognised on 

the date of completion. 

(iv) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are used as part of the Group’s portfolio risk management and as part of the Group’s 

portfolio management and investment return strategy. The Group’s use of derivative financial instruments includes index-

linked futures, stock and commodities options, warrants, interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and currency forwards. 

The Group’s exchange traded options are stated at fair value, equivalent to the market value, using the bid price, on the 

relevant exchange. Long-term linked currency forwards are stated at management’s estimate of fair value, using the market 

value of a transaction with equivalent cash flows. 

The Group’s warrants are held at the fair value determined by management. These will generally reflect the valuations used 

by the Group’s co-invest partners where these exist and where there is confidence in their approach. Valuations will generally 

be intrinsic value, as the best estimate of fair value, but for material warrant holdings the use of a Black-Scholes valuation 

methodology will be used by management. 

The fair value of contract positions is recognised in the Balance Sheet and gains and losses on the contracts are recognised in 

the Statement of Financial Activities. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Investment assets (continued) 

(v) Programme related investments 

Programme related investments are made directly by the charitable divisions in pursuit of the Trust’s charitable aims and 

although they may generate a financial return, the primary motivation is to further the objects of the charity. They are held at 

cost less any impairment.  

(vi) Investment cash and certificates of deposit, other investment assets and other investment liabilities 

Investment cash and certificates of deposit, and debtors and creditors arising as part of the investment portfolio are stated at 

their fair value. 

(vii) Investments in subsidiaries 

Subsidiary undertakings formed to hold investments are included in the Trust’s Balance Sheet at their net asset value, which 

represents the fair value of their underlying net assets. Investments in all other subsidiary undertakings are held at cost less 

any impairment. 

Stock 

Stock consists of raw materials, consumables and goods for sale and is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is determined on a first in first out basis. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective 

stock. 

Bond liabilities 

Bonds are initially measured at the proceeds of issue less all transaction costs directly attributable to the issue. After initial 

recognition, the Bonds are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The fair value of the Bonds 

disclosed within the notes to the Financial Statements is the market value of the Bonds at the year end date. The Group is not 

required to, and therefore does not, recognise any adjustment to fair value in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Financial 

Activities. 

Variable rate liabilities 

The variable rate liabilities are measured at cost including capitalised arrangement fees and any unpaid accrued interest. 

Securities lending programme 

The Group undertakes securities lending arrangements whereby securities are loaned to external counterparties for a set 

period of time (“the loan period”). The Group receives cash collateral of greater value than the securities loaned from each 

counterparty for the duration of the loan period and receives a share of the interest earned on the cash collateral held. Under 

the terms of the securities lending agreements, the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

loaned securities, and the contractual rights to any cash flows relating to the securities. The loaned securities are not 

derecognised on the Group’s and Trust’s Balance Sheets. The cash collateral and the obligation to return the cash collateral to 

the lender are recognised in the Group’s and Trust’s Balance Sheets. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Trust have a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 

estimated. Provisions are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

Foreign currencies 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the date of 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rate ruling at 

the balance sheet date. All foreign exchange gains and losses, realised and unrealised, are recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Activities. 

Taxation 

Irrecoverable Value Added Tax is included in the Statement of Financial Activities within the expenditure to which it relates. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
Retirement benefits 

The Trust and its subsidiary undertaking Genome Research Limited each operate a defined benefit pension scheme with 

benefits based on final pensionable pay. The assets of the schemes are held in funds separate from those of the Group and 

administered by their own trustees.  

The schemes' liabilities are measured at discounted present value and the schemes' equity assets are stated at bid price. Any 

deficit identified is recognised as a liability on the Balance Sheet. Any surplus is recognised as an asset, though only to the 

extent that it can be used to reduce future contributions to the scheme. The operating and financing costs of such schemes are 

charged to Resources Expended in the Statement of Financial Activities based on the activity to which the staff relate.  

The operating cost represents both the current and past service costs and is allocated over the service lives of employees. The 

net financing costs are recognised in the period in which they arise. The costs of individual events such as past service benefit 

enhancements, settlements, curtailments, and variations from expected costs, arising from the experience of the schemes or 

changes in actuarial assumptions resulting in actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities 

in the period in which they arise. 

 

2. Dividends and interest 

  Group Trust 

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

£m £m £m £m 

Dividends from UK equities 62.9 59.2 62.9 59.2 

Dividends from subsidiaries - - 141.8 - 

Dividends from overseas equities 129.2 118.7 120.4 107.0 

Interest from securities 1.2 1.1 1.2 1.2 

Income from unquoted investments 43.7 45.0 43.7 38.5 

Interest on cash and cash deposits 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 

Securities lending income 1.3 1.5 0.8 1.5 

  238.7 225.8 371.2 207.5 

 

Dividends from subsidiaries arose due to the distribution during the year of investment sales proceeds from WT Residential 1 

and WT Residential 2, which had realised a proportion of their investments in the prior year.  
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3. Rental income 
All rental income is derived from investment properties in the United Kingdom. 

 

4. Other Income 

Other income represents income from the sale of farm produce earned by the Group’s subsidiary, Farmcare Trading Limited 

which was acquired in August 2014. 

 

5. Other incoming resources 
(a) Grants receivable 

Grants receivable represents awards to the Trust’s subsidiary undertaking Genome Research Limited by other funders, 

notably the European Union, the US National Institutes of Health and the UK Medical Research Council. These are subject to 

specific conditions imposed by the donors and, therefore, are restricted in their use. 

  Group Trust 

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

£m £m £m £m 

  16.0 16.9 - 0.2 

 

 (b) Other income 

  Group Trust 

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

£m £m £m £m 

  12.9 9.7 178.7 142.9 

Included in other income above for the Trust are Gift Aid donations, which are equal to the estimated taxable profit of each 

subsidiary undertaking listed below, totalling £174.6 million (2013: £141.5 million).  

 

2014 2013 

£m £m 

Wellcome Trust Trading Limited 0.1 0.8 

Wellcome Trust Finance plc 3.7 5.0 

Wellcome Trust Investments 2 Unlimited 134.3 21.0 

Wellcome Trust Investments 3 Unlimited 25.1 4.0 

Wellcome Trust Residential 1 Limited 7.2 109.7 

Wellcome Trust Residential 2 Limited 4.2 1.0 

  174.6 141.5 
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6. Management fees and other investment costs 
Management fees and other investment costs represent costs directly incurred, both internally and externally, in managing the 

Trust’s investment portfolio. 

 

  Group Trust 

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

£m £m £m £m 

External investment management fees 58.1 35.3 39.5 33.3 

Internal investment administration costs 21.1 18.3 15.2 16.1 

Investment operating costs 4.8 - - - 

Investment support cost allocation 5.0 4.6 5.0 4.6 

  89.0 58.2 59.7 54.0 

 

The external investment management fees include the costs of managing iQ and the administrative costs of the Farmcare 

operations.  

 

7. Charitable activities 

Group 

  
Grant 

funding 

£m 

Direct 

£m 

Allocated 

support 

£m 

Total  

2014 

£m 

Total  

2013 

£m 

Science 404.6 29.1 19.4 453.1 515.4 

Innovations 50.9 14.3 9.7 74.9 68.7 

Culture & Society  32.2 24.9 18.5 75.6 64.5 

Wellcome Trust Genome Campus - 118.3 5.8 124.1 124.3 

  487.7 186.6 53.4 727.7 772.9 

Grant funding and direct charitable activities totalled £674.3 million (2013: £726.0 million). In 2014, the names of the 

Divisions were changed to better reflect their activities. 

Trust 

  
Grant 

funding 

£m 

Direct 

£m 

Allocated 

support 

£m 

Total  

2014 

£m 

Total  

2013 

£m 

Science 404.6 29.1 19.4 453.1 515.1 

Innovations 50.9 14.3 9.7 74.9 68.7 

Culture & Society  32.2 24.6 18.5 75.3 63.8 

Wellcome Trust Genome Campus 105.5 3.1 0.3 108.9 106.3 

  593.2 71.1 47.9 712.2 753.9 

Grant funding and direct charitable activities totalled £664.3 million (2013: £708.8 million). In 2014, the names of the 

Divisions were changed to better reflect their activities. 

 

8. Grants awarded 
Grants are generally awarded to a particular individual, although the actual award is made to the host institution. Small grants 

may be awarded directly to individuals for the purpose of travel and for public engagement with science. 

Grants awarded during the year are analysed by organisation in the table below. The grants included within Grants to other 

organisations for 2014 totalled less than £4.0 million (2013: £3.0 million) in value for each organisation. 

 



 

Wellcome Trust Annual Report 2014 | 57  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 September 2014 (continued) 

 

8. Grants awarded (continued) 

Group 

Science 

£m 

Innovations 

£m 

Culture & 

Society  

£m 

Total 

2014 

£m 

Total 

2013 

£m 

University of Oxford 78.0 1.5 3.4 82.9 69.0 

University of Cambridge 58.2 0.1 2.7 61.0 67.7 

University of Edinburgh 34.2 - 1.7 35.9 18.4 

University College London 33.4 0.9 0.5 34.8 47.0 

King's College London 21.9 2.5 1.2 25.6 22.1 

University of Glasgow 18.1 1.8 1.3 21.2 3.9 

Imperial College London 17.7 0.5 0.2 18.4 30.1 

University of Bristol 12.8 - 0.8 13.6 7.1 

University of Dundee 14.3 - - 14.3 16.1 

Cardiff University 10.4 - - 10.4 13.2 

EMBL - EBI 7.9 - 0.1 8.0 1.3 

Monash University, Australia - 7.6 - 7.6 - 

University of Manchester 7.1 - 0.2 7.3 7.9 

University of Sheffield 5.3 1.9 - 7.2 4.2 

University of Warwick 4.6 0.7 1.9 7.2 5.2 

Institute of Cancer Research 4.2 2.9 - 7.1 9.4 

Newcastle University 6.2 0.4 0.3 6.9 14.8 

University of Sussex 4.1 1.9 - 6.0 0.8 

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine 4.7 0.7 0.3 5.7 15.5 

University of Birmingham 3.8 1.5 0.1 5.4 2.8 

University of Aberdeen 4.0 1.4 - 5.4 2.8 

MRC National Institute for Medical Research 5.3 - - 5.3 3.2 

Diamond Light Source Ltd 5.3 - - 5.3 13.9 

UK Biobank Ltd 5.0 - - 5.0 - 

University of Liverpool 4.4 - 0.4 4.8 3.4 

Medical Research Council 4.3 0.2 - 4.5 2.2 

      Grants to other organisations 40.2 26.7 17.1 84.0 174.4 

      Total grants (excluding supplementations and grants 

no longer required) 415.4 53.2 32.2 500.8 556.4 

Grant supplementations 3.6 - - 3.6 4.2 

Less: grants awarded in previous years no longer 

required (14.4) (2.3) - (16.7) (22.8) 

 

Grants awarded by the Group of which; 404.6 50.9 32.2 487.7 537.8 

      United Kingdom 383.8 21.8 31.0 436.6 505.6 

Directly funded international 20.8 29.1 1.2 51.1 32.2 

Grants awarded by the Group 404.6 50.9 32.2 487.7 537.8 
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8. Grants awarded (continued) 

Trust 

Science 

£m 

Innovations 

£m 

Culture 

& 

Society 

£m 

Wellcome 

Trust 

Genome 

Campus 

£m 
Total 2014 

£m 

Total 2013 

£m 

Grants awarded by the Group 404.6 50.9 32.2 - 487.7 537.8 

Plus: grants awarded to subsidiary 

undertakings - - - 105.5 105.5 102.2 

Grants awarded by the Trust 404.6 50.9 32.2 105.5 593.2 640.0 

 

 

Further details of grants awarded by the Trust are published on the Trust’s website, at the address given on the back cover. 

The following Governors during the year had appointments with organisations which were in receipt of grants: 

Professor Dame Kay Davies - University of Oxford 

Professor Richard Hynes - Massachusetts Institute of Technology 

Professor Dame Anne Johnson - University College London 

Baroness Manningham-Buller - Imperial College London 

Professor Peter Rigby - The Institute of Cancer Research, Babraham Institute 

Professor Michael Ferguson - University of Dundee 

 

9. Grants awarded but not yet paid 

 
  Group Trust 

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

£m £m £m £m 

Liability at 1 October 1,654.1 1,583.1 1,652.2 1,581.2 

Grants awarded during the year 487.7 537.8 593.2 640.0 

Grants paid during the year (453.1) (466.8) (556.7) (569.0) 

Liability as at 30 September  1,688.7 1,654.1 1,688.7 1,652.2 

Of which: 
    

- falling due within one year (note 20) 488.1 679.4 488.1 677.5 

- falling due after one year (note 20) 1,200.6 974.7 1,200.6 974.7 

Liability as at 30 September 1,688.7 1,654.1 1,688.7 1,652.2 
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10. Support costs 
Support costs are those costs that, while necessary to deliver an activity, do not themselves produce or constitute the output of 

the charitable activity. Support costs have been apportioned using the allocation methods indicated. 

Operations comprise building costs, costs associated with the Human Resources Department, the Finance Department, the 

Legal Department and the Information Technology Department. 

 

Group 

Costs of 

generating 

funds 

£m 

Science 

£m 

Innovations 

£m 

Culture & 

Society 

£m 

Wellcome 

Trust 

Genome 

Campus 

£m 

Total 

2014 

£m 

Total 

2013 

£m 

Allocation 

method 

Funding 

administration - 10.4 5.3 2.2 - 17.9 14.5 

Directly 

attributed 

Support of 

scientific research - - - - 5.5 5.5 1.5 

Directly 

attributed 

Operations 4.8 7.3 4.0 16.1 0.2 32.4 31.5 

Headcount / 

building usage 

Other 0.2 1.7 0.4 0.2 0.1 2.6 4.0 Expenditure 

  5.0 19.4 9.7 18.5 5.8 58.4 51.5   

  
    

     

Trust 

Costs of 

generating 

funds 

£m 

Science 

£m 

Innovations 

£m 

Culture & 

Society 

£m 

Wellcome 

Trust 

Genome 

Campus 

£m 

Total 

2014 

£m 

Total 

2013 

£m 

Allocation 

method 

Funding 

administration - 10.4 5.3 2.2 - 17.9 14.3 

Directly 

attributed 

Operations 4.8 7.3 4.0 16.1 0.2 32.4 31.4 

Headcount / 

building usage 

Other 0.2 1.7 0.4 0.2 0.1 2.6 4.0 Expenditure 

  5.0 19.4 9.7 18.5 0.3 52.9 49.7   

 

11. Governance costs 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Trustee's fees and expenses 0.8 1.0 0.8 0.9 

Auditors’ remuneration 
    

- parent company and consolidation 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 

- audits of subsidiary undertakings 0.3 0.2 - - 

Internal audit 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.4 

Other costs 0.8 0.4 0.8 0.4 

  2.7 2.2 2.4 1.9 
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11. Governance costs (continued) 
In addition to the auditors’ remuneration above, in 2014 total fees of £0.5 million (2013: £0.3 million) excluding VAT were 

payable to the Group’s auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or associated firms (£0.1 million in respect of taxation 

compliance services (2013: £0.2 million), £0.1 million in respect of fees relating to the bond issue (2013: £ nil), £0.1 million 

in respect of non-audit services for the operation of international initiatives (2013: £0.1 million) and £0.2 million in respect to 

due diligence work regarding acquisitions (2013: £ nil)). In addition, there were fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

in respect of the audit of the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan of £12,900 (2013: £12,650), excluding VAT, which were borne by 

the Plan and fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in respect of the audit of the Genome Research Limited Pension 

Plan of £6,800 (2013: £6,450), excluding VAT, which were borne by Genome Research Limited. The internal audit services 

are provided by Deloitte LLP. 

 

12. Employee information 
(a) Staff costs 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Emoluments including benefits in kind 78.7 72.6 39.4 38.3 

Social Security costs 6.3 5.7 3.3 2.9 

Pension costs and other benefits 17.2 16.9 8.6 7.6 

  102.2 95.2 51.3 48.8 

(b) Average numbers of employees who served during the year 

  Average 

 
2014 2013 

Trust 595 550 

Subsidiary undertakings 1,138 902 

Total for the Group 1,733 1,452 

Analysed by     

Investments 39 33 

Non-charitable subsidiaries 182 - 

Direct activities 1,066 995 

Support 445 423 

Governance 1 1 

Total for the Group 1,733 1,452 

Analysed by     

Investments 39 33 

Direct activities 167 139 

Support 388 377 

Governance 1 1 

Total for the Trust 595 550 
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12. Employee information (continued) 
(c) Emoluments of employees 

The number of employees of the Trust and its subsidiary undertakings whose emoluments (salaries, benefits in kind, bonuses 

and compensation for loss of office, but excluding pension contributions and amounts awarded under the Long Term 

Incentive Plans) fell within the following bands were: 

Group 2014 2013 

£60,000-£69,999 47 44 

£70,000-£79,999 24 22 

£80,000-£89,999 26 19 

£90,000-£99,999 16 15 

£100,000-£109,999 10 11 

£110,000-£119,999 4 6 

£120,000-£129,999 5 4 

£130,000-£139,999 2 5 

£140,000-£149,999 4 3 

£150,000-£159,999 2 2 

£160,000-£169,999 1 1 

£170,000-£179,999 2 1 

£180,000-£189,999 2 1 

£190,000-£199,999 5 2 

£200,000-£209,999 1 2 

£210,000-£219,999 - 1 

£220,000-£229,999 3 - 

£230,000-£239,999 - 1 

£240,000-£249,999 - 2 

£250,000-£259,999 1 - 

£260,000-£269,999 - 1 

£270,000-£279,999 1 - 

£300,000-£309,999 - 1 

£360,000-£369,999 - 1 

£370,000-£379,999 1 - 

£390,000-£399,999 1 - 

£410,000-£419,999 - 1 

£430,000-£439,999 1 - 

£590,000-£599,999 - 1 

£620,000-£629,999 1                -    

 

The remuneration of the Director included in the table above totalled £393,808 (2013: £248,681). The previous Director 

resigned in March 2013 and the current Director was appointed in October 2013. 

Pension benefits have been accruing under the defined benefit schemes for all of the Group’s employees included in the 

above bandings. 

Further information in respect of employees’ and Governors’ remuneration is included within the Remuneration Report on 

pages 32 and 33. The table of Governors’ remuneration on page 33 forms part of the audited Financial Statements. 
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12. Employee information (continued) 
(d) Retirement benefits 

The Group sponsors two approved funded defined benefit schemes, the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan and the Genome 

Research Limited Pension Plan. 

The Trust has committed to pay lump sum contributions of £2.3 million for the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan and £3.1 

million for the Genome Research Limited Pension Plan in 2014 in order to fund the pension deficits identified at the last 

actuarial valuations. 

The FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” actuarial valuation of the Wellcome Trust and Genome Research Limited Pension Plans at 

30 September 2014 showed a combined deficit of £169.7 million (2013: £117.7 million). This deficit represents the 

difference between an assessment of the liabilities of the pension funds and the current value of their underlying assets. The 

amount of the deficit is subject to considerable variability because it depends on a valuation of assets at the year-end date and 

a range of actuarial assumptions including interest and inflation rates, which change annually. 

The contributions made by the employer over the financial year into the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan were £7.9 million 

(2013: £7.5 million). Contributions made by the employer into the Genome Research Limited Pension Plan were £8.2 million 

(2013: £6.0 million). 

The assets of the schemes are stated at bid price. The liabilities and the provision for other retirement benefits have been 

calculated using the following actuarial assumptions: 

  2014 2013 2012 

  % per annum % per annum % per annum 

Inflation 3.50% 3.50% 2.80% 

Salary increases 4.25% 4.25% 3.55% 

Rate of discount 4.05% 4.55% 4.50% 

Allowance for pension in payment increase of RPI or 5% p.a. if less 3.40% 3.40% 2.70% 

Allowance for revaluation of deferred pensions of RPI or 5% p.a. if less 3.50% 3.50% 2.80% 

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement 
90% of Post 

A-Day 

90% of Post 

A-Day 

90% of Post 

A-Day 

Rate of increase of healthcare costs 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 

 

The mortality assumptions adopted at 30 September imply the following life expectancies in years: 

  2014 2013 

Male retiring at age 60 in 2014 27.9 28.8 

Female retiring at age 60 in 2014 29.0 29.9 

Male retiring at age 60 in 2032 29.4 30.8 

Female retiring at age 60 in 2032 30.6 31.9 

The mortality assumptions used in the valuation of the defined benefit pension liabilities of both schemes and the provision 

for other retirement benefits are based on the base mortality table of S1PxA_Light together with an allowance for mortality 

improvement in line with CMI 2013 projections and a 1.00% per annum minimum long-term rate of improvement. 
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12. Employee information (continued) 
(d) Retirement benefits (continued) 

 (i) Charge to the Statement of Financial Activities - Pension and other retirement benefits  

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Current service cost 17.3 15.0 8.8 7.5 

Past service cost - - - - 

  17.3 15.0 8.8 7.5 

Other finance income 
    

Expected return on pension schemes' assets (16.4) (12.0) (10.1) (7.5) 

Interest on pension schemes’ liabilities 16.1 13.1 9.6 8.1 

  (0.3) 1.1 (0.5) 0.6 

Other 
    

Losses on business combinations - 1.0 - - 

Gains on settlements - (1.0) - (1.0) 

 
- - - (1.0) 

Actuarial losses 52.7 19.0 28.8 7.0 

Total charge to the Statement of Financial Activities 69.7 35.1 37.1 14.1 

 

(ii) Present values of pension schemes’ liabilities, fair value of assets and deficit 

  Assets Liabilities Deficit 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Wellcome Trust Pension Plan 149.2 133.8 (238.4) (195.4) (89.2) (61.6) 

Genome Research Limited Pension Plan 99.6 82.3 (180.1) (138.4) (80.5) (56.1) 

Total pension schemes 248.8 216.1 (418.5) (333.8) (169.7) (117.7) 

(iii) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the pension schemes’ liabilities as at 30 September 

  
Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Schemes' liabilities at start of year 333.8 274.4 195.4 169.3 

Current service cost 16.5 14.2 8.0 6.7 

Interest cost 15.5 12.6 9.0 7.6 

Contributions by schemes' participants 1.4 1.3 0.7 0.6 

Actuarial losses 55.3 34.6 28.4 16.6 

Benefits paid and death-in-service insurance premiums (4.0) (3.3) (3.1) (2.8) 

Liabilities assumed in a business combination - 2.6 - - 

Liabilities extinguished on settlements - (2.6) - (2.6) 

Schemes' liabilities at end of year 418.5 333.8 238.4 195.4 
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12. Employee information (continued) 
(d) Retirement benefits (continued) 

(iii) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the pension schemes’ liabilities as at 30 September 

(continued) 

Analysis of the sensitivity to the principal assumptions of the value of the schemes’ liabilities. 

 

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on liabilities 

Discount rate  Increase/decrease of 0.5% p.a. Decrease/increase by 14.1% 

Rate of inflation  Increase/decrease of 0.5% p.a. Increase/decrease by 9.2%  

Rate of salary growth  Increase/decrease of 0.5% p.a. Increase/decrease by 2.1%  

Probability of death in any year after retirement  Increase/decrease of 10.0% p.a. Increase/decrease by 2.2%  

Long-term rate of mortality improvement  Increase/decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase/decrease by 1.6% 

 

(iv) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of the schemes’ assets as at 30 September 

 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Fair value of scheme assets at start of year 216.1 176.0 133.8 112.0 

Expected return on scheme assets 16.4 12.0 10.1 7.5 

Actuarial gains/(losses) 2.8 16.6 (0.2) 10.6 

Contributions by the Group 16.1 13.5 7.9 7.5 

Contributions by scheme participants 1.4 1.3 0.7 0.6 

Benefits paid and death-in-service insurance premiums (4.0) (3.3) (3.1) (2.8) 

Assets acquired in a business combination - 1.6 - - 

Assets distributed on settlements - (1.6) - (1.6) 

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 248.8 216.1 149.2 133.8 

 

The actual return on the Group assets for the year ended 30 September 2014 was a gain of £19.2 million (2013: gain of £28.6 

million). 

During the year ended 30 September 2013, as a result of a transfer of employment from the Wellcome Trust to Genome 

Research Limited effective 1 October 2012, 29 members of the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan were offered an option of 

exchanging their accrued benefits in the Wellcome Trust Pension Plan for benefits in the Genome Research Limited Pension 

Plan.  

These figures are for the pension schemes and exclude the other retirement benefits which are included in table 12(d)(i) 

above.
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12. Employee information (continued) 
(d) Retirement benefits (continued) 

 

(v) Split of assets and expected returns 

  2014 2013 2012 

  £m 

Expected 

return (%) £m 

Expected 

return (%) £m 

Expected 

return (%) 

Wellcome Trust Pension Plan 

    Equity 148.8 7.0% 133.5 7.4% 111.5 6.6% 

Other 0.4 0.5% 0.3 0.5% 0.5 0.5% 

Total assets 149.2 7.0% 133.8 7.4% 112.0 6.6% 

Genome Research Limited Pension Plan       

Equity 99.2 7.0% 81.8 7.4% 63.6 6.6% 

Other 0.4 0.5% 0.5 0.5% 0.4 0.5% 

Total assets 99.6 7.0% 82.3 7.4% 64.0 6.6% 

The long-term expected rate of return on other assets is determined by reference to bank base rates at the balance sheet dates. 

The long-term expected rate of return on equities is based on the rate of return on bonds with an allowance for the equity risk 

premium. 

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any of the Group’s own financial instruments or any property 

occupied by, or other assets used by, the Group. 

(vi) Amounts for the current and previous four years as at 30 September 

Group 2014  

£m 

2013  

£m 

2012  

£m 

2011  

£m 

2010  

£m 

Fair value of schemes' assets 248.8 216.1 176.0 142.3 144.3 

Present value of schemes' liabilities (418.5) (333.8) (274.4) (239.4) (257.1) 

Deficit in schemes (169.7) (117.7) (98.4) (97.1) (112.8) 

Experience adjustment on schemes' assets 2.8 16.6 12.8 (24.2) 4.8 

Experience adjustment on schemes' liabilities (2.6) (0.1) (1.0) 4.6 11.4 

Effects of changes in the demographic and financial assumptions 

underlying the present value of the schemes' liabilities (52.7) (34.5) (10.2) 38.0 (30.6) 

      

Trust 

2014  

£m 

2013  

£m 

2012  

£m 

2011  

£m 

2010  

£m 

Fair value of scheme's assets 149.2 133.8 112.0 92.4 94.1 

Present value of scheme's liabilities (238.4) (195.4) (169.3) (149.0) (160.7) 

Deficit in scheme (89.2) (61.6) (57.3) (56.6) (66.6) 

Experience adjustment on scheme's assets (0.2) 10.6 7.8 (14.4) 3.5 

Experience adjustment on scheme's liabilities (0.7) (0.1) (0.5) 4.9 2.1 

Effects of changes in the demographic and financial assumptions 

underlying the present value of the schemes' liabilities (27.7) (16.5) (7.1) 19.9 (17.5) 

(vii) Estimate of contributions to be paid to scheme 

The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the Wellcome Trust scheme for the period beginning after 30 

September 2014 is £8.2 million. This includes the additional contributions required to make good the shortfall in funding 

identified in the valuations of 1 January 2011. The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the Genome 

Research Limited scheme for the period beginning after 30 September 2014 is £8.4 million. This includes the additional 

contributions required to make good the shortfall in funding identified in the valuations of 31 December 2012.
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13. Remuneration of Governors and related party transactions 
Information on Governors’ remuneration is included in the Remuneration Report on pages 32 to 33. In addition, Professor 

Dame Kay Davies, who is a Governor, is a consultant of Summit Corporation plc. The Trust has made payments to Summit 

Corporation plc in respect of programme related investments amounting to £1.9 million (2013: £2.0 million). No grant 

payments were made in the current or prior year. 

 

Details of the Governors who had appointments during the year with organisations which were in receipt of grants are 

disclosed in note 8. 

Other related party transactions 

 

The Francis Crick Institute Limited  

The programme related investment loans are unsecured, interest free and have no repayment date. They have been provided 

to finance The Francis Crick Institute Limited's activities (note 17(d)). Grants awarded during the year are shown in note 8. 

 

UKCMRI Construction Limited 

The Francis Crick Institute Limited is the controlling party and immediate parent of UKCMRI Construction Limited. The 

Group incurred costs of £0.3 million (2013: £0.4 million) on behalf of UKCMRI Construction Limited, which it has 

recharged including the cost of secondment staff and rental charges. An area of the Wellcome Trust premises at 215 Euston 

Road is currently made available to UKCMRI Construction Limited at below market rent. The amount due from UKCMRI 

Construction Limited at the year end was £0.4 million (2013: £0.5 million). 

 

14. Taxation 
The estimated cost of irrecoverable Value Added Tax suffered by the Group in the year was £17.9 million (2013: £12.9 

million). The Trust claims exemption from income and capital gains taxes.  
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15. Tangible fixed assets 

(a) Group 

 

  

Freehold land 

and buildings 

£m 

Long 

leasehold 

land and 

buildings 

£m 

Finance 

leased 

buildings 

£m 

Finance 

leased 

plant and 

equipment 

£m 

Other 

plant, 

equipment, 

fixtures 

and fittings 

£m 

Assets in 

course of 

construction 

£m 

Farming 

assets 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Cost as at 1 

October 2013 356.5 1.5 20.8 64.0 172.7 30.1 - 645.6 

Recognised on 

acquisition - - - - - - 15.4 15.4 

Additions  5.9 - - - 21.3 10.3 0.1 37.6 

Transfers 25.2 - - - 2.1 (27.3) - - 

Disposals  - - - - (9.5) - - (9.5) 

Cost as at 30 

September 2014 387.6 1.5 20.8 64.0 186.6 13.1 15.5 689.1 

Accumulated 

depreciation as at 

1 October 2013 76.9 1.5 3.6 27.2 125.1 - 

 

234.3 

Charge for the year 6.6 - 0.4 3.1 12.8 - 0.3 23.2 

Disposals - - - - (9.1) - - (9.1) 

Accumulated 

depreciation as at 30 

September 2014 83.5 1.5 4.0 30.3 128.8 - 0.3 248.4 

Net Book Value as at 

30 September 2014 304.1 - 16.8 33.7 57.8 13.1 15.2 440.7 

Net Book Value as at 30 

September 2013 279.6 - 17.2 36.8 47.6 30.1 - 411.3 
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15. Tangible fixed assets (continued) 

(b) Trust 

 

  

Freehold 

land and 

buildings 

£m 

Long 

leasehold 

land and 

buildings 

£m 

Finance 

leased 

buildings 

£m 

Finance 

leased 

plant and 

equipment 

£m 

Other 

plant, 

equipment, 

fixtures 

and fittings 

£m 

Assets in 

course of 

construction 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Cost as at 1 October 2013 212.9 1.5 20.8 64.0 52.6 1.5 353.3 

Additions  - - - - 11.8 1.0 12.8 

Transfers - - - - 1.2 (1.2) - 

Disposals - - - - (1.6) - (1.6) 

Cost as at 30 September 

2014 212.9 1.5 20.8 64.0 64.0 1.3 364.5 

Accumulated depreciation 

as at 1 October 2013 40.9 1.5 3.6 27.2 26.3 - 99.5 

Charge for the year 3.3 - 0.4 3.1 3.6 - 10.4 

Disposals - - - - (1.4) - (1.4) 

Accumulated 

depreciation as at 30 

September 2014 44.2 1.5 4.0 30.3 28.5 - 108.5 

Net Book Value as at 30 

September 2014 168.7 - 16.8 33.7 35.5 1.3 256.0 

Net Book Value as at 30 

September 2013 172.0 - 17.2 36.8 26.3 1.5 253.8 

 

Heritage assets 

No assets have been capitalised in the current financial year and the Trust did not capitalise any assets in previous years. 

(a) Nature of the assets 

The Trust has several collections of heritage assets comprising substantial collections of books, artefacts of scientific and 

historical interest and other museum pieces held in support of one of the Trust’s main objectives of advancing and promoting 

knowledge and education. The vast majority of the collection is held at the premises in Euston Road but there are also off-site 

storage facilities situated in Cheshire with state-of-the-art technology and security. 

(b) Policy for acquisition 

Materials selected for acquisition must be representative of the history of medicine or closely allied subjects; must be of 

demonstrable research value; must normally be in a reasonable state of completeness and in good condition; must not pose a 

health and safety risk or serious conservation threat to other items in the collection; and should not require significant 

additional resources for conservation and/or storage. 
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15. Tangible fixed assets (continued) 
(c) Preservation and conservation 

The Trust adheres to the principles for the preservation and conservation of the library materials of the National Preservation 

Office (NPO) and International Federation of Library Associations (IFLA). The Trust continually develops repository and 

management systems for digital materials and monitors the digital environment for risk factors such as software or hardware 

obsolescence and the impact of new technologies. The Trust is committed to providing high quality storage for all its 

collections and aims to comply with the appropriate British Standards. 

(d) Disposal 

The vast majority of materials in the library collections are retained in perpetuity. However, materials will normally be 

removed from the collections if they are duplicated (unless they are of particular monetary value or significant provenance), 

superseded, no longer relevant, have deteriorated beyond repair and have no historic value or they are considered to be a 

health risk. Certain items are sometimes donated to peer institutions. 

(e) Security and insurance 

In order to assure security and safety of the collections, various procedures are in place including: registration of users; 

request of proof of identity prior to access; explanation of handling of materials; video surveillance; limits to amounts of 

closed access material in reading room; checking of returned material and security tagging; material risk assessments for fire, 

flood and theft; compliance with appropriate British Standards; fire precaution, fire detection and extinguishing systems; 

flood warning and egress of water systems; intruder alarms; locking up and opening procedures; monitoring of storage areas; 

maintenance checklist; and procedures for evacuation of premises. As part of the Trust’s Business Continuity Plan, the 

Library has a disaster and salvage plan in place. The Library also has a full Premium Membership contract with Document 

SOS which provides support for the majority of the disaster and salvage issues that may arise. The Library materials are 

insured against damage or loss due to fire, flood, or terrorist activity at named locations, unnamed locations and while in 

transit. The collections are not insured for full replacement value as it is not possible to quantify this and the nature of the 

items held means that they are often irreplaceable. 

 

16. Intangible fixed assets 
 

Intellectual property 

Group  

 

  
Total 

£m 

Cost as at 1 October 2013 - 

Additions  1.0 

Disposals - 

Cost as at 30 September 2014 1.0 

Accumulated amortisation as at 1 October 2013 - 

Charge for the year - 

Disposals - 

Accumulated amortisation as at 30 September 2014 - 

Net Book Value as at 30 September 2014 1.0 

Net Book Value as at 30 September 2013 - 
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17. Investments 
(a) Investment assets  

Group 

Fair value 

1 October 

2013 

£m 

Purchases 

£m 

Sales proceeds 

£m 

Total gains/ 

(losses) 

£m 

Fair value 

30 September 

2014 

£m 

UK 1,573.6 241.1 (180.9) (39.1) 1,594.7 

Overseas 6,262.7 2,759.2 (2,291.9) 882.4 7,612.4 

Total quoted 7,836.3 3,000.3 (2,472.8) 843.3 9,207.1 

UK 320.8 47.6 (147.2) 35.6 256.8 

Overseas 7,098.8 997.6 (2,001.5) 1,103.2 7,198.1 

Total unquoted 7,419.6 1,045.2 (2,148.7) 1,138.8 7,454.9 

UK 1,264.8 727.1 (81.4) 160.7 2,071.2 

Total property 1,264.8 727.1 (81.4) 160.7 2,071.2 

Total  16,520.7 4,772.6 (4,702.9) 2,142.8 18,733.2 

      

Trust 

Fair value 

1 October 

2013 

£m 

Purchases 

£m 

Sales proceeds 

£m 

Total gains/ 

(losses) 

£m 

Fair value 

30 September 

2014 

£m 

UK 1,573.6 241.1 (180.9) (39.1) 1,594.7 

Overseas 5,698.5 2,124.5 (1,633.5) 897.5 7,087.0 

Total quoted 7,272.1 2,365.6 (1,814.4) 858.4 8,681.7 

UK 320.7 15.6 (147.2) 21.5 210.6 

Overseas 6,135.8 1,548.7 (1,977.0) 1,099.1 6,806.6 

Total unquoted 6,456.5 1,564.3 (2,124.2) 1,120.6 7,017.2 

UK 1,117.5 79.3 (67.2) 133.0 1,262.6 

Total property 1,117.5 79.3 (67.2) 133.0 1,262.6 

Total  14,846.1 4,009.2 (4,005.8) 2,112.0 16,961.5 

 

The investment assets at fair value in the Group and the Trust include securities on loan at year end with fair value of £65.8 

million (2013: £43.8 million); the Group and the Trust held cash collateral of £70.3 million (2013: £46.3 million) in respect 

of these securities. The Trust recognises the cash collateral held asset and a liability to return the cash collateral to the 

borrowers as disclosed in note 17(c) and note 20. During the year, the maximum aggregate fair value of securities on loan 

was £320.1 million (2013: £163.7 million) and the Trust held £337.7 million (2013: £172.6 million) as collateral in respect of 

these securities. The income receivable due to securities lending activities is disclosed in note 2. No loaned securities were 

recalled but not obtained during the year and therefore no collateral was retained. 

The unquoted valuation in the Group and the Trust above includes indirectly held investments of £64.1 million (2013: £60.0 

million) for which the valuation used is equal to cost less any impairment. For these investments, the fair value cannot be 

reliably measured and therefore they are held at cost less any impairment. 

 

Investment properties in the Group and the Trust have been valued at market value generally in accordance with the 

Appraisal and Valuation Manual of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The valuations were carried out by Gerald 

Eve, Savills (L&P) Limited and CB Richard Ellis. In the current year the property acquired as part of acquisition of Farmcare 

(see note 23) is held at the fair value recognised on acquisition because this was close to the balance sheet date. 
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17. Investments (continued) 
(b) Derivative financial instruments 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial instrument asset positions 186.9 206.8 185.9 206.8 

 

Derivative financial instrument liabilities for the Group and Trust are included within creditors, disclosed in note 20. 

The Group’s use of derivative financial instruments comprises: 

Forward currency contracts 

Forward currency contracts are used to hedge investment assets denominated in foreign currency into Sterling and as part of 

the investment strategy to have a globally diversified currency exposure. As at 30 September 2014, the notional value of open 

forward contracts amounted to £2,958.5 million (2013: £3,137.8 million). As at 30 September 2014, the Group and Trust held 

cash collateral relating to its forward currency contracts of £112.3 million (2013: £119.8 million). 

Financial futures, options and warrants 

The use of futures, options and warrants constitutes part of the Trust’s portfolio management including: a substitution for 

investing in physical assets, a part of the Trust’s long-term investment return strategy entered into with the expectation of 

realising gains, and adjusting asset exposures within the parameters set in the Trust’s investment policy. 

As at 30 September 2014, the notional value of purchased commodity future positions was £30.2 million (2013: £ nil). There 

were no purchased equity index futures positions (2013: £ nil) and no sold futures positions (2013: £ nil).  

As at 30 September 2014, the notional value of purchased equity option positions amounted to £1,641.1 million (2013: 

£987.3 million) and the notional value of sold equity option positions amounted to £411.4 million (2013: £906.2 million). As 

at 30 September 2014, the notional value of purchased commodity option positions amounted to £225.1 million (2013: £nil). 

Sold call equity options are covered by quoted equity positions as reflected in note 17(a). Sold put options are covered by 

cash as reflected in note 17(c). 

As at 30 September 2014, the Group held long warrants positions relating to unquoted equity holdings which allow the Group 

to purchase additional equities at an agreed strike price. The notional value of these warrants amounted to £6.6 million (2013: 

£8.1 million). 

Interest rate swaps and caps 

Interest rate swaps and caps are used to manage interest rate risk arising from the variable rate liabilities. As at 30 September 

2014, the notional value of interest rate swaps and caps amounted to £42.3 million (2013: £ nil) and £185.0 million  

(2013: £ nil) respectively. 

(c) Investment cash and certificates of deposit and other investment assets 

 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Investment cash and certificates of deposit 705.4 595.5 697.4 567.0 

Cash collateral held 182.6 166.1 164.2 152.6 

Accrued income from investments 14.9 12.0 13.1 10.1 

Income receivable 15.8 10.6 10.7 10.6 

Proceeds receivable on sale of investments 44.9 47.2 38.4 44.3 

Other investment debtors 24.6 4.7 1.5 2.2 

Other investments assets 282.8 240.6 227.9 219.8 
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17. Investments (continued) 
(d) Programme related investments 

  
Book value 

1 October 

2013        

£m 

Purchases 

£m 

Disposals 

£m 

Write-

downs  

£m 

Book value 

30 September 

2014 

£m 

Loans – other 0.1 10.0  -  (10.1)  -  

Loans 0.1 10.0  -  (10.1)  -  

Equities – The Francis Crick Institute  -  22.0  -  (22.0)  -  

Equities – Diamond  -  1.3  -  (1.3)  -  

Equities – Hilleman Laboratories  -  1.7  -  (1.7)  -  

Equities – Other 0.2  -  (3.1) 2.9  -  

Equities  0.2 25.0 (3.1) (22.1)  -  

Revenue share - other  -  3.5  -  (3.5)  -  

Revenue share  -  3.5  -  (3.5)  -  

Total 0.3 38.5 (3.1) (35.7)  -  

 

The Francis Crick Institute Limited  

The Trust continued to work with the Medical Research Council, Cancer Research UK and University College London (the 

“Original Founders”), and two academic funders, Imperial College London and King’s College London, to develop The 

Francis Crick Institute Limited (formerly known as the UK Centre for Medical Research and Innovation (UKCMRI 

Limited)), a world class multidisciplinary biomedical research institute to be based in London.  

 

Equities include equity interest for the Trust’s share of the funding of this project for programme management costs and the 

construction costs of the Crick building. Under the terms of the legal agreement, the Trust and the Original Founders will 

lease the land and building for 55 years to The Francis Crick Institute Limited at nil rental, and upon expiry of the lease the 

Trust and the other Original Founders would expect to agree to renew this lease on the same terms. On this basis, the Trust 

does not expect to receive any financial return from these programme related investments and they have been fully written 

down and included within Science direct expenditure.  

 

Diamond Light Source Limited  

Equities also include a 14% equity interest in Diamond Light Source Limited, a company established to construct and operate 

a synchotron in Oxfordshire. Under the shareholding agreement, there is no intrinsic value in the equity and the cost has 

therefore been fully written down and included within Science direct expenditure.  

 

MSD-Wellcome Trust Hilleman Laboratories  

Equities include a 50% equity interest in SCS Pharma Research and Development Private Limited (known as MSD-

Wellcome Trust Hilleman Laboratories), a company established in India to develop affordable vaccines to prevent diseases 

that commonly affect low and middle-income countries. Under the shareholding agreement, there is no intrinsic value in the 

equity and the cost has therefore been fully written down and reflected within Innovations direct expenditure.  

 

Other  

As part of its Innovations activities, the Trust has provided funding to 56 (2013: 53) early-stage companies to carry out 

biomedical research projects with potential to deliver health benefits. Together, these programme related investments form a 

portfolio managed separately from the Trust's other investments. These investments are held primarily to further the 

charitable aims of the Trust rather than to provide a financial return. Consequently they are, as permitted by the SORP, held 

at cost less provision for impairment. The net write-down of £10.7 million (2013: £6.0 million) is to reflect the Trust's policy 

of writing off the cost of the investment in these early-stage companies as it is not anticipated that this cost will be recovered. 

At each year end, a review of the programme related investment portfolio is performed, whereby the impairment on 

individual assets with known value is reversed and included within charitable activities. During 2014 the impairment reversed 

(which arose on a disposal) was £2.9 million (2013: £0.2 million). Any income received or gains realised are included in 

other income and amounted to £2.0 million (2013: £0.6 million). 
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17. Investments (continued) 
(e) Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 

    Group Trust 

  
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  Note £m £m £m £m 

Quoted investments 17(a) 843.3 1,117.8 858.4 971.2 

Unquoted investments 
 

1,153.8 1,125.9 1,120.6 1,029.9 

Investment properties 17(a) 160.7 141.6 133.0 136.4 

Derivative financial instruments 
     

   Currency overlay 
 

51.7 (12.1) 51.7 (12.1) 

   Other derivative financial instruments 
 

79.0 (48.7) 80.4 (48.6) 

Shares in subsidiary undertakings 
 

- - (269.3) 111.0 

Foreign exchange   (8.3) (3.2) (7.7) (4.1) 

    2,280.2 2,321.3 1,967.1 2,183.7 

Gains relating to derivative financial instruments include £51.7 million (2013: losses £12.1 million) relating to the currency 

overlay, which comprises forward currency contracts to hedge the Group and Trust’s exposure to foreign currency assets. The 

remaining gains of £79.0 million (2013: losses of £48.7 million) relate to other forward currency contracts, financial futures, 

options, interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and warrants. The Trust adopts a policy of hedging a part of its non-base 

currency exposures using a currency overlay although the actual percentage hedged varies from time to time. The gains and 

losses relating to the currency overlay are therefore offsetting foreign exchange gains and losses on the foreign currency 

assets within quoted and unquoted investments. 

(f) Reconciliation to Trustee’s Report 

The presentation of investment balances in notes 17 and 20 is in accordance with the statutory asset and liability 

classifications. However, the investment portfolio is reported by investment strategy for management purposes and for the 

Trustee’s Report. The distinct classes of assets used and reported on within the Trustee’s Report are: public equity; private 

equity; hedge funds; property and infrastructure; and cash. 

This note reconciles the net investment asset fair value at the balance sheet date as presented within the Trustee’s Report to 

the presentation within the Financial Statements. The market value of each asset class presented in the Trustee’s Report is 

equal to the net investment assets and liabilities, held within portfolios with that applicable investment strategy. 

The assets and liabilities presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and notes reconcile to Figure 6 in the Trustee’s Report 

as follows: 

    2014 2013 

  Note £m £m 

Quoted and unquoted investments and investment property 17(a) 18,733.2 16,520.7 

Derivative financial instrument asset positions 17(b) 186.9 206.8 

Investment cash and certificates of deposit 17(c) 705.4 595.5 

Other investment assets 17(c) 282.8 240.6 

Derivative financial instrument liabilities 20 (33.2) (46.3) 

Investment liabilities - other 20 (246.7) (215.1) 

Bond liabilities at amortised cost 20 (1,223.3) (821.3) 

Variable rate debt liabilities 20 (224.0) - 

Adjusted for 
   

   Restatement of bond liabilities to fair value 
 

(188.8) (104.6) 

   Syncona assets not in investment asset allocation 
 

(12.7) (2.7) 

   Other investments not in asset allocation 
 

(0.8) - 

   Net other assets of investment operating subsidiaries included in asset allocation   59.5 - 

Total assets net of Bond liabilities per Figure 6   18,038.3 16,373.6 
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17. Investments (continued) 
(f) Reconciliation to Trustee’s Report (continued) 

    2014 2013 

  Note £m £m 

Total assets net of Bond liabilities per figure 6   18,038.3 16,373.6 

Add back investment liabilities 
   

   Derivative financial instrument liabilities 20 33.2 46.3 

   Investment liabilities - other 20 246.7 215.1 

   Bond liabilities at amortised cost 20 1,223.3 821.3 

   Variable rate debt liabilities 20 224.0 - 

   Programme related investments 17(d) - 0.3 

Adjusted for 
   

   Restatement of bond liabilities to fair value 
 

188.8 104.6 

   Syncona assets not in investment asset allocation 
 

12.7 2.7 

   Other investments not in asset allocation 
 

0.8 - 

   Net other assets of investment operating subsidiaries included in asset allocation   (59.5) - 

Investment assets as presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet   19,908.3 17,563.9 

 

Syncona is an investment subsidiary set up specifically to invest in the health and biotechnology sectors with a focus on 

investing in the translation of research into new treatments and patient care technologies. It is managed separately to the rest 

of the investment portfolio and therefore does not form part of the investment activities considered in the Trustee’s Report. 

Farmcare (see note 23), iQ group (see note 23) and Syncona are consolidated in the financial statements on a line by line 

basis as required for statutory reporting purposes, but are managed on a fair value basis within the investment portfolio. 

18. Stock 
 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Farming 11.6 - - - 

Other 2.4 2.4 - - 

  14.0 2.4 - - 

 

19. Debtors 

  Group Trust 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  £m £m £m £m 

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 171.1 13.5 

Other debtors 22.9 12.8 6.4 5.6 

Prepayments 7.4 7.1 3.0 2.9 

  30.3 19.9 180.5 22.0 

 

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings relate primarily to Gift Aid donations receivable.
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20. Creditors 

    Group Trust 

  
2014 2013 2014 2013 

  Note £m £m £m £m 

Falling due within one year 
     

Amounts owed to subsidiary 

undertakings  
- - 1,294.9 988.0 

Grant liabilities 9 488.1 679.4 488.1 677.5 

Bond liabilities 
 

15.5 9.2 6.3 - 

Amount payable on acquisition of 

investments  
12.3 21.9 7.8 10.1 

Cash collateral creditor 
 

182.6 166.1 164.2 152.6 

Deferred income from investments 
 

23.8 4.6 4.6 4.6 

Derivative financial instrument 

liabilities  
33.2 46.3 32.8 46.3 

Other investment liabilities 
 

28.0 22.5 14.5 21.4 

Lease premium creditor 
 

- 0.3 - - 

Trade creditors 
 

21.3 14.2 13.7 7.8 

Other creditors 
 

30.7 34.0 26.8 29.0 

Accruals and deferred income   19.5 18.5 5.7 7.4 

Total falling due within one year   855.0 1,017.0 2,059.4 1,944.7 

Falling due between one and five years           

Grant liabilities 9 1,028.8 909.1 1,028.8 909.1 

Variable rate debt 
 

224.0 - - - 

Lease premium creditor 
 

1.6 1.7 - - 

Other creditors   1.0 1.0 0.8 1.1 

    1,255.4 911.8 1,029.6 910.2 

Falling due after five years           

Grant liabilities 9 171.8 65.6 171.8 65.6 

Bond liabilities 
 

1,207.8 812.1 395.2 - 

Lease premium creditor   16.9 15.1 - - 

    1,396.5 892.8 567.0 65.6 

Total falling due after one year   2,651.9 1,804.6 1,596.6 975.8 

Grant commitments are split pro rata according to the terms of the grant at the point of award. 

Variable rate liabilities are secured on a number of Investment properties included in note 17(a). All other liabilities are 

unsecured. 

 

21. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

  
Employment 

related provisions 

£m 

Other provisions 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Group and Trust       

As at 1 October 2013 27.7 1.0 28.7 

Charge for the year 7.6 - 7.6 

Utilised in year (2.8) - (2.8) 

As at 30 September 2014 32.5 1.0 33.5 

The employment-related provisions relate primarily to the incentive schemes discussed on page 32. Other provisions relate to 

decommissioning costs in 2045 for Diamond Light Source Limited (note 17(d)).  
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22. Commitments and contingent liabilities 
(a) Investments 

The Trust has entered into commitments to invest in private equity and property funds. At the balance sheet date, outstanding 

commitments amounted to £1,596.1 million (2013: £1,630.4 million). The Trust models its expected cash flows based on the 

year of the original commitment and historic trends. The Trust expects to invest £403.5 million (25%) of its outstanding 

commitments in one year, £697.7 million (44%) in between one and five years and £494.9 million (31%) after five years. 

(b) Programme related investments 

At 30 September 2014, the Trust's outstanding commitment to The Francis Crick Institute Limited was £39.9 million (2013: 

£56.4 million).  

 

Programme related convertible loans and equity funding have been made over a series of years, of which £28.6 million (2013: 

£19.5 million) remains yet to be drawn down and is contingent upon specific milestones being achieved.  

 

The Trust has committed to fund 14% of the third construction phase of the Diamond Light Source Limited synchrotron 

project. The outstanding commitment as at 30 September 2014 was £8.9 million (2013: £9.6 million).  

 

During the year, the Trust incurred £1.8 million (2013: £1.5 million) in expenditure relating to an entity in India, MSD-

Wellcome Trust Hilleman Laboratories. The outstanding commitment as at 30 September 2014 was £34.8 million (2013: 

£36.5 million). 

 

(c) Grant funding activities 

During the current and prior years, the Innovation division has made Seeding Drug Discovery grants of £129.3 million, of 

which £105.7 million has been included in grant expenditure in current and prior financial years. The remaining £23.6 million 

is contingent upon specific funding-related milestones being met and has therefore not been included within grant liabilities.  

 

During the current and prior years, the Trust has incurred £29.7 million for expenditure relating to Wellcome Trust-DBT 

India Alliance. Subject to Trustee approval, the Trust will contribute up to £50.3 million over the next seven years. 

 

During the year, the Trust incurred £4.0 million in expenditure relating to a partnership between the Trust, the UK Medical 

Research Council and the UK Department for International Development to fund clinical trials in low and middle-income 

countries. Subject to review and approval of appropriate applications, the Trust will contribute up to £4.0 million a year for 

the next two years.  

 

During the current and prior years, the Trust has incurred £44.0 million in expenditure relating to the Health Innovation 

Challenge Fund, a partnership with the UK Department of Health. Subject to review and approval of appropriate applications, 

the Trust will contribute up to £11.2 million over the next year.  

 

During the current and prior years, the Trust has incurred £3.7 million in expenditure relating to eLife Sciences Publications 

Limited. Subject to further review of activities, the Trust will contribute up to £3.8 million over the next two years.  

 

During the year, the Trust incurred £30.6 million in expenditure relating to PhD programmes. Subject to review and approval 

of appropriate applications, the Trust will contribute up to £80.7 million over the next six years. 
 

During the year, the Trust incurred £0.3 million in expenditure relating to a joint initiative between the Trust, the UK 

Department for International Development, the Economic and Social Research Council and the UK Medical Research 

Council to fund health systems research in low and middle-income countries. Subject to review and approval of appropriate 

applications, the Trust will contribute up to £5.2 million over the next three years. 

 

(d) Capital commitments 

At 30 September 2014, Genome Research Limited had no capital commitments contracted for but not provided (2013: £0.6 

million) relating to purchases of scientific equipment. Subsequent to 30 September 2014, the Board approved a commitment 

for a further building amounting to £15.3 million of which approximately £3 million is expected to be payable within one 

year. Hinxton Hall Limited had capital commitments contracted for but not provided of £6.9 million (2013: £10.3 million) 

relating to capital projects at the Wellcome Trust Genome Campus. W.T. Construction Limited had capital commitments 

contracted for but not provided of £0.6 million (2013: £12.2 million) relating to building projects. 
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23. Acquisition of subsidiaries 
During the financial year the group made the following acquisitions: 
 

 The remaining 50% of the iQ student accommodation holding vehicles from Quintain Ltd. (Prior to the date of 

acquisition the Trust held 50%). 

 100% of the Share Capital in Farmcare from the Co-operative Group Ltd. 
 

iQ Unit Trust was acquired on 1 April 2014 and Farmcare Ltd was acquired on 2 August 2014. They are included in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet at 30 September 2014. For the period since acquisition, sales of £16.3 million and operating 

profit of £6.9 million for iQ Unit Trust and sales of £10.4 million and operating loss of £1.3 million for Farmcare are 

included within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities. 

 

 

The operating assets and liabilities of iQ and Farmcare at the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 

 

Farmcare  iQ  

Total book 

value  

Fair value 

adjustments 

Total Fair 

Value 

 

 £m  £m  £m  £m £m 

      Tangible fixed assets 15.4  -  15.4  -  15.4 

Intangible fixed assets 1.6  -  1.6 (1.6)  -  

Unquoted investments 0.2  -  0.2  -  0.2 

Investment property 219.7 431.9 651.6 (4.7) 646.9 

Derivative financial assets  -   -   -  1.9 1.9 

Investment cash and certificates of 

deposit 
 -  1.4 1.4  -  1.4 

Other investment related assets 6.6 6.1 12.7 (2.5) 10.2 

Stock 12.1  -  12.1  -  12.1 

Debtors 6.7  -  6.7  -  6.7 

Cash  3.2 15.2 18.4  -  18.4 

Creditors (25.3) (12.7) (38.0) 6.5 (31.5) 

Loans and other debt  -  (223.7) (223.7)  -  (223.7) 

      Total  240.2  218.2  458.4   (0.4) 458.0  

Goodwill 

    
(15.0) 

Purchase consideration 

    
443.0 

 

The fair value adjustments were made up as follows: 

 

 

Farmcare  

£m 

iQ 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Revaluations 

   Intangible fixed assets (1.6)  -  (1.6) 

Investment property (4.7)  -  (4.7) 

Derivative financial assets  -  1.9 1.9 

Other investment related assets  -  (2.5) (2.5) 

Creditors 9.3 (2.8) 6.5 

 

3.0 (3.4) (0.4) 
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23. Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 
The purchase consideration was made up as follows:  
 

 

Farmcare 

£m 

iQ  

£m 
Total 

£m 

Book value 240.2 218.2 458.4 

Fair value adjustments 3.0 (3.4) (0.4) 

Goodwill 0.7 (15.7) (15.0) 

 
243.9 199.1 443.0 

 
 

24. Group undertakings 
(a) Summary of activities of significant subsidiary undertakings 

Company Country of 

incorporation 

Activities Legal relationship 

Genome Research 

Limited 

England Medical research, 

primarily in the field of 

genomics 

The Wellcome Trust Limited and Wellcome Trust 

Nominees Limited are equal members 

Wellcome Trust 

Finance plc 

England To issue and invest in 

financial instruments 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the sole 

shareholder 

Wellcome Trust 

Investments 2 

Unlimited 

England Investment holding 

company 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the sole 

shareholder 

Wellcome Trust 

Investments 3 

Unlimited 

England Investment holding 

company 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the sole 

shareholder 

Wellcome Trust 

Residential 1 

Limited 

England Investment holding 

company 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the sole 

shareholder 

Wellcome Trust 

Investment Limited 

Partnership 

England Investment holding 

partnership 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the limited 

partner and Wellcome Trust GP Limited is the 

general partner 

iQ Unit Trust and 

iQ (Shareholder GP) 

Limited 

England Investment holding 

companies 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the sole 

shareholder of iQ (Shareholder GP) Limited and 

the ultimate controlling party of iQ Unit Trust as 

a result of its 100% owned subsidiaries, 

Wellcome Trust Investments 1 Unlimited and 

Wellcome Trust GP Limited owning 99.9% and 

0.1% of the units respectively 

Farmcare Trading 

Limited 
England Farming and 

agriculture 

The Wellcome Trust Limited is the ultimate 

controlling party as a result of its subsidiary, 

Gower Place Investments Limited owning 100% 

of the voting share capital 

 

The Trust has taken advantage of the exemption from audit available under 479A to 479C of the Companies Act 2006 for the 

following subsidiaries: 

Wellcome Trust Investments 1 Unlimited 

Wellcome Trust Investments 2 Unlimited 

Wellcome Trust Investments 3 Unlimited 
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24. Group undertakings (continued) 
(b) Summary financial information  

(i) Non-charitable investment subsidiary undertakings 

 

  

Wellcome Trust Investment 

Limited Partnership 

Wellcome Trust Investments 2 

Unlimited 

Wellcome Trust Investments 3 

Unlimited 

  
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Turnover 9.2 11.8 0.7 - 0.1 0.6 

Expenditure (14.1) (20.4) (134.4) (13.5) (25.1) (4.2) 

Gains/(losses) 

on investments (17.7) 155.3 10.1 36.4 7.0 5.9 

  (22.6) 146.7 (123.6) 22.9 (18.0) 2.3 

Investment 

assets 525.4 529.8 386.9 857.3 1.0 133.0 

Current assets 35.6 46.3 887.8 132.1 163.1 6.4 

Total assets 561.0 576.1 1,274.7 989.4 164.1 139.4 

Liabilities (287.8) (280.3) (114.7) (21.0) (25.1) (3.8) 

Net assets 273.2 295.8 1,160.0 968.4 139.0 135.6 

 

 

 

  

Wellcome Trust Residential 1 

Unlimited 

Farmcare Trading Limited 

(from 2 August 2014) 

iQ group 

(from 1 April 2014) 

  
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Turnover 6.7 6.6 10.2 - 16.3 - 

Expenditure (9.3) (109.9) (11.6) - (11.4) - 

Gains/(losses) 

on investments 12.5 18.9 - - - - 

  9.9 (84.4) (1.4) - 4.9 - 

Investment 

assets 126.3 113.1 230.1 - 442.0 - 

Current assets 12.9 238.2 28.2 - 33.9 - 

Total assets 139.2 351.3 258.3 - 475.9 - 

Liabilities (4.7) (110.1) (7.9) - (248.2) - 

Net assets 134.5 241.2 250.4 - 227.7 - 
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24. Group undertakings (continued) 
(b) Summary financial information (continued) 

 

(ii) Non-charitable investment financing subsidiary undertaking 

 

  Wellcome Trust Finance plc 

  
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Turnover 42.8 44.1 

Expenditure (42.8) (44.1) 

  - - 

Assets 959.5 963.8 

Liabilities (822.0) (826.3) 

Net assets 137.5 137.5 

 

 

(iii) Charitable subsidiary undertaking 

  

 

Genome Research Limited 

  
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Incoming resources 119.5 114.0 

Resources expended (114.6) (115.4) 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension scheme (23.9) (12.0) 

Net movements in funds (19.0) (13.4) 

Assets 152.5 143.8 

Liabilities (39.7) (36.5) 

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit (80.5) (56.1) 

Net assets 32.3 51.2 
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25. Consolidated cash flow 
(a) Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Activities to cash flow from operating activities 

  2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Incoming resources 338.0 281.5 

Less: Dividends and interest (238.7) (225.8) 

Less: Rental income (60.1) (29.1) 

Less: Other income (10.3) - 

Less: Gain on sale of Programme Related Investments (2.1) - 

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (3.7) 3.0 

Income received 23.1 29.6 

Grants awarded (487.7) (537.8) 

Increase in commitments 34.6 71.0 

Increase in partnership recoverables - (0.3) 

Grants paid (453.1) (467.1) 

Other resources expended (384.4) (314.5) 

Increase in creditors and provisions 46.4 72.2 

(Increase)/decrease in other investment debtors (9.7) 2.4 

Increase in provision for Programme Related Investments 35.7 39.5 

Depreciation 23.2 24.4 

Decrease in stock 0.5 - 

Other operating costs (288.3) (176.0) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities (718.3) (613.5) 

 

(b) Investment income received 

  
2014 

£m 

2013  

£m 

Dividends and interest  238.7 225.8 

Rental income 60.1 29.1 

Other income 10.3 - 

(Increase)/decrease in income receivable from investments (5.2) 0.6 

(Increase)/decrease in accrued income from investments (2.9) 1.0 

Increase in deferred income from investments 9.9 0.4 

Investment income received  310.9 256.9 

 

(c) Servicing of finance 

  

2014  

£m 

2013  

£m 

Interest payable  (50.4) (39.0) 

Increase in interest creditors  7.2 0.5 

Cash outflow for servicing of finance  (43.2) (38.5) 
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25. Consolidated cash flow (continued) 
(d) Reconciliation of investment sales and purchases 

  
2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Proceeds on sale of quoted investments 2,472.8 2,213.1 

Proceeds on sale of unquoted investments 2,054.4 2,001.3 

Proceeds on sale of investment property 81.4 74.0 

Decrease in proceeds receivable on sale of investments 2.3 97.0 

Proceeds on sale of Programme Related Investments 5.1 - 

Proceeds from sales of investments 4,616.0 4,385.4 

Purchases of quoted investments 3,000.3 2,437.0 

Purchases of unquoted investments 1,045.0 871.4 

Purchases of investment property 80.2 275.1 

Decrease/(increase) in amounts payable on acquisition of investments 9.6 (4.1) 

Decrease in prepayment for investment purchases - (18.6) 

Purchase of Programme Related Investments 38.5 37.1 

Purchases of investments 4,173.6 3,597.9 

Gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments 130.7 (60.8) 

Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial asset positions 21.8 (134.1) 

(Decrease)/increase in derivative financial liabilities (13.0) 19.8 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) upon settlement of derivative financial instruments 139.5 (175.1) 

 (e) Issue of corporate bonds 

In May 2014, the Trust issued £400 million 4.00% Bonds due in 2059.  

 (f) Reconciliation of cash flow to movement in net debt 

   
Non-cash changes: 

 

  At 1 October 

2013 

£m 

Cash flow 

impacting 

net debt 

 £m 

Effective 

interest 

£m 

Cash and 

debt 

acquired 

£m 

At 30 

September 

2014 

£m 

Cash in hand and at bank 11.7 23.0 - 18.4 53.1 

Debt due after one year 
     

- variable rate debt - - (0.3) (223.7) (224.0) 

- bond liabilities (812.1) (395.1) (0.6) - (1,207.8) 

Debt due within one year 
     

- bond liabilities (9.2) - (6.3) - (15.5) 

Liquid resources: 
     

- investment cash and certificates of deposit 595.5 108.5 - 1.4 705.4 

Net debt (214.1) (263.6) (7.2) (203.9) (688.8) 
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26. Major non-cash transactions  
There were no major non-cash transactions during the year other than those disclosed in note 25(f) (2013: none). 

 

27. Financial risk management 
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group actively manages a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity 

risk and market risk. The Group identifies, measures and monitors risk through various control mechanisms as detailed in the 

following sections, including maximum approved counterparty exposure and diversifying exposures and activities across a 

variety of instruments, markets and counterparties. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Group would incur a financial loss if a counterparty failed to discharge its obligations to the 

Group. 

Credit risk exposure 

The Group is subject to credit risk from its financial assets held by various counterparties and the risk is particularly 

concentrated on its investment cash balances and certificates of deposit due to the significant value of these balances. The 

following table details the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 September: 

  

2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Derivative financial instruments assets positions 140.8 158.2 

Investment cash balances and certificates of deposit 705.4 595.5 

Cash collateral held 182.6 166.1 

Accrued income from investments 14.9 12.0 

Proceeds receivable on sale of investments 44.9 47.2 

Other investment debtor balances 40.4 15.3 

Programme related investment loans - 0.1 

Other debtors 22.9 12.8 

Term deposits and cash 53.1 11.7 

  1,205.0 1,018.9 

None of the Group’s financial assets subject to credit risk (other than the Programme related investments which are discussed 

in note 17(d)) are past their due date or were impaired during the year. 

Risk management policies and procedures 

The objective of managing credit risk is to minimise counterparty default on the Group’s financial assets causing financial 

loss to the Group. The Group aims to mitigate its counterparty credit risk exposure by monitoring the size of its credit 

exposure to and the creditworthiness of counterparties, including setting appropriate exposure limits and maturities. 

Counterparties are selected based on their financial ratings, regulatory environments and specific circumstances. 

The following details the risk management policies applied to the financial assets exposed to credit risk: 

 for interest-bearing securities the credit rating of the issuer is taken into account to minimise the risk to the Group of 

default. Investments are made across a variety of industry sectors and issuers to reduce concentrations of credit risk; 

 transactions involving derivative financial instruments are entered into only with reputable banks, the credit ratings 

of which are taken into account to minimise credit risk. Derivative financial instrument asset positions exposed to 

credit risk comprise the Group’s forward currency contracts; 

 direct cash management mandate is limited to the use of deposits with selected banks (the credit ratings of which are 

taken into account to minimise credit risk), the purchase of short-dated UK Government securities and the controlled 

use of AAA rated money market funds; and 

 sale and purchases of investments are carried out with a small number of brokers, whose credit quality forms part of 

the initial and on-going reviews by the investment managers. 

These policies and procedures were applied and reviewed during the year. At the balance sheet date, in addition to the 

securities on loan discussed in note 17(a), forward currency contract assets of value £58.6 million (2013: £158.2 million) 

were secured by cash collateral. There were no other credit enhancements. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties raising cash to meet its obligations when they fall due. 

Liquidity risk exposure 

This is a risk to the Group, given the value of the Group’s commitments to charitable and investment activities. 
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27. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
Risk management policies and procedures 

The Group monitors its exposure to liquidity risk by regularly monitoring the liquidity of its investment portfolio and holding 

appropriate levels of liquid assets. The Group held very liquid assets which amounted to £566.5 million as at 30 September 

2014 (2013: £479.9 million), which comprises cash and cash equivalent assets. The level of very liquid assets held is 

regularly reviewed by senior management. Liquidity and cash forecasts are reviewed by the Investment Committee and Board 

of Governors on a quarterly basis. Short term operational cash flow forecasts are produced weekly. 

The following table details the maturity of the Group’s undiscounted contractual payments and grant liabilities as at 30 

September: 

 
2014 2013 

Group 

Three 

months or 

less 

£m 

No more 

than one 

year 

£m 

More 

than one 

year 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Three 

months 

or less 

£m 

No more 

than one 

year 

£m 

More 

than one 

year 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Payments falling due 

within one year         

Bond liabilities - 54.5 
 

54.5 - 38.5 
 

38.5 

Variable rate debt 2.0 6.0 
 

8.0 
    

Derivative financial 

instruments liabilities 
33.2 - 

 
33.2 46.3 - 

 
46.3 

Collateral liability 182.6 - 
 

182.6 166.1 - 
 

166.1 

Amount payable on 

acquisition of investments 
12.3 - 

 
12.3 21.9 - 

 
21.9 

Other investment liabilities 28.0 - 
 

28.0 22.5 - 
 

22.5 

Trade creditors 21.3 - 
 

21.3 14.2 - 
 

14.2 

Other creditors 30.7 - 
 

30.7 34.0 - 
 

34.0 

Accruals and deferred 

income 
19.5 -   19.5 18.5 -   18.5 

Contractual payments 329.6 60.5   390.1 323.5 38.5   362.0 

Grant liability 126.8 361.3   488.1 254.7 424.7   679.4 

  456.4 421.8   878.2 578.2 463.2   1,041.4 

Payments falling due 

between one and five years         

Bond liabilities 
  

218.0 218.0 
  

154.0 154.0 

Variable rate debt 
  

240.0 240.0 
    

Other creditors     1.0 1.0     1.0 1.0 

Contractual payments     459.0 459.0     155.0 155.0 

Grant liability     1,028.8 1,028.8     909.1 909.1 

      1,487.8 1,487.8     1,064.1 1,064.1 

Payments falling due after 

five years         

Bond liabilities     2,323.6 2,323.6     1,322.1 1,322.1 

Contractual payments     2,323.6 2,323.6     1,322.1 1,322.1 

Grant liability     171.8 171.8     65.6 65.6 

      2,495.4 2,495.4     1,387.7 1,387.7 

Total 456.4 421.8 3,983.2 4,861.4 578.2 463.2 2,451.8 3,493.1 

 

The grant liability is non-contractual and the expected maturity of this liability is based on historic payment profiles payable. 
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27. Financial risk management (continued) 
(c) Market risk – price, currency and interest rate risks 

Market risk is the risk of potential loss the Group may incur as a result of adverse changes to the fair value of the Group’s 

financial instruments. Market risk comprises three types of risks: price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. 

The Group measures returns and monitors portfolio risks in a 50/50 blend of Sterling and US Dollars and monitored Sterling 

and US Dollar currency exposures. This reflects the globally diversified nature of the Group’s assets, liabilities and 

commitments. 

 The Group uses a number of investment risk metrics, of which the following are key; liquidity and cash flow measures; 

currency exposures; expected likelihood of catastrophic failures of one or more assets held within the portfolio; and the 

assessed level of inflation protection within the portfolio. Liquidity and cash flow measures are provided by aggregating the 

expected dividends from publicly held securities and the net cash flows from private funds and private assets, directly held 

property rentals/income, an assessment of investment costs and net interest costs, plus investment/divestment decisions. 

Forecasts are reviewed at least monthly by the Investment Executive on both a three month and a five year horizon. Forecast 

cash lows as at the end of September 2014 were £590 million (2013: £580 million) and are highlighted at levels below 2% of 

investment assets. This compares with investment cash levels of £639 million at 30 September 2014 (3.3%), compared to 

3.5% at 30 September 2013. An assessment is also made of the extent to which assets could be sold to cash within a month, 

without a distressed sale; 52% in September 2014 (2013: 52%). 

Monitoring Sterling and US Dollar currency exposure, after the impact of currency hedges, provides an understanding of the 

degree to which the portfolio is exposed to currencies other than the benchmark of 50/50 blend of Sterling and US Dollar. 

The likelihood of catastrophic failures to individual assets is managed by broad and global diversification across assets and 

asset classes, with a limit of 3% on any individual asset or strategy managed by an external manager. As at 30 September 

2014, this limit was adhered to, with the exception of £865 million (4.4% of investment assets) in the South 

Kensington/Ennismore estate of 1,720 units, an exception which has been agreed by the Board of Governors (2013: £825 

million, 5.0%). 

The assessed level of inflation protection within the portfolio is reviewed by considering the sum of all types of equity and 

property exposure across the portfolio (84% as at September 2014, 2013: 83%) since these are considered to be assets which 

will provide a material degree of inflation protection in the medium to long term in most circumstances, plus the cumulative 

issuance of £1,225 million nominal fixed coupon bonds by the Trust.  

The Group no longer uses forecast value at risk (VAR) and equity market beta measures as primary risk metrics, given the 

reduced predictive ability of such models in the current environment of lower market volatility. Liquidity levels and cash 

flow forecasts and Sterling and USD Dollar exposures below a desired minimum are highlighted for discussion and review to 

the Investment Committee and the Board of Governors on a timely basis, as are undue concentrations of exposure.  

 

(i) Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of an asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes in market price, caused by factors 

specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the 

market. This is a risk for the Group because its ability to fund research over the long term is dependent on maintaining the 

purchasing power of the asset base. The Group’s expenditure is predominantly discretionary and the Governors and senior 

management monitor cash expenditure, commitments and the endowment performance throughout the year to manage the 

balance between funding charitable activities and maintaining the purchasing power of the asset base. 

Price risk exposure 

The maximum asset and liability value exposed to other price risk at 30 September is the value of the traded investment assets 

and liabilities as detailed in the following table: 

  

2014 

£m 

2013 

£m 

Quoted investments 9,207.1 7,836.3 

Unquoted investments 7,454.9 7,419.6 

Investments properties 2,071.2 1,264.8 

Derivative financial instruments assets positions 133.2 109.4 

Assets exposed to risk 18,866.4 16,630.1 

Derivative financial instruments liability positions 15.7 18.2 

Liabilities exposed to risk 15.7 18.2 
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c) Market risk – price, currency and interest rate risks (continued) 
Concentration of exposure to other price risk 

An analysis of the Group’s investment portfolio is shown in note 17(a). This shows that the majority of the investment value 

is in overseas companies in both quoted and unquoted investments. There is a high level of diversification by market 

including emerging markets within the long-only equity portfolio as it is the Group’s policy to have no constraint on non-UK 

equity exposure. It is recognised that an investment’s country of domicile or of listing does not necessarily equate to its 

exposure to the economic conditions in that country. Derivative financial instruments exposed to price risk comprises the 

Group’s options, warrants and futures. 

The Investment Committee monitors the price risk inherent in the investment portfolios by ensuring full and timely access to 

relevant information from the investment managers. The Board of Governors reviews the price risk quarterly. The Board and 

the Investment Committee meet regularly and at each meeting review investment performance. The Board takes overall 

responsibility for investment strategy.  

 (ii) Currency risk  

Currency risk is the risk that the value of an asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes to foreign currency exchange rates. 

The currency of the majority of the Group’s expenditure and the functional currency of the Group is Sterling. However, the 

Group has investment assets denominated in currencies other than Sterling and is impacted by fluctuations in foreign 

currency exchange rates. 

The financial liabilities of the Group denominated in currencies other than Sterling are shown in the table below. In addition, 

the Group has outstanding commitments for private equity funds and property funds of $2,131.0 million and €337.8 million 

as at 30 September 2014 (2013: $2,096.7 million and €250.0 million). 

Currency risk exposure  

As at 30 September 2014, 73.3% (2013: 72.2%) of the Group’s investment assets were non-Sterling denominated, after 

including the impact of the currency overlay. 

The following table details the asset value exposed to currency risk as at 30 September: 

Currency 

Value as at 

30 September 

2014 

(currency, m) 

Value as at 

30 September 

2014 

£m 

Value as at 

30 September 

2013 

(currency, m) 

Value as at 

30 September 

2013 

£m 

Traded investments assets 

    US Dollar $17,456.7 10,768.1 $15,055.9 9,297.2 

Euro €1,876.5 1,462.3 €3,718.4 2,083.2 

Other 

 
2,332.6 

 

1,690.4 

Other investment debtors balances 

    US Dollar $500.0 308.4 $549.1 339.1 

Euro €35.5 27.7 €51.7 41.5 

Other 

 
161.6 

 

150.8 

Other investment creditors balances 

    US Dollar ($10.8) (6.6) ($10.3) (6.3) 

Euro (€0.2) (0.2) (€1.5) (1.3) 

Other 

 
(117.9) 

 

(13.0) 

Forward currency contracts 

    US Dollar ($360.9) (222.6) ($1,022.6) (631.5) 

Euro (€1,866.0) (1,455.0) (€1,508.3) (1,261.5) 

Other   (39.8)   127.2 

Total exposed to currency risk   13,218.6   11,815.8 
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c) Market risk – price, currency and interest rate risks (continued) 

      

Impact on 

gain/(loss) 

for the 

financial year 

2014 

£m 

Impact on 

gain/(loss) 

for the 

financial year 

2013 

£m 

10% US Dollar appreciation 

  

1,084.7 899.8 

10% Euro appreciation     3.5 86.2 

 

A 10% depreciation in currencies would have an equal but opposite impact.  

 

Risk management policies and procedures 

The Group measures returns and monitored portfolio risks in a 50/50 blend of Sterling and US Dollars. This reflects the 

globally diversified nature of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments. 

The investment managers monitor the Group’s exposure to foreign currencies on a daily basis and report to the Investment 

Committee on at least a quarterly basis. The Risk Manager measures the risk to the Group of the foreign currency exposure 

by considering the effect on the Group’s net asset value of a movement in the key rates of exchange to which the Group‘s 

assets and income are exposed. 

Foreign currency contracts are used to limit the Group’s exposure to future changes in exchange rates which might otherwise 

adversely affect the value of the portfolio of investments. Where appropriate, they are also used to achieve the portfolio 

characteristics that assist the Group in meeting its investment objectives. The Board of Governors have agreed that a currency 

hedging overlay can be used for the Group’s exposure to assets in any currency in which forwards and futures contracts are 

available for use, given an assessment of costs and liquidity. 

(iii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the risk that the value of an asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes in interest rates (i.e. for 

fixed interest rate assets or liabilities) or that future cash flows will fluctuate due to changes in interest rates (i.e. for variable 

rate assets or liabilities). 

Interest rate exposure and sensitivity 

The Group holds investment cash and certificates of deposit of £705.4 million (2013: £595.5 million) and overnight term 

deposits and cash of £53.1 million (2013: £11.7 million). These are floating rate interest bearing assets, at an estimated 

average interest rate of 0.7% during the year (2013: 0.2%). The future cash flows from these assets will fluctuate with 

changes in market interest rates. However, as these are liquid assets with no fixed maturity dates, the fair value would not 

fluctuate significantly with changes in market interest rates. 

The interest bearing liabilities shown below are the Bond liabilities which are fixed rate and the variable rate liabilities which 

are both held at amortised cost. The Bond and variable rate liabilities value detailed in the table below is the book value. 

 

  2014 2013 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 

Weighted 

average 

interest rate 

Value as at 

30 September  

£m 

Weighted 

average 

interest rate 

Value as at 

30 September  

£m 

Maturing between one and five years 
    

Floating rate - variable rate liabilities 
2.953% above 

LIBOR 
224.0 n/a - 

Maturing after five years 
    

Fixed rate - bond liabilities 4.449% 1,223.3 4.667% 821.3 

Total interest-bearing liabilities   1,447.3   821.3 
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(c) Market risk - price, currency and interest rate risks (continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Risk management policies and procedures 

The Group takes into account the possible effects of a change in interest rates on the fair value and cash flows of the interest- 

bearing financial assets and liabilities when making investment decisions. The Investment Committee monitors the Group’s 

exposure to interest-bearing assets, the Bond liability and the related finance costs regularly. 

28. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities  
The fair values and book values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities shown on the Balance Sheet are the same with 

the exception of the Bond liabilities which are measured at amortised cost. 

The value of the Bond liabilities presented in the Trustee’s Report Figure 6 on page 19 (£1,412 million, 2013: £ 925 million) 

is the sum of the fair value of the Bond liabilities and the accrued interest on these liabilities. 

The following table categorises the fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities based on the inputs to the fair 

value. Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement of the relevant asset as follows: 

 Level 1 - valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 

 Level 2 - valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1. 

 Level 3 - valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

Fair value measurements using the FRS 29 fair value hierarchies 

Assets at fair value as at 30 September 2014 

  
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Quoted investments 9,207.1 - - 9,207.1 

Unquoted investments - 3,225.4 4,229.5 7,454.9 

Derivative financial instruments asset positions 45.5 140.9 0.5 186.9 

Programme related investments - - - - 

  9,252.6 3,366.3 4,230.0 16,848.9 

 

 

Assets at fair value as at 30 September 2013 

 

 

  
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Quoted investments 7,836.3 - - 7,836.3 

Unquoted investments - 2,694.6 4,725.0 7,419.6 

Derivative financial instruments assets positions 41.0 158.3 7.5 206.8 

Programme related investments - - 0.3 0.3 

  7,877.3 2,852.9 4,732.8 15,463.0 
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28. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
Liabilities at fair value as at 30 September 2014 

  
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial instruments liabilities 15.6 17.6 - 33.2 

  15.6 17.6 - 33.2 

Liabilities at fair value as at 30 September 2013 

  
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial instruments liabilities 18.2 28.1 - 46.3 

  18.2 28.1 - 46.3 

 

A reconciliation of the opening and closing balances for Level 3 assets measured at fair value is detailed in the table below: 

  

Fair value 
1 October 

2013 
£m 

Purchases/ 
(sales 

proceeds)
£m 

Total
gains/

(losses)
£m 

Transfers
into

Level 3
£m 

Transfers  
out of 

Level 3 
£m 

Fair value
 30 September 

2014
£m 

Level 3 assets 4,732.8 (1,009.7) 814.5 28.4 (336.0) 4,230.0 

Unquoted investments include investments in hedge funds, private equity funds and property funds. The Group categorises 
these fund investments based on the fair value classification of the underlying assets and liabilities of these funds. Transfers 
in/out of Level 3 occur when the fair value classification of the underlying assets and liabilities of these funds changes during 
the reporting period. 

Derivative financial instruments comprise: 

• equity index futures and option positions which are exchange traded and valued at current price meet the criteria of Level 
1; 

• forward currency contracts assets and liabilities which are over the counter derivatives which derive their value from 
market exchange rates and therefore meet the criteria of Level 2; and 

• long options and warrants asset positions which are valued with reference to the underlying, which are unquoted 
securities, and therefore meet the criteria of Level 3. 

For Level 3 investments:  
• private equity and property funds are valued at the most recent valuation from the fund manager, which is usually the net 

asset value of the fund.  
• unquoted direct investments are held at the valuation determined by management, with valuations, when provided by a 

third party investment manager as a key input subject to appropriate review by management. 
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Wellcome Trust 

The Wellcome Trust is a global charitable foundation dedicated to improving health. We support 

bright minds in science, the humanities and the social sciences, as well as education, public 

engagement and the application of research to medicine. 

 

Our investment portfolio gives us the independence to support such transformative work as the 

sequencing and understanding of the human genome, research that established front-line drugs 

for malaria, and Wellcome Collection, our free venue for the incurably curious that explores 

medicine, life and art. 
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The Wellcome Trust is a charity registered in England and 

Wales, no. 210183. Its sole trustee is The Wellcome Trust Limited,  

a company registered in England and Wales, no. 2711000 (whose 

registered office is at 215 Euston Road, London NW1 2BE, UK). 
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